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Craftsmanship Spirit ¢ Triple-Strengths ¢ Sustainable Growth

We inherit a craftsmanship spirit, attention to details, pursuit of excellence and
quest for the ultimate.
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Triple Strengths Sustainable Growth

ZRBINER BEMNEBFIEEREE XBREFE BEBEIZERR RMNAIANULER

HEESZRtBER QLEEEMFIIEHMR  UIELBEIH Broth KEKE BRHRBFEE-

EEREREN EREAMSETRENRZ QOARBERR

BMHWEL TEREBEMEEN REABENHRZEH REH By embracing a flexible and dynamic

FEEERE UGIERIZBARANETS strategy, we seek to maintain an
invincible position and operate our

The company’s three pillars of growth and stability include business in a sustainable manner.

(1) Change and reform to achieve a well-balanced and
diversified business and customer base; (2) Manufacturing
base diversification to extend our production lines outwards
with a “go global” strategy, enhance our capability and lay a
long term foundation in ASEAN market; (3) Continuing our
focus in Mainland China and keeping abreast of innovative
development to maintain our competitive edge, and invest
in a new production complex to expand our business into
the China market with a “Bringing In” strategy.
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REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

9th Floor

Southeast Industrial Building
611-619 Castle Peak Road
Tsuen Wan

New Territories

Hong Kong

WEBSITE
http:/www.karrie.com
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Executive Directors
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Mr. CHAN Raymond
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Dr. LAU Kin Wah
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. YAM Chung Shing (Chairman)
(was re-designated as Chairman on 1 December 2020)
Mr. HO Cheuk Ming
Dr. LAU Kin Wah
(was appointed on 1 December 2020)
Mr. SO Wai Chun (Chairman)
(resigned on 1 December 2020)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. TANG Wing Fai

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8th Floor Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

WINSTON & STRAWN

42nd Floor, Bank of China Tower
1 Garden Road

Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Hang Seng Bank
The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
China Construction Bank (Asia)
Mizuho Bank, Ltd.
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

4/F., North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
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Key Information for Shareholders

TERRER

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2021
Financial Year End
31 March 2021

Announcement of 2020/21 results
24 June 2021

Last day to register for the entitlement to attend and vote
at the 2020/21 Annual General Meeting

17 August 2021

2020/21 Annual General Meeting
24 August 2021

Last day to register for 2020/21
Final Dividends
27 August 2021

2020/21 Final Dividend expected
Payment Date
15 September 2021

SHARE CAPITAL
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fig 2
As at
BHZE
31 March 2021 30 June 2021
—E-—F —E-—F

=A=+-—-H NA=+H

Authorised (HK$)
Issued (HK$)

BEEIT(ETT)

400,000,000 400,000,000
201,243,920 201,583,920
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Key Information for Shareholders

MARKET CAPITALISATION
As at 31 March 2021
(Closing Price: HK$1.50)
HK$3,018,658,800

As at 30 June 2021
(Closing Price: HK$1.74)
HK$3,507,560,208

STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”)

Main Board

1050

BOARD LOT
2,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”)

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

Any matters relating to your shareholding, such as transfer
of shares, change of name or address, and loss of share
certificates should be addressed in writing to the Hong
Kong branch share registrar of Karrie International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”):

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-16, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862-8628

Fax: (852) 2529-6087

INVESTOR RELATIONS
For enquiries, please contact:

Ms. Isabella Lam

Corporate Communications Manager
Karrie International Holdings Limited
9th Floor, Southeast Industrial Building
611-619 Castle Peak Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2411-0913

Fax: (852) 2415-1608

Email: ir@karrie.com
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Corporate Calendar

TEERAREHR

8A
August

9A
September

1A

November

12R

December

AELZMERERO N EEENFRE=FREIERETARER
RIS

Caston Plant and Castfast Plant in the Mainland were awarded the
“Guangdong Province Enterprise of Observing Contract and Valuing
Credit” for the fourth and third consecutive year respectively

SEETFREBCERRBLERNE209BBE[RREFLE — 5F+2
EIR R HR R

Awarded the “EcoChallenger — 5 Years+ EcoPioneer Logo” under the
Corporate Environmental Leadership Awards 2019 of Bank of China (Hong
Kong)

SEEEEIXEASR NI TERME L2020/ RECEAIZAEBRIRA
BINEBEEANE]

Awarded “The Most Devoted Award” and “Outstanding Caring Award” of
Enterprise Group under the Industry Cares Recognition Scheme 2020 held
by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries

SEEFEETNACEAPNEBERABBENROREER|FZFTE
(R BB RS+]E®

Received the “Partner Employer Awards 5 Years” logo under the Partner
Employer Award 2020 held by the Hong Kong General Chamber of Small
and Medium Businesses

SEFFERTBRARMIEEMREE20200FE[EEIEZXTERIR
Bt LR

Mentor Ho Cheuk Fai, the chairman and CEO of the Group, was conferred
the Honorary Fellowship 2020 of the Professional Validation Council of
Hong Kong Industries

EEERBEBRNIFEABRITEEELEN

The Group held a grand groundbreaking ceremony for the Karrie
Craftsmanship Building (5 ] T[T X#) in site B6 of Yuquan Plant

SEEEBEENRERBBHRIFITMIE A B3 K 5t K 882020) 58 %
(=B EE R AR AE]

Awarded the “Manufacturing Excellence Achievement Award” under the
FITMI Hong Kong Innovation Technology Achievement Award 2020” held
by the Hong Kong Productivity Council

SEREAEZE@RBDR0FERLESFSR(LTRTAREN] 5
FEIBRIEBERZ  REXE] RBEEEETFAN—FHHER
B -BEEKX

Awarded the “Directors of the Year Awards 2020 (Listed Companies
Categories)” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. The theme
of this year is “Vanguard In Challenging Times”, which demonstrates the
Group’s excellent performance in this extraordinary year and carries great
importance

REZEN AHEARTHEER

The topping out ceremony for the Phases 4 and 5 of the Castfast Villas
project

SEERSHERMER CBEFXERL  TREEEBLEENKR
Awarded the national Certificate of High and New Technology Enterprise
showing the achievement of the Group’s automation
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February

34
March
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Corporate Calendar

TERAREHR

FESEFNMETERATHRLNRECEMNEETIRR T BKE
e

Buildings No. 1 and No. 11 of the Phase 4 resident project of Castfast
Villas have obtained the Construction Works Completion Examination and
Filing Certificate

5 B SR IE (20204 £ B i S8 3 8 b & R 1B B 428 S A B8 |

Awarded the “Leading Entity for COVID-19 Control and Prevention in
Fenggang 2020”

FEREZEEREBPCEER  URHSZ TICEEE M

Established additional automated production lines in Thailand to develop a
diversified production base

SEEETIFRETELEREBERENSFPlusEH R ERBIZ]IRE
Received the “15 Years Plus Caring Company Logo” for the fifteen
consecutive year from The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

SEEFEBEREEFAERER(ETEUREEBEKE2020(ER
¥R 81E

Awarded the “Quam IR Awards 2020 (Main Board Categories)” issued by
China Tonghai IR

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 F ¥ 7



Financial Highlights
MBEBRE

Share Price Movement of the past 5 years

Share Price (HKS) i@ £ £ $ ZH&E%% Share Price (HKS)
T(E (B7t) TiE (572)
1.8 1.8
1.2 1.2
0.6 0.6
0.0 0.0
U U U U U
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Revenue HK$ million Profit attributable to equity shareholders HK$ million
BABEEET EEFEARGENEERT @
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
* Include continuing operations only
REERREEEE
Basic earnings per share HK cents Dividends per share HK cents
BREAEF B @ EBRRE B @
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
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Financial Highlights
MM E

Turnover percentage by Geographical Location
(based on the country in which the final
destination of shipment is located or services are
provided)

Turnover percentage by Business

BEBEASTNERBEHDIR

[l Metal and Plastic Business

e BRBEH
- , . , REGFE®HE s NEXFEIIR(REBERLR
%e%tg;c{‘sﬁf\éaﬁngdurmg Services Business B B 1 Mo o R A 12 4t B 7E B R 5 D)
Real Estate Business
i E ¥ M japan Hong Kong Mainland China
HA ; FEIAH,
[71 Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong and Mainland China)
Tl (FeERAR - EERFEAM)
North America ™ Western Europe
M Fid s
13% 24% 27%
0% 36%
— 2021 1%‘ 2021 2020
2%
16% \\ /‘ 14% ’
4%
2021 2020 % Changes
ZBZ-% CZZ-TFE  EPANK
HKS$ million BEET
Revenue A 3,193 2,902 +10%
Gross profit £ 714 529 +35%
Operating profit BEER 533 381 +40%
Profit for the year FERRN 365 250 +46%
Profit attributable to equity shareholders ERFBARERN 365 250 +46%
Total assets BEBE 3,651 3,019 +21%
Shareholders’ equity R R &= 1,431 1,176 +22%
In Million BER
Number of Shares %17 & B 2,012 1,994 +1%
Per Share Data SREHR
HK cents BN
Basic earnings EREH 18.3 12.6 +45%
Diluted earnings BERET 18.2 12.5 +46%
Total cash dividends BREKE 11.5 9.0 +28%
Net asset value per Share BREERE 71 59 +20%
Financial Ratios I Ja:
Gross profit margin (%) 2 E (%) 22.4 18.2 +23%
Net profit margin (%) i 15 4 7 (%) 11.4 8.6 +33%
Current ratio BN & 1.7 2.1 -19%
Quick ratio RELE 1.5 1.6 -6%
Net gearing ratio (%) FIRITEE L E (%) 35.0 56.0 -38%
Interest coverage MERE L% 78.9 18.1 +336%
Dividend payout (%) Tk 8L 2 (%) 62.8 71.4 -12%
Revenue to net bank borrowings BARRRTEELE 6.4 44 +45%
Non-current assets to total equity (%) FRDEELEEZBELE%) 63.0 76.0 17%
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Financial Highlights
MM E

DEFINITIONS

Basic earnings
per Share

Diluted earnings
per Share

Net asset value
per Share

Gross profit
margin (%)

Net profit
margin (%)

Current ratio

Quick ratio

Net gearing
ratio (%)

Interest coverage

Dividend
payout (%)

Revenue to net
bank borrowings

Non-current assets
to total equity (%)

Profit attributable to equity shareholders

Weighted average number of Shares

Profit attributable to equity shareholders

Diluted weighted average number of Shares

Net assets

Number of Shares as at year end

Gross profit

x 100%
Revenue

Profit for the year

x 100%
Revenue

Current assets

Current liabilities

Current assets less inventories

Current liabilities

Bank borrowings less cash and bank deposits and
restricted deposits

Total equity

Earnings before interest expenses, tax,
depreciation and amortisation

Interest expenses

Dividend per Share

x 100%
Earnings per Share

Revenue

Bank borrowings less cash and bank deposits and
restricted deposits

Non-current assets

Total equity

E &

BREKER

BREERE

BREM%)

BIRAN )

piElies

Y=

FROEE
AV

TRB % %)

RS FRT
e R

FRBLER
ERBELE%)
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group was
principally engaged in:

— Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): providing
mechanical engineering solutions, manufacturing and
sales of metal and plastic parts, including moulds
and the relevant plastic and metal parts products for
information and communication technology industry,
etc.;

— Electronic Manufacturing Services Business (“EMS”):
manufacturing and sales of magnetic tape data
storage, point-of-sale (“POS”) system, and other
computer peripherals, etc.; and

— Real Estate Business: urban renewal, residential real
estate project investment and development.

TEBBEWR
METAL AND
PLASTIC BUSINESS

\ﬁ

7] PR 28 S 3%
SERVER CHASSIS

D SR

Chairman’s Statement

EEWE

FTEEBREE
HE-_T-_—4FZA=1+—HL &%
BEXEHS:

— LIeE¥BEB(HREBER]  =Z#
BB IEBRATR HERHEE
TBRBRBEH TEZEREEM
RBAMEEXZRA  HEZ
BHSBHUHEMS:

— BFEXRIXBIEFRID:
HERFHEWTHREIEFETS
R R A & A E B 2 E
F: R

— BHERS: BHNE  FXFi
ERRRERER -

EFERRNIRK
ELECTRONIC
MANUFACTURING
SERVICES BUSINESS

17 fq 2
STORAGE PRODUCT

W SR AR AR
POS SYSTEM

BB EEH

AUTOMATIC VENDING MACHINE
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Chairman’s Statement
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Business Review

Results

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the revenue
of the Group was HK$3,192,617,000 (for the
year ended 31 March 2020: HK$2,902,208,000),
which increased by approximately 10% when
compared with the corresponding period last
year. Profit for the year attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company amounted to
HK$365,281,000 (for the year ended 31 March
2020: HK$250,266,000),
approximately 46% when compared with the
corresponding period last year. The increase in

which increased by

profit was mainly attributable to the significant
growth in our M&P Business, the increase in
production efficiency of automated production,
the delivery of units of real estate projects with
revenue recognised, and the receipt of a one-
off concessions and expenses waivers from the
Hong Kong and Mainland governments. It is
gratifying to note that the Company has achieved
outstanding results despite the epidemic haze.

The industrial business recorded an increase
in revenue. It was mainly due to the excellent
performance of the M&P Business as a result of
the rising demand for cloud applications, online
commerce and high performance computing,
boosting the demand for servers. The revenue
of the industrial business for the year ended 31
March 2021 increased by approximately 6% to
HK$2,793,374,000 when compared with the
corresponding period last year (for the year
ended 31 March 2020: HK$2,630,003,000).
In light of the optimisation of product mix,
the operating profit of such segments was up
by approximately 25% to HK$302,993,000
when compared with the corresponding period
last year (for the year ended 31 March 2020:
HK$242,947,000).

(=) ¥BEm
. REFM@E
BE-_ZF-_—F=ZA=1+—
AEFE AEEZ2EAR

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZXI B =R AR A 7
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%ﬂF£EWWWMT%
46% °c mAMIBMEER RS
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The real estate business recorded a revenue of
HK$399,243,000 for the year (for the year ended
31 March 2020: HK$272,205,000), representing
an increase of approximately 47% as compared
with the corresponding period of last year.
Such increase was mainly attributable to the
completion of the delivery of the units of Phase
3 and the forthcoming Phase 4 of Castfast Villas
(IR EE) with revenue recognised. Accordingly,
the operating profit of real estate business
also surged 67% to HK$230,138,000 (for the
year ended 31 March 2020: HK$137,833,000).
With the increasing maturity of our real estate
business, it is expected there will be a greater
profit contribution.

Industrial Business

Revenue for year 2020/21 increased by
approximately 6% when compared with last year,
which was primarily due to the followings:

(@) the increase in the revenue of M&P for the
year ended 31 March 2021 of approximately
16% to HK$1,895,368,000 when compared
with the corresponding period last year
(for the year ended 31 March 2020:
HK$1,632,236,000), mainly due to the
continuous increasing demand for servers
and the significant increase in orders from
some key customers.

(b) the revenue of EMS for the year ended
31 March 2021 dropped by 10% to
HK$898,006,000 when compared with the
corresponding period last year (for the year
ended 31 March 2020: HK$997,767,000),
mainly owing to overall lower demand
for certain retail equipment and products
resulting from the global epidemic.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
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the Group has been committed to upgrading
and renovating automation technology and
optimising the management of production
data and the research and development
of technology. During the year, the Group
applied 3D printing technology to the
processing procedures of the specific
parts and components of plastic moulds
to enhance mould management standards;
it also invested in an intelligent inspection
system to improve product quality with a
high-precision automated optical inspection
(AOIl) technology. In addition, a fully
automated assembly production line was
also put into operation, while together
with the auxiliary bending system and
the 3D visual automatic in-feed system
implemented earlier, the Group’s production
efficiency continued to be optimised,
strengthening our industrial foundation.
Certain production technologies of the
Group have also been granted patent
certificates. In addition, the Group has been
awarded the national Certificate of High
and New Technology Enterprise, that further
recognised the outstanding achievements of
our automation technology.

at the same time, the Group attaches great
importance to team building. Apart from
comprehensively promoting cross-training
of business skills and enhancing flexibility
in manpower deployment, the Group
also actively recruits talents and provides
corresponding incentives to build up an
excellent and diversified team of talents,
which is the cornerstone of long-term
development and heritage.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZXI B =R AR A 7
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in order to continue to expand the scale
of our business, the Group actively
invested in strengthening our industrial
capabilities despite the global impact of
the epidemic. During the year, the Group
utilised its own land and constructed an
additional production complex named
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“Karrie Craftsmanship Building (5 F| TIF AREBLERPERZED
K1)”. The building is located in Fenggang Bl EmMBEERE -

Town, Dongguan City, China, adjacent to

& 55 H B 40 544,500F

our existing factory, with a gross floor area TR B ERE R
of approximately 44,500 sq.m. It will be BoEmAERAEE
equipped with stamping, welding, product ﬂ%ﬁ*ﬁ MR A u‘|‘
assembly and large moulds manufacturing —FRNTHE
related equipment. The first phase of ®rE Hﬁﬁ’\_giiin
investment is expected to be completed REZHER WER
in 2021, and the second phase will be BRAEE BKE =
completed and put into operation in 2022. MIERBRHKRBSEAE
Upon completion, the Karrie Craftsmanship EI SRR R = )
Building will become the Group’s new RITRTPBEAHETISE
headquarter in Mainland, which will also be TEEN—# - - KEH
an important step for the Group to expand FESIAAT RS EAE
into the domestic market. The Group will [z 5 (TN A VA AR
continue to recruit talents and introduce EEB - ABET51ER]
production technologies and establish a ZREXBRBELE
sales team in Mainland China to meet the

long-term business strategy of “bringing in”.

_=_
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H
1 11

IIN-Q .I
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HMEGEALEXRNE  AIMERTBEANETISE
TEEN—F

A newly constructed production complex set

EEEADR2020F 11 AR B8 17
A grand groundbreaking ceremony is held in
November 2020

an important step for the Group to expand
into the domestic market
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in addition, the Group also made a strategic
deployment to further expand its market
share in server chassis. During the year,
the Group commenced a plan to extend
its production bases overseas, starting with
the ASEAN market with addition automated
production lines in Thailand, which will
help the Group disperse its trade risks and
meet the needs of different customers.
Besides, through the close communication
and cooperation with an automotive moulds
and plastic injection manufacturer in
Thailand in which the Group has a stake, it
is expected that the Group’s strategic layout
in the automotive parts and components
market will be further strengthened, thereby
expanding its product portfolio.

meanwhile, the Group has also set up
a design and research and development
centre in Taiwan. Through a team of
experienced professionals, we provide high
value-added mechanical design solutions to
customers, enhance product development,
and provide engineering support in various
aspects to foster our relationships with
customer, with a view to meeting the
increasing requirements of customers.
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SEE=SXETE %% HEM20205F HREEFE —
tHRAREESEH]

Our Board of the Group awarded the “Directors of the Year
Awards 2020-Listed Companies-Categories” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors

(h) in November 2020, the Group received (h) $§%@f5’<\:§§:§¢+—
the “Directors of The Year Awards 2020” REFELEEESR
awarded by The Hong Kong Institute of ?me_q_ggiﬁfﬂ%iﬂj
Directors under the theme of “Vanguard in EER| AENTER
Challenging Times” for the year. By focusing [PRERT R - SREEE] -
on corporate governance, building a rEBIERLEER
diversified and balanced board management BEZTIEKE RS E
team and earnestly implementing internal ExecEEBK UE
control and risk management, the Group is MITAME TR ERE
able to formulate strategies in an objective 8 v N EE D/{g%ﬁﬁ‘“im

s

EE R RS MY

and pragmatic manner to safeguard the

interests of shareholders, and the benefits %*'Jﬁ?’i&%ﬁ & H R
of all stakeholders. The Group’s board me HEARTSH &R
of directors is honoured to receive such B2XEEERE K
award at a time when the capital market is SEEEFg ER &
becoming increasingly demanding in terms REIR ER o

of corporate governance.

(i) Lastly, the Group has been fulfilling its (i) =& AEBRKFET
corporate social responsibility over the years rEMEEME UAH
with a focus on sustainable development, BERREME B MR
covering areas such as environmental BRE @ Rt 8
protection, caring for the community, caring I |2< CEHIREE
for employees, training and development, uuaff&ﬂ:% B A %%@
product responsibility and corporate CHHAETEESER
governance, details of which will be $E@W§Xﬁ] z2-%/
shared in the Group’s Sustainability Report ——FARBEERRS
2020/21. A e
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Real Estate Business

The real estate business matures gradually and
recorded revenue of HK$399,243,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2021, which included the
successive delivery of units of the project of
Phase 3 and Phase 4 of Castfast Villas, with the
major projects as follows:

° Phase 3 of Castfast Villas (“Phase 3”), a
joint residential project with our major
shareholder, was completed during the
financial year with the remaining units
being delivered successively. For the
year ended 31 March 2021, a revenue of
HK$280,181,000 was recorded for a total
of 188 units were delivered (with a total
area of over 19,500 square metres at an
average selling price of approximately
RMB27,200 per square metre) and revenue
was recognised during the year.
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The residential project of Phases 4 of Castfast
Villas, a wholly-owned development project
under the Three Old Renovation Plan has
delivered 41 units during the year and
recorded a total revenue of HK$119,062,000
(with a total of 3,900 square meters at
an average selling price of approximately
RMB29,000 per square meter). As of 27
May 2021, the residential project of Phase 4
and Phase 5 of Castfast Villas, with a total
saleable floor area of approximately 120,000
square meters, has pre-sold approximately
260 units with a total of approximately 26,000
square meters at an average selling price of
approximately RMB30,000 per square meter
and is expected to be delivered in 2021 and
2022 successively.
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e The progress of another self-
developed residential development
project, Castfast Mansion in Boluo
County, Huizhou is on schedule with
satisfactory progress. The project is
expected to be completed in 2022 with
a saleable floor area of approximately
30,000 square metres, which is now
available for pre-sale.

Conclusion

Looking back to the past financial year, the Group’s
results are certainly gratifying. However, in the face of
different challenges from fierce market competition,
Renminbi appreciation and rising raw material prices,
the Group will stay vigilant and seize the opportunities
arising from the post-epidemic demand for digitalisation,
cloud services, online commerce and social media, etc.
We will actively expand our business competency and
adopt practical measures of “recruiting talents, innovating
research and development, diversifying products,
extending the base of production and markets expansion”
to meet the constant challenges and provide solutions
to our customers with a view to achieving a win-win
situation. Therefore, the Group shall adopt a vision of
sustainable operation, and implement the craftmanship
spirits of focus, professionalism, dedication, lean and
innovation. Leveraging our three-pillars development
strategies of balanced business and customer development,
bringing in and going global, the Group will enhance its
competitiveness and steadily move forward to its goal of
building up a centennial business.
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Dividend Policy

In the results announcement for the first quarter of
year 2006/07, the Board announced the adoption of
a new dividend policy, which outlines the factors
that should be taken into account in determining
the amount of dividend for distribution, such as
the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company, cash flow and investment budgets. After
careful consideration of the aforementioned factors,
and for the purpose of maintaining the track record
of consecutive annual payment of dividends since the
listing, the Board has recommended the payment of
a final dividend of HK7.0 cents per share to all the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 31 August 2021.

Geographical Distribution

The Group has adopted a diversified approach
in product delivery and does not rely on one
single market. Details of the Group’s geographical
distribution are set out in the paragraph headed
“Segment Reporting” in note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements of this annual report.
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Prospect

(a)

The Group will continue to deepen its automated
production, increasing its investment in
production line and expanding the scope of
application for its automation technology. For
example, our goal is to make breakthrough in
the automated assembly and production field,
which is expected to commence stage by stage
in 2021. We have also begun the research and
development for professional technology and
innovations in production process, especially
moulds technology for vehicles and consumables,
which serve as preparation in advance for
new products and businesses, allowing for
the establishment of smart plants featuring
human-machine collaboration and moving
towards the production model of Industry 4.0.

The trend of replacing traditional vehicles with
electric vehicles is irresistible. As governments
of different countries implement policies to
encourage and promote the use of electric
vehicles, it is expected that the electric vehicle
market will experience rapid growth in the
future. Currently, the charging network for new
energy vehicle is still at its initial development
stage. There is huge room of growth for the
market of charging station. Earlier, the Group
has participated in orders related to the casings
of electric vehicles charging piles, which lays
the foundation for our electric vehicles charging
piles business and facilitates its long-term
development. The Group is actively exploring
cooperation opportunities with different electric
vehicle charging solution providers with an aim
to achieve synergy, hoping to further deepen
the development of charging station and electric
vehicle accessory business.

(m) BE
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The Group’s Thailand Plant began ordering
production equipment, and it is expected to
commence production by the end of 2021.
The Group believes that, with the support of
free investment policy and tax concessions
from the Board of Investment of Thailand,
the Group can better utilize its strategic
advantage of “Going Out” and diversify the
customers base and product portfolio. On top
of that, following the entering of the Regional
Comprehensive Economic Partnership (the
“RCEP”), establishing plants in Thailand can
reduce the risk of trade barriers while allowing
us to participate in the largest free trade and
economic system of the world, which expand
the Group’s coverage within the Asia-Pacific
region. The Group’s Thailand Plant focuses on
metal stamping technology and production.
Through strategic cooperation with a Thai
automotive parts and moulds manufacturer, we
believe that their plastic injection and automotive
parts manufacturing experience will create
synergy effects with the Group, and lay down a
foundation for the Group’s long term deployment
in the automotive parts market and China’s
domestic market.
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(d)

In terms of industrial business, benefited from the
new trend of working from home, the increasing
demand for cloud service and online business, as
well as the popularization of high-performance
computing, Al application, computing ancillary
infrastructure and 5G telecommunication and
data center, it is expected that future demand
for servers will stay strong. As a world leading
supplier of server chassis, this is expected to
bring positive effect to the Group. Moreover,
through cooperation, we have gradually
deepened the relationship with and trust of
some new customers. It is expected more next
generation products will be launched in the
future, which also correspondingly drives the
revenue from the mould business.

In terms of the real estate business, as a
participant of the urban renewal projects for
cities in the Greater Bay Area, not only will the
Group continue to conduct initial procedures
for the change of land use of a land parcel
in Yan Tien, but will also proactively identify
quality land parcel to replenish our land
reserves. In the future, the Group does not
rule out any cooperation with other property
developers to develop urban renewal projects in
Guangdong, seizing the development potential
of the Greater Bay Area. Furthermore, Phases
4 and 5 of Castfast Villas, a residential project
wholly-owned by the Group, will continue to
release new units for sale. Under the strong
demand, both sales and average selling prices
increase. The Group believes that the real estate
business will bring significant revenue for the
shareholders.
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Uphold the spirit and make a fresh start

“Establishing a centennial enterprise is a long and
arduous task”. This summarizes the mission for
sustainable development upheld by the Group. 2020
is the 40th anniversary of the Group. Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, the founder of the Group, takes this opportunity
to look back to the moulds for plum-shaped flower
building blocks skillfully crafted 50 years ago to
demonstrate the spirit of “willing to face challenge and
make innovation” under the difficult environment back
then. Through reviewing the craftsmanship at the time,
we hope to uphold original spirit of craftsmanship
and infuse elements such as “focus, professionalism,
dedication, lean and innovation” into various
aspects of the enterprise. By rebuilding the brand of
flower-shaped art building blocks as a motivation to
the team, we drive and guide the spirit of innovation,
so that they can face different challenges as flexibly as
building blocks, providing cohesion for the long-term
development of the Group. Let us encourage each

other in our endeavors.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Borrowings

With the commencement of the real estate business, net
interest-bearing borrowings® as at 31 March 2021 were
approximately HK$500,438,000 and the net interest-
bearing borrowings ratio (being the proportion of total net
interest-bearing borrowings over total equity) was 35% (as
at 31 March 2020: net interest-bearing borrowings were
approximately HK$658,820,000 and net interest-bearing
borrowings ratio was 56%). The financial position of the
Group remains healthy.

Net interest-bearing borrowings represents bank borrowings
and lease liabilities less cash and bank deposits and restricted
deposits.
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Non-current Assets to Shareholders’ Fund Ratio
maintaining at below 1

The non-current assets to total equity ratio as at 31 March
2021 maintained at the healthy level of 63% (as at 31
March 2020: 76%), which represents the Group’s non-
current assets, such as plant and machineries are using its
stable total equity as a support.

Capital Expenditure (“CAPEX”)

The initial estimate of the CAPEX Budget for the financial
year 2021/22 is approximately HK$172,090,000. The
CAPEX was mainly used for construction of factory,
acquiring machinery and equipment and computer system.

Resources Available

Currently, the total interest-bearing bank borrowings
are approximately HK$917,466,000. The Group is
confident that with the cash in hand and bank deposits of
approximately HK$144,978,000 and the unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$905,520,000,
to meet its current operational and capital expenditure
requirements and to make strategic investments when
opportunities arise.

it is able

Exchange Rate Exposure

Most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in HKD, USD and RMB. Foreign currency
risk arises from commercial transactions, recognised assets
and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations
that are denominated in a currency other than the Group’s
functional currency, which in turn exerts pressure on
the Group’s production cost. To mitigate the impact of
exchange rate fluctuation of RMB on its business, the
Group will actively communicate with its customers in
order to adjust the selling prices of its products and may
use foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against
foreign currency risk (if and when necessary).
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Contingent Liabilities

The Group has provided guarantees to banks to secure the
mortgage arrangements of certain property buyers. As at
31 March 2021, the outstanding guarantees to the banks
amounted to HK$166,451,000 which will be released upon
the completion of the transfer procedures with the property
buyers in respect of the legal title of the properties.

The directors do not consider the Group will sustain a loss
under these guarantees as the bank has the rights to sell
the property and recovers the outstanding loan balance
from the sale proceeds if the property buyers have default
payment. The Group has not recognised any deferred
income in respect of these guarantees as its fair value is
considered to be insignificant.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had approximately 3,350 employees on average
(an average of 3,500 employees in the corresponding
period last year) during the year. With a good reputation
in the local community, the Group has rarely encountered
major difficulties in recruiting employees.

Employee remuneration packages are determined in
accordance with prevailing market standards and the
employee’s performance and experience. The Group
will also grant bonuses to employees with outstanding
performance based on its own audited business
performance and the appraisal and reward system.
Other employee benefits include medical insurance and
mandatory provident fund.

In addition, to cope with domestic development in
Mainland and the actual need for talent-retaining, the
Group establishes a “Cooperative Home” to encourage and
finance potential elites settled down locally in buying a flat
as a means to retain talents who may otherwise be lost in
the competitive labour market.
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Performance Based Incentives

The Group adopted performance based bonus system
and objective performance assessment. Employees with
outstanding performance will now receive more bonus
than before the new system was implemented.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended paying a final dividend of
HK7.0 cents per share (2019/20 final dividend: HK5.0 cents
per share), to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 31 August 2021.
Together with the interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per
share (2019/20 interim dividend: HK4.0 cents per share)
and a special dividend of HKO.5 cent per share (2019/20
special dividend: nil), total dividend paid/payable for this
year amounted to HK11.5 cents per share (2019/20: HK9.0
cents per share). The final dividend will be subject to
the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the
Company to be held on 24 August 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee
currently made up of one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors whose duties include
resolving issues in relation to audit such as reviewing and
supervising the Company’s financial reporting process and
internal control systems. The audit committee and the
management have reviewed the accounting principles and
major policies adopted by the Group and have discussed
the auditing, internal control and financial reporting in
the current year with the external auditors. The audit
committee has reviewed the consolidated annual results of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

APPRECIATION

I would like to thank our customers, suppliers, bankers,
shareholders and others who have extended their
invaluable support to the Group, and my fellow Directors,
managers and all staff for their considerable contributions
to the Group.
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FEHRE
APPENDIX 1 B 85 —

Dividend and Dividend Policy:
P BN B BRER
An unbroken 25 years’ record of dividend payment
—t+RFARIR B R B
The Group’s policy to distribute 30% or more of its profits attributable to shareholders as dividend
7SR B BETE B BB R A R B R FU30% 3 A E A F IR B
All dividend paid shown below is in HK cents per Share
THERBRMNIKREZREZNEBIGAE

Interim Final ~ Special
Interim Final ~ Subtotal ~ Special ~ Special ~ Subtotal Total Dividend Payout Ratio
A R %5l
ik b3 P OBERE BARE REME &t RE RELE
(excluding)* (Including)?
(FERER) (BREA):

1996/97 Nil & 5.40 5.40 Nil & Nil & Nil & 5.40 2%  NATEH
1997/98 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 13% NATER
1998/99 2.00 2.00 4.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 4.00 58%  N/AREMA
1999/00 2.20 2.20 440 Nil & Nil & Nil & 4.40 77%  NARER
2000/01 1.10 3.80 490 Nil & 6.20 6.20 11.10 69% 156%
2001/02 5.00 5.90 10.90 5.00 14.10 19.10 30.00 50% 138%
2002/03 8.00 11.00 19.00 Nil & 5.00 5.00 24.00 60% 75%
2003/04 8.00 12.00 20.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 20.00 87% NATREMH
2004/05 8.50 12.50 21.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 21.00 58%  NATER
2005/06 9.00 13.00 22.00 Nil & 3.00 3.00 25.00 48% 55%
2006/07 8.50 3.00 11.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 11.50 38% NATER
2007/08 0.75 Nil & 0.75 Nil & Nil & Nil & 0.75 27%  NATER
2008/09 Nil & 1.50 1.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.50 39% NATRER
2009/10 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 45%  NATER
2010/11 Nil & 1.10 1.10 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.10 N%  NATER
2011/12 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 38% NATER
2012/13 Nil & 1.20 1.20 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.20 61% NATER
2013/14 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 58%  N/ATER
2014/15 0.50 1.80 2.30 Nil & 1.00 1.00 3.30 61% 87%
2015/16 0.75 2.75 3.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 3.50 59%  NATER
2016/17 1.30 4.20 5.50 Nil & 1.00 1.00 6.50 65% 77%
2017/18 1.60 4.75 6.35 2.55 Nil & 2.55 8.90 69% 97%
2018/19 3.00 5.00 8.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 8.00 72% NATER
2019/20 4.00 5.00 9.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 9.00 71%  NATER
2020/21 4.00 7.00 11.00 0.50 Nil & 0.50 11.50 60% 63%
Remarks: * Excluding special dividend *Including special dividend

B * NEIERRIRR B R A
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ERHRE

APPENDIX 2 B 8% —
Inventory & Debtor Turnover
FEREWRBEDR
No. of days —4&— Inventory Turnover 775 A#Hj
=E: o Debtor Turnover &5 85 18 8% £

(No. of days) (A ) 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Inventory Turnover

5 & A & 5 50 59 56 55 81 58
Debtor Turnover
Jr& Uk B 1 2 5P 41 43 50 38 38 75

Inventory turnover (Base on year end inventory value/Cost of revenue) x 365 days
Debtor turnover (Base on year end debtors/Revenue) x 365 days

Inventory Turnover 7 & 8 & Hj

(No. of days) (A ) 19/20 20/21 Change # i@
Raw Materials J& 1 £} 24 17 -29%
Work-in-progress + £ ik aa 8 8 —
Finished Goods & X f 49 33 -33%
Total & &t 81 58 -28%
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

B 8% =

Gross Profit Margin & Net Profit Margin

BERENRAFNESE

—48— Gross Profit Margin 32 EF(%)
o Net Profit Margin #2FX4EF(%)

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21
(%) 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21
Gross Profit Margin
BEERN 12.1 13.6 14.5 16.6 18.2 22.4
Net Profit Margin
B 4.0 7.0 7.5 8.4 8.6 11.4
HK$(million) (& & & T)
Revenue
WA 2,898 2,700 2,920 2,651 2,902 3,193
Profit for the year
F &2 A 117 168 182 221 250 365
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ERHRE

APPENDIX 4 B &%
Industrial Businesses CAPEX

I¥XBETCEERE Operating

Industrial profit for

Businesses Industrial
CAPEX Businesses

TEEBETE THER

BERE L RF

HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FHT

300,000 300,000

250,000 250,000

200,000 200,000
150,000 ~ T T e T e ~~7 7 150,000

100,000 T T ~~ 7 100,000

1O 0/010 A e 777 50,000

0 0

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22%

Industrial
Businesses CAPEX
ITEEBKEE
BERE
HK$’000

FET

o

Operating Profit

52,004 60,660 61,415 113,822 79,418 172,090

for Industrial
Not

219,783 260,432 208,065 242,947 302,993 applicable
& B

Businesses
TEE®
A5 5
HK$’000
FAT

Note: i 5T :

* Budget
*  HEE
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate
value and accountability.

For the years ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year”) the Group
has applied the principles of the recently promulgated
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and complied with the code provision
(the “Code Provisions”) of the CG Code; save for the
deviation from Code Provisions A.2.1, A.4.1, A.4.2 and
A.5 of the CG Code. This report describes our Group’s
corporate governance practices and explains the said
deviations from the CG Code.

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The
Company does not segregate the roles of its Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai (“Mr. Ho”)
currently holds both positions.

Being the founder of the Group, Mr. Ho has substantial
experience in the manufacturing industry, as well as in the
property development and cultural related business. At
the same time, Mr. Ho has the appropriate management
skills and business acumen that are the pre-requisites for
assuming the role of the Chief Executive Officer. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer in the same person would provide
the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allow
the Group to be more effective and efficient in developing
long-term business strategies and executing business
plans. Hence, the Board considers that there is no need to
segregate the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer and both roles should continue to be performed
by Mr. Ho. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is adequately ensured by the operation of
the Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with a sufficient number thereof independent
non-executive Directors.
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According to Code Provision A.4.1 of CG Code, non-
executive director should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming was re-
designated as Non-executive Director on 1 June 2007 and
he was appointed as Deputy Chairman on 1 May 2011
without a specific term. Mr. Ho Kai Man was re-designated
November 2012
without a specific term. Although Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming and
Mr. Ho Kai Man are not appointed for a specific term, they
are subject to retirement by rotation according to the Bye-

as the Non-executive Director on 1

laws of the Company.

Moreover, Code Provision A.4.2 of CG Code stipulates that
every director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, the
number nearest to one-third but not greater than one-
third shall retire from office provided that notwithstanding
anything in the Company’s Bye-laws, the Chairman
of the Directors and/or the Managing Director of the
Company shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject
to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in
determining the number of Directors to retire in each
year. Furthermore, any Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board should hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting and
would then be eligible for re-election. The Chairman and/
or the Managing Director of the Group will consider to
voluntarily retire at the annual general meeting at least
once every three years in line with Code Provision A.4.2
of the CG Code. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure good
corporate governance of the Company.
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According to Code Provision A.5 of the CG Code, the
Company should establish a nomination committee, which
is chaired by the chairman of the Board or an independent
non-executive Director and comprises a majority of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company
has not established a nomination committee due to the
fact that the function of the nomination committee was
assigned to the Board, which is responsible for reviewing
its own structure, size and composition in accordance
with the board diversity policy adopted by the Company
(the “Policy”) annually; considering the re-appointment of
Directors; evaluating the Policy as well as assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.
The Board has taken sufficient measures to avoid the
conflict of interests in carrying out such functions. For
instance, the relevant Director would abstain from voting
for any resolution relating to his or her own reappointment.
As such, the Board is of the view that the members of the
Board possess the necessary experience and knowledge to
discharge the functions of a nomination committee. The
Board shall review the composition and operation of the
Board from time to time and shall consider establishing a
nomination committee if such need arises.

The Company will continue to review its practices
from time to time to achieve high standard of corporate
governance.

A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1. The Board of Directors

1.1 As at 31 March 2021, the Board consisted
of nine Directors, comprising Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer),
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia, Mr. Zhao
Kai and Mr. Chan Raymond as executive
Directors; Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (Deputy
Chairman) and Mr. Ho Kai Man as a non-
executive Directors and Mr. Fong Hoi Shing,
Mr. Yam Chung Shing and Dr. Lau Kin Wah
as the independent non-executive Directors.
The Board has the collective responsibility
for the leadership and promotion of the
success of the Group’s business by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs.
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1.2

1.3

The Board is committed to the Group’s
objectives of enhancing the Shareholders’
value and provision of superior products
and services. The Board is collectively
responsible for formulating the overall
objective and strategy of the Group;
monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance and reviews
the standard of corporate governance of
the Group. It also makes decisions on
matters such as approving the annual
results, interim and quarterly results,
connected transactions, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, declaring
dividends and adopting accounting policies.
The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for implementing business
strategies and management of the daily
operations of the Group’s businesses to the
management.

The Board conducts regular scheduled
meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened when circumstances
require.

The Board had met four times for the Year
and considered, reviewed and approved the
Group’s annual results for the year ended 31
March 2020, quarterly and interim results of
the Group for the Year.
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The attendance records of Board meetings

and general meeting held during the Year

are set out below:

UTRAFEEFTE S
BELBRRREMHEL

Attendance of individual
Directors at Board meeting and

general meeting during
the Year
FEEEEERRRASEE
ERESNLHER
No. of board No. of general
meetings meeting
attended/held attended/held
Exg BRRXE
HERY, HERY
BERY EERY
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai 1= $8 50 A& 4/4 11
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia fR 4 R/ ME 4/4 1/1
Mr. Zhao Kai iRl irged 4/4 11
Mr. Chan Raymond REBX K% 4/4 1/1
Non-executive Directors HHTEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming Al %A 4/4 1/1
Mr. Ho Kai Man B158:¢4: 4/4 11
Independent Non-executive Directors #BVHHTEE
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing =2 ik 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yam Chung Shing TEALE 4/4 1/1
Dr. Lau Kin Wah* BlpEE L 11 0/0
Mr. So Wai Chun? BEE&REL 3/3 171
& was appointed on 1 December 2020 * RZE_TEF+_A—
HEZE
' resigned on 1 December 2020 ' RZEBE_TF+_HA—
B &
A list of Directors and their role and EERERHEABLER

function was posted on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

AR o iAFN/NYST VR RS

T8 uh o
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1.4 To maximize the effectiveness of the Board

and to encourage active participation and
contribution from Board members, the
Board has established an audit committee
and a remuneration committee. Detailed
descriptions of each of these committees
are set out below. All of these committees
adopt, as far as practicable, the principles,
procedures and arrangements of the
Board in relation to the scheduling and
proceeding of meetings, notice of meetings
and inclusion of agenda items, records and
availability of minutes.

The Board has devised its specific written
terms of reference setting out its duties,
responsibilities, powers and functions which
include the following:

e developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior
management;

e taking responsibility for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of
the financial statements in accordance
with the prevailing accounting
standards and laws, approving the
financial statements and appointing
and liaising with the Group’s external
auditors;

e reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report in its
annual report;
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Corporate Governance Report

e overseeing management in the design
implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control
systems;

e liaising with all regulatory authorities
and organisations on all matters
relating to the Group, and monitoring
changes in their policies relating to and
affecting the Group; and

e ensuring accountability towards and
sufficient communication with the
Group’s shareholders.

2 Board Composition

2.1

2.2

As at 31 March 2021, the Board comprises
nine Directors: four executive Directors,
two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming, a non-executive Director,
is the younger brother of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai,
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
Mr. Ho Kai Man, a non-executive Director,
is the nephew of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company and the son of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Ming, a non-executive Director and deputy
chairman of the Company.

The attributes, skills and expertise among
the existing Directors are considered
appropriate so as to effectively lead,
supervise and manage the Group, taking
into account the scope and nature of the
operations. The Directors have a mix of core
competencies in areas such as accounting
and finance, business and management,
production and quality control techniques,
supply chain management, industry
knowledge and marketing strategies. Details
of the experience and qualifications of
Directors and Senior Management are
set out in the section headed “Senior
Management Profile” in this annual report.

e HEEEEEYAR
EERARBEER
BmHRE B K
BEE

e HAEEKMEBLRL
MEmEAEAS
BME— U ER A
EREAXNEEEEA
ARErKENK
REF: R

s HMERMAANEEMKRE
BERRITEME
;\%o

2. EEE4AMK

2.1

2.2

R-E_—F=A=+—
H ZEFZ8dHNEES
K BRENEBEHRITE
£ MBIFPTESR=
BEIEHITESE - ¥F
MITESMEBELEETD
TREFRITHAE IS E
EEZR FRTES
RS SEE T AR A *E
JE 1T B4R 0] 152 #8
2R RARBEHR
TEERAEFMEH
TEMRT o

RAEEZ XEEHE N
HEmE  REEFEMA
BZBEE RERER
HMBRBASTHERER N
Wl EREEREHE -
EXAARTENWES
k% mEREE-
EERME TG XM
HESERE BRAZRRK -
TEMBET S REF
BEEES - BREFAS
RERBANBZERBRNEE
BEERERETFRF
REEANBZEANER]

—ff o

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 £ 39



Corporate Governance Report

40

Board Diversity

Pursuant to Code Provision A.5.6 of the CG
Code, the Company has adopted a board
diversity policy, which sets out the purpose
and principles regarding board diversity for the
purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board
as for as practicable. Directors’ appointment
will be based on merit and candidates will
be considered against measurable objectives,
taking into account the Company’s business and
development.

Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity criteria, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board
and was of the opinion that the Board is
well balanced and diversified, and with the
appropriate structure, size and necessary
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives required for the business of the
Group. The Board also reviewed and evaluated
the board diversity policy.

On 25 March 2019, the Board adopted a
separate Nomination Policy, which provides
the key selection criteria and principles of the
Board in making decisions in the appointment
and reappointment of directors and succession
planning of directors, to emphasise our
commitment on transparent nomination process.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 Il B B2 £ Ig B BE 2 7

EEgREZRI
BiFELEES TR ZFRIE
X AS56TE  AAAIHEME
EEXEZTLEE EF
MYESELZTENEERER
JRA| » LEBRARRIEESK
BEAEHYEZ T NERE
Z-BEEAIBUEEE
A RARFTNEBRRER
HE - BREJEENEEZRE
fR3E A ©

RIEANHKESRE—FRT
ZFRE > BREFRARRY
R - File - b R RERK
KD - MEHBEER R BEK
B e - B RRBER -
R A HOR TE B IR IR P BE & B
REANERESZSRMENE
BERELHERME

REERN  EFEEHESFS
ZEEE S KPR YRS
ExeBekzrlt &R
BENER KPREENR
B AE - EREAEEE
BRREZTILMFT - EF]
NeaEdlBEEEZ L
BUR -

gBEe N -_E—-NE=A
“tHRARMBIMNRBR
K ZHRRREEESFENE
TRERESEHIFERH
KANEEHREERRE -
N AEER N EERE
HEMREZRERF -



Corporate Governance Report

4  Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

4.1

4.2

4.3

At each annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM”), one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office
by rotation. The Directors, since his last
election or appointment who has been the
longest in office shall retire and be eligible
for re-election at the AGM. Pursuant to the
bye-laws of the Company, the Chairman
and/or the Managing Director of the Group
shall not, when holding such office, be
subject to retirement by rotation or be taken
into account in determining the number of
Directors to retire in each year. To comply
with Code Provision A.4.2 of the CG Code,
the Chairman and/or the Managing Director
of the Group will voluntarily retire at the
AGM at least once every three years.

As at 31 March 2021, non-executive
Directors (except Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming and
Mr. Ho Kai Man) including the independent
non-executive Directors are appointed for a
fixed term not exceeding three years and all
non-executive Directors are subject to the
requirements of retirement by rotation and
re-election by Shareholders at the AGM in
accordance with the Company’s bye-laws.

The names and biographical details of the
Directors who will offer themselves for
election or re-election at the forthcoming
AGM are set out in the circular to
Shareholders to assist Shareholders in
making an informed decision on their
elections.
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4.4 Since the whole Board participates in the
appointment of new Directors, the Company
does not establish a nomination committee.
In evaluating whether an appointee is
suitable to act as a Director, the Board
will consider the experience and skills of
the appointee; as well as personal ethics,
integrity and the willingness to commit
time in the affairs of the Group. Where the
appointee is appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the Board will also
consider his/her independence. During
the Year, the Board had also reviewed and
made recommendations in respect of the re-
appointments of retiring Directors, which
were approved by the Shareholders at the
last AGM.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has in force appropriate insurance
coverage on directors and officers’ liabilities
arising from the group’s business. The Company
reviews the extent of insurance coverage on an
annual basis.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development
Every newly appointed Director will be given
an induction. As part of the ongoing process
of directors’ training, the Company Secretary
continuously updates all directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements.
All Directors are encouraged to attend
external forum or training courses on relevant
topics which may count towards continuous
professional development training.
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For the Year, all Directors have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development
activities either by attending training courses,
seminars, conferences and forums or by reading
materials relevant to the Group’s business and
Directors’ duties and responsibilities. Each
of them has provided a record of training
they received for the Year to the Company. A
directors’ training course was held on 1 March
2021 concerning Enforcement Bulletin, Further
guidance on the disclosure of counterparties
in transactions, Update on backdoor listings
and continuing listing criteria one year after the
Rules amendments and Corporate Transactions
with relevant cases. The training each Director
received for the Year is summarized as below:

AEE 2REFTHEAN
FEIRE e @F
N BB ERASEE XK
EEBERBERAERZ
FREAEE EXERE
JEE) c AFE BF—UESE
RRFARABIFIES ZHI
L e MZT-—F=H—H
BOT—EAZEFFIRE - A
AR EMRABITE®R) -
FRARZEFINBEENE
—iE5| - BEBR MR
2B BT 2RI R AR R & S8 ET
—FRENEKFTER R LA
& c AFEREREFEXEI
BT :

Attending
training
courses,

seminars,

Reading conferences
materials  and forums
7 E IR

Mg 832

MEMBEHR RiwiE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai Al 12 BB 5 A v v
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia PR 4 ok /N v v
Mr. Zhao Kai 85 & v v
Mr. Chan Raymond PR 3& X & 4 v v
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fa] &2 BF 5% 4 v v
Mr. Ho Kai Man Al RS %k & v v
Independent Non-executive Directors %Y H $ 17 EE
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing 3B A v v
Mr. Yam Chung Shing TEHEE v v
Dr. Lau Kin Wah* o v v
Mr. So Wai Chun? R i o v v
i was appointed on 1 December 2020 & RZB_ZTF+_HA—R#E
ZH
' resigned on 1 December 2020 ¢ R-_B_ZTE+_A—BH#
(5a
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Corporate Governance and Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

The Chairman should be responsible for ensuring
that directors receive adequate, clear, complete
and reliable information in a timely manner.

The chairman should:

e ensure that the board works effectively and
performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner;

e ensure that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established;

e encourage Directors with different views
to voice their concerns, allow sufficient
time for discussion of issues and ensure
that board decisions fairly reflect board
consensus;

e ensure that appropriate steps are taken
to provide effective communication with
shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the board as a whole; and

e promote a culture of openness and debate
by facilitating the effective contribution of
non-executive directors in particular and
ensuring constructive relations between
executive and non-executive Directors.,

The Chief Executive Officer should be
responsible for managing the Group’s business
including the implementation of strategy and
initiatives with the support of executive Directors
and senior management and within those
authorities delegated by the Board.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors and one of
them has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the number of independent non-executive
Directors of the Company represents no less than
one-third of the Board.

The Company has received from each of its
independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Any re-election of an independent non-executive
director who has served the board for more than
nine vyears, his further appointment should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by shareholders.

B. BOARD COMMITTEE

1.

Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

1.1 The RC meets at least once a year. It is
chaired by Mr. Yam Chung Shing and
comprises two other members, namely Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming and Dr. Lau Kin Wah. All
RC members, with the exception of Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming (non-executive Director),
are independent non-executive Directors.
The quorum necessary for the transaction
of business by the RC is two. The terms
of reference of RC have been updated
in March 2012 to comply with the new
requirements set out in the CG Code
and were posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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1.2

The principal responsibilities of RC include:

to formulate remuneration policy
of the Group, review and make
recommendations to the Board in
respect of the remuneration policy;

to consider salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to conform to any requirement,
direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the
Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by the
Listing Rules or any applicable law;
and

to determine the remuneration and
incentive scheme of the executive
Directors and the senior management.
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1.3 The RC met once during the Year and
reviewed its terms of reference, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the
remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management staff. It also assessed the
performance of the Directors and evaluated
the remuneration policy. The attendance
record of the meeting of RC during the Year
is set out below:

13 FMZEERAFER
BiT-Xxg@ZEE 0 U
EMHBESE K&
ErHmmsE RESM
BREBEZEHMH - N
EFHSESNRAR
TEHMNEE - HFE
BEgRAFESHR D
JECERAAT -

No. of
attended/held
HERXRE
EERE
Mr. Yam Chung Shing (chairman of RO) E B 5c & (W Z & & F /E)
(was re-designated as chairman of (RZZ_ZTF+-H—HAE
RC on 1 December 2020) BEWNEESEE) 1/1
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fa] &2 B 5 A4 1/1
Dr. Lau Kin Wah [ EF L+
(was appointed on (R=—E-_FTF+-A—H
1 December 2020) BEZEE) 0/0
Mr. So Wai Chun (chairman of RC) #EELE(FHWZE 2 FE)
(resigned on 1 December 2020) (R=ZE=ZEF+-A—B#I) 1/1
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR ESREREBEAETMH

MANAGEMENT

The particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration
and the five highest paid employees as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to
the Listing Rules are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code,
the remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the Year is set out
below:

B L R 81672 T #
EEHEEHe AR RS
FHEEBEZE—FTFBIERN
REFRABH 2 G EMBERE
Bf5E29 o

RIEEXE A TR 27 A&
XB15 ANEE - LHFHMA
AElDzEREE AR M
ol

Number of

persons

Remuneration bands (HK$) N A B (78 %) A
1 to 1,000,000 121,000,000 1
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,001% 2,000,000 4
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2%

Audit Committee (“AC”)

2.1

2.2

The AC’s membership, with the exception
of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (non-executive
Director), comprised the independent non-
executive Directors as at 31 March 2021:

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing

(chairman of AC)
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming
Mr. Yam Chung Shing
Dr. Lau Kin Wah

The Board is of the opinion that members
of the AC have sufficient accounting
and financial management expertise or
experience to discharge their duties.

The operations of the AC are regulated
by its terms of reference. The terms of
reference have been updated in April 2016
to comply with the new requirements set
out in the Revised Code. The updated terms
of reference of the Audit Committee were
posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The main duties of the
AC include:

e to review and supervise the Group's
financial reporting process including
the review of quarterly, interim and
annual results of the Group;

e to review the external auditors’
appointment, remuneration and any
matters relating to resignation or
termination;

e to examine the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control which involves
regular review in various corporate
structures and business process;
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e to realize corporate objective and
strategy by taking into account the
potential risk and the nature of
its urgency in order to ensure the
effectiveness of the Group’s business
operations. The scope of such reviews
includes finance, operations, regulatory
compliance, internal control systems
and risk management; and

e to discuss the risk management
and internal control systems
with management to ensure that
management has performed its duties
to have effective systems.

2.3 The AC met two times during the Year and
reviewed the interim results of the Group
for the six months ended 30 September
2020 and the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2020. The AC
had also reviewed the Group’s financial
reporting system, internal control system,
risk management system and associated
procedures to ensure their adequacy and
effectiveness. The Company Secretary of
the Company keeps all minutes of the AC.
The attendance record of the meeting of AC
during the Year is set out below:

2.3

s HEEIEERR
MMEE Kk BT
B R T EIR B X
B 1R K 58 B LA 4R
AEBEBEEER
Moz BRE
MK 2E BEE
AR 8 ST N R R
EEZHE N

o HEERENWER
EREEBDETT
BERZYBEMNE

EREZEERAFERTT
MieH  TEHNTEE
BHE-_Z-_ZTFNA=1
HRHRBE-ZE=-F
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EHE - AT E
[ (% & IR K %% A0 48 BE EY
BR UBRETDE
mME B - %’f?é/\a
ZHEBERLHEAD

MARMERE - %TZ
ZESERNAFESE

JE R8T
No. of
attended/held
KRB
EERY
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing (chairman of AC) E/iﬁf'ﬁi(%'f?%,\ 23+/E)
(was re-designated as chairman of (RZZ_ZTF+-H—HAE
AC) REZEZBEEERE) 2/2
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming ] £ BA ST 4 2/2
Mr. Yam Chung Shing TEHEE 2/2
Dr. Lau Kin Wah %\th%%i
(was appointed (R—E_ZTF+_-_A—H
on 1 December 2020) EEZE) 0/0
Mr. So Wai Chun (chairman of AC) #EELE(FEERLTEES T /E)
(resigned on 1 December 2020) (RZZE-_ZFF+_-_F—HB&HMT) 2/2
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C.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

1.1

1.2

The Company has adopted a Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Group (the
“Company’s Model Code”) on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out
in Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors,
they have confirmed that they had complied
with the required standards set out in both the
Company’s Model Code and the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2021.

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

50

1.

Financial Reporting

1.1 The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for preparing the Group’s accounts which
gives a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group
on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumption or qualification as necessary.
In preparing the accounts for the Year, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable.

1.2 The management provides explanation and

information to the Board as to enable the

Board to make informed assessments of the

financial and other information put before

the Board for approval.
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1.3 The Board endeavours to ensure the making
of balanced, clear and understandable
assessments of the Group’s position and
prospects and extending the coverage of
such information to include annual, interim
and quarterly reports, price-sensitive
announcements and financial disclosures
as required under the Listing Rules, reports
to regulators as well as any information
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to
statutory requirements.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the Group’s
system of internal controls and is committed
to managing business risks and maintaining
sound and effective internal control systems to
safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the
Group’s assets.

During the Year, the Internal Audit Department
under the supervision of the Board and the
Audit Committee, has reviewed and reported
on the adequacy of effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of
the Group, covering financial, operational,
compliance and risk management control
functions annually. Based on the results of the
review, the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are still effective and adequate.

The Board adopted the risk management
policy and three-year internal risk management
audit plan, including structure and system of
risk management of the Group. Internal Audit
Department together with the Audit Committee
will review the adequacy of the effectiveness of
the risk management at least once a year.

The Board’s annual review had considered the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function.
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The internal control system is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
of no material misstatement or loss and to
manage instead of eliminating risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the
Group's objectives.

The Internal Audit Department performs regular
audit reviews and report of the risk and key
controls of the Group to the Board and the Audit
Committee. The responsible Department Heads
will be notified of the control deficiencies noted
for rectification. For the Year, the Internal Audit
Department mainly conducted audit over process
of manufacturing, procurement management,
consumable material management as well as
construction and operations management in real
estate business and other items with high risk
index. The audit results have been presented to
the senior management, the Audit Committee
and the Board.

For the purpose of handling and disseminating
inside information pursuant to Rules 13.09 and
13.10 of the Listing Rules and Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group
has taken various procedures and measures,
including arousing the awareness to preserve
confidentiality of inside information within the
Group, signing of confidentiality agreement,
sending blackout period and securities dealing
restrictions notifications to the Directors and
relevant employees regularly, disseminating
information to specified persons on a need-to-
know basis and observing the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012
stringently.
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3. Risk Management

Risk Management System

The Company established an enterprise
risk management system for ensuring the
appropriate control and governance on
the principal risks that are exposed to the
Group, which includes:

e specifying the concept of risk
management, and determining the
scope of risk management.

e specifying the risk reporting process
and establishing risk governance
framework to identify and assess the
possible impact on the Group.

e establishing risk governance control
points for establishing relevant
countermeasures against the main
control matters involving risks.

e establishing monitoring plan in terms
of priority, conducting monitoring and
review twice a year.

e In face of novel coronavirus epidemic
(the “Epidemic”), the Group quickly
activated the emergency response
mechanism for the Epidemic, fully
utilized epidemic prevention resource
resources, worked not the Epidemic
emergency work plan, set up the
Epidemic prevention working group
and issued a series of administrative
measures including the “Administrative
Requirements on Epidemic Prevention
Discipline”. The Group adheres to
properly manage both prevention and
control of the Epidemic and regularly
operation and production.
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Risk Management Framework

The Board is playing the role as an overseer,
and the Audit Committee is responsible for
risk governance, report the effectiveness of
the risk system of the Group to the Board
and the actual risk executor is the person
in charge of each department. The Board
assigns the representative of Executive
Committee the responsibility of being in
charge of implementing the risk measures.
The internal audit department of the Group
will conduct an independent annual review
on the risk management system of the
Group according to the audit plan on risk
management, and submit the report to the
Board.

Risk Identification

The Group identifies risk through a mixture
of top-down and bottom-up approaches,
thereby conducting analysis and appraisal
on risk, and identifying the source, type and
index of risk.

For top-down approach, the representatives
of Executive Committee and Risk
Management Department have to conduct
risk identification once every two years
through questionnaires, and once every
three years by way of workshop.

For bottom-up approach, the person-in-
charge of the risk will collect the risks from
each department, complete the risk register
under the assistance of risk executor, and
submit to risk management department or
report to respective management personnel.
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Risk Assessment

The risk is classified into two levels, namely
intrinsic risk and residual risk. The risk
assessment calculates the risk index on
these two levels according to the established
methods in respect of the possible impact
of each risk on the Group. It controls the
sum of all risk indices on residual risk
within the risk limit pre-set by the Group
through taking control action and mitigation
measures.

Risk Handling

The sum of risk indices shall at no time
exceed the cap of risk preference of the
Group. The control measures shall be
taken to conduct risk governance on
any risk with high risk index in a timely
manner. The governance aims at reducing
the possibility of occurrence or mitigating
the impact of risk (and may not be fully
eliminated). Each of the proposed risk
management/countermeasure is assigned
to a person in charge with an estimated
date of completion, so as to enable the
person-in-charge of risk to monitor the
process of management easier to ensure risk
countermeasures have come into force.

Auditors’ remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid to KPMG, the
Group’s external auditor HK$5,355,000 for
audit services of the Group and for non-audit
related services approximately HK$1,100,000,

representing mainly taxation services and other

non-audit service fees.

E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

1.

The Company strives to convey to Shareholders

pertinent information in a clear, detailed, timely

manner and on a regular basis and to take into

consideration their views and inputs, and to
address the Shareholders’ concerned. Their views

are communicated to the Board comprehensively.
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The Company adopted a Shareholders’
Communication Policy and will review it on
a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The purpose of this policy is to ensure the
Shareholders are provided with prompt and
equal access to information about the Company
(including but not limited to its financial
performance, corporate goals and strategies,
significant developments, corporate governance
and risk exposure), in order to enable the
Shareholders to assess the Company’s overall
performance, exercise their rights in an informed
manner and engage actively with the Company.

The Company communicates with the
Shareholders through the publication of
annual reports, interim reports, circulars,
results announcements and releases. All
communications to Shareholders are also
available on the Company’s website at
www.karrie.com.

We had provided sufficient notice for
Shareholders at all general meetings. The AGM
provides a useful platform for Shareholders to
exchange views with the Board. The Chairman
of the Board and the Board members will make
an effort to attend to answer Shareholders’
questions. External auditor is also available at the
annual general meeting to address shareholders’
queries about the conduct of the audit.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the election of individual Directors.

All votes of the Shareholders at a general meeting
must be taken by poll according to the Listing
Rules. The chairman of the meeting will therefore
demand a poll for every resolution put to the
vote of the AGM pursuant to bye-law 66 of the
Bye-laws.
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F. INVESTOR RELATIONS

1.

Results announcement

The Board recognizes that effective
communication with investors is the key to
establish investor confidence and attract new
investors.

Annual reports and interim reports are prepared
and issued to all Shareholders within the
prescribed period stipulated by the Listing
Rules. All results announcements and reports
are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website. The Company can still
provide the Shareholders and investors with an
adequate degree of transparency and information
of the financial position of the Company

Communication of media, analysts, institutional
investors and individual investors

The Group endeavours to enhance the
transparency. We have close communication
with media, analysts and both institutional and
individual investors after the release of the
interim and final results by way of presentation,
luncheons, meetings or telephone conferences
etc. according to circumstances from time to
time in order to share the performances of the
Group during the Relevant period results and
to report the new development and strategy
of the Group’s business. There is also ample
opportunity for all parties to ask questions and to
communicate with each other. Furthermore, the
Group shall reply and handle rapidly, as we have
received enquiries from media and individual
Shareholders.

Website

The Group regularly releases corporate
information such as awards received, and the
latest news of the Group’s developments on its
Company’s website. The public are welcome to
give their comments and make their enquiries
through the Company’s website, the management
will give their prompt response.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

1.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a
Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, members holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require a special
general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionists, or any of them
representing more than one half of the voting
rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from
the date of deposit of the requisition.

Procedures for which enquiries may be put to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries to the Board in writing at the
Company’s head office and principal place of
business or the Company’s website.
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3. Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at the shareholders” meeting
Pursuant to Section 79 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all shareholders; or not less than 100
shareholders may make requisition in writing to
the head office and principal place of business of
the Company:

(@) to give to shareholders of the Company
entitled to receive notice of the next annual
general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at that meeting; and

(b) to circulate to shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them
any statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

Any enquires or suggestions by Shareholders can
be sent in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary at our head office and principal place
of business or email to the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the
Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Group’s affairs and assists the Board in functionary
effectively. All Directors also have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary. During
the Year, the Company Secretary has confirmed
that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the Year, there is no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Fai, aged 75, was appointed as a Director
of the Company in October 1996 and is the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company as well as the
founder of the Group. He is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to founding the Group in
1980, Mr. Ho had experience in factory management for
several decades and in running operations specialised in
manufacturing plastic, metal and electronic products. He is
responsible for the Group’s overall corporate strategies and
objectives. He is also a director of New Sense Enterprises
Limited and Honford Investments Limited, a corporate
substantial shareholder of the Company, and the brother of
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, who is a non-executive Director and
Deputy Chairman, the husband of Ms. Ho Po Chu, who is a
member of management team and the uncle of Mr. Ho Kai
Man, a non-executive Director of the Company.
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Mr. Ho was appointed as member of the 10th Guangdong
Provincial Committee of Political Consultative Conference
in January 2008 and was reappointed as a member of the
11th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province in January 2007. He
was also awarded as the Honorable Citizen of Dongguan
City and Honorable Citizen of Yixing City. The solid
business knowledge and working experience gained
by Mr. Ho throughout the years are recognized by the
industries. He was awarded the Honorary Fellowship of the
Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries in
October 2020. He was also the Honorary Vice-Chairman
of Hang Seng Management College — Foundation and
the Honorary Director of Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial)
Members Association Foundation. Mr. Ho currently
participates in affairs of different social and commercial
associations, which include Former Guangdong Province
CPPCC Members Association, Overseas Friendship
Association of Dongguan, Former Dongguan City CPPCC
Members Association, The Association of the Hong Kong
Members of Dongguan’s (Hong Kong & Macau) CPPCC,
Guangdong Overseas Chinese Enterprises Association,
Hong Kong Metals Manufacturers Association, World
Dongguan Entrepreneurs, China Association of Enterprises
with Foreign Investment, Dongguan City Association
of Enterprises with Foreign Investment, Dongguan
City Fenggang Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment, Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong
Community Organisations, Hong Kong Fenggang
(Dongguan) Natives Association Limited, The Hong Kong
Chinese Importers’ & Exporter’s Association, Dongguan
Foundation for the Disabled and Dongguan City Fenggang
Industrial Development Association (3 5t 1 Bl i 2= 3 % &
RS
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Ms. CHAN Ming Mui, Silvia, aged 49, was appointed
as an executive Director in November 2010, and is the
General Manager — Human Resources and Administration
of the Group and responsible for the overall operation of
human resources, administration and IT department of the
Group. Ms. Chan is one of the members of the Executive
Committee and Internal Audit Committee of the Group.
She is also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Ms. Chan graduated from The City University of Hong
Kong majoring in Public Administration and Management.
She joined the Group in 1996 and has over 20 years’
experience in administration and management.

Mr. ZHAO Kai, aged 46, was appointed as a Director of
the Company in November 2012. He has been appointed
as the General Manager and the Convener of Executive
Committee of the Group with effect from 1 April 2013,
responsible for overall manufacturing management
and operation of the Group. Mr. Zhao graduated from
Xihua University (formerly known as Sichuan Institute of
Technology) in the PRC with a Bachelor Degree in Foundry
Engineering. He had over 20 years’ experience in metal
plastic, mould engineering and project management and
more than 15 years’ experience in production management
and operation. Mr. Zhao joined the Group in December
2011.

Mr. CHAN Raymond, aged 54, was appointed as an
executive Director in June 2016. He is also the Marketing
Executive General Manager and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group, responsible for the Group’s
marketing and business development. He is also the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He joined the
Group in 1985 and has over 25 years’ experience in sales
and marketing.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Ming, aged 67, was re-designated as a non-
executive Director and Deputy Chairman of the Company
with effect from 1 May 2011. He is also the director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming
was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
from October 1996 to 31 May 2007, and was a Deputy
Chairman and Chief Operation Officer as well as the
Convener of the Executive Committee of the Group. He
was re-designated as a non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 1 June 2007. He is responsible
for the overall supervision of the Group’s operation
business. He joined the Group in 1980 and has over 20
years’ experience in factory production. He is also the
brother of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, who is one of the executive
Directors, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the brother-in-law of Ms. Ho Po Chu, who is
a member of the senior management team and father of Mr.
Ho Kai Man (one of the non-executive directors).

Mr. HO Kai Man, aged 40, was appointed as an executive
Director from 12 July 2012 to 31 October 2012 and was
re-designated as a non-executive Director in November
2012. He joined the Group in November 2005. He has
been appointed as the Assistant Corporate Planning
General Manager and Executive Committee member and
is responsible for handling internal and external business
and political contact, establishing of communication
platform, promoting energy-saving, environment protection
and cleaner production etc and maintaining the Group’s
sustainability. He is also the director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr. Ho graduated from Auckland University
of Technology majoring in Computer Science. He had
engaged in the works of various departments of the Group
so that he has familiarized himself with the business
operation of the Group. He is the nephew of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
and is the son of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, a non-executive
director & deputy chairman of the Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. FONG Hoi Shing, aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in December 2004.
He has extensive experience in accounting, finance and
management. He holds a master degree in professional
accounting, a postgraduate diploma in corporate
administration and a higher diploma in accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and an Associate of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators.

Mr. YAM Chung Shing, aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in
November 2015, is an Honorable President of Dongguan
City Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment,
the Honorable Citizen of Dongguan, Standing Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Dongguan City and an Executive Vice President and
Secretary of Association of the Hong Kong Members
of Dongguan’s (Hong Kong & Macau) Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Committee. He
has invested and developed several projects. He has
extensive experience in business management and project
investment.

Dr. LAU Kin Wah, -, aged 61, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of each
of the audit committee and remuneration committee
of the Company in December 2020. Dr. Lau has rich
and extensive experience in business operation and
management and is the founder, chairman and managing
director of Hanville Co. Ltd. He holds a Doctor of Business
Administration from Bulacan State University in Philippines
and becomes a prominent figure in watch and clock
industry. He graduated from the Lee Wai Lee Technical
Institute in the 1980s. He was presented with the 20th
Anniversary Award for Outstanding Graduate by the VTC
in 2002. Also, he was an awardee of the Young Industrialist
Awards of Hong Kong in 2004 and conferred the VTC
Honorary Fellowship in 2013. On 1 July 2013 he was
appointed a justice of the peace.
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Dr. Lau is also a Vice-Convenor of The Employees
Retraining Board Industry Consultative Networks (Business
Services), a Member of Education Bureau Curriculum
Development Council (CDC) Committee on Applied
Learning, a Member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University Intellectual Property Assessment Committee
(IPAC), a Member of Hong Kong Productivity Council Hong
Kong Watch & Clock Technology Centre Management
Committee, an Advisor of Hong Kong Brand Development
Council and a Specialist of The Hong Kong Council for
Accreditation of Academic and Vocational Qualifications
(HKCAAVQ).

MANAGEMENT

Ms. HO Po Chu, aged 72, is the Director of Administration
of the Group. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Ms. Ho is one of the founding members
of the Group in 1980. She is mainly responsible for
supervising human resources and overall administration of
the Group. She is also the wife of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, who
is one of the executive Directors, the chairman and the
chief executive officer of the Company, and sister-in-law of
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, who is a non-executive Director and
Deputy Chairman.

Mr. HO Wai Hon, Brian, aged 31, is the Executive
Assistant to Chairman, responsible for assisting the board’s
strategic planning for the Group’s overall operation,
investment and property development projects. He was
also appointed as Head of Accounting and Finance on
1 November 2017, supervising and navigating the Group’s
finance, accounting and investor relations functions. He is
a member of the Executive Committee of the Group and
also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr.
Ho Wai Hon graduated from University of York, United
Kingdom with a Bachelor Degree in Economics and a
Master Degree in Finance and Investment Analysis at
Aston Business School. He joined the Group in 2012 and
strategically engages with the Group’s financial planning
and business development. He is the son of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, the executive Director, chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company and nephew of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Ming, the non-executive director & deputy chairman of the
Company. He also is the cousin of Mr. Ho Kai Man, the
non-executive Director of the Company.
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Mr. LO Wai Kit, aged 51, is the Marketing General
Manager of the Group and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group, responsible for the Group’s
business development and product management. Mr. Lo
graduated from The Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor of Arts (Honors) in Sociology. He had over 20
years’ experience in Sales & Marketing.

Mr. CHAN Wah Ying, aged 56, is the Operation and
Quality General Manager and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group. He is also the director of
Karwin Thai Advanced Technology Industrial Limited. Mr.
Chan graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now
known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with
a higher certificate in Manufacturing Engineering. Mr.
Chan joined the Group in 1992 and had over 30 years’
experience in quality management, system integration and
rich experience in international certification related to
manufacturing.

Mr. HO Man Chung, Philip, aged 64, the director
and general manager of Dongguan Karrie Properties
Development Company Limited (R =8| EERZEHR
2 A]), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group, is responsible
for the coordination and planning of real estate business
for the Group. Mr. Ho Man Chung joined the Group in
2011. He had engaged in service business for more than
15 years and has over 20 years’ experience in project
planning, operation and management of hotel and property
development. He possesses expertise in various projects
development and management, especially in property
development project.
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The Board has the pleasure of presenting the report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in

— Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): providing
mechanical engineering solutions, manufacturing and
sales of metal and plastic parts, including moulds
and the relevant plastic and metal parts products for
information and communication technology industry,
etc.;

— Electronic Manufacturing Services Business (“EMS”):
manufacturing and sales of magnetic tape data
storage, point-of-sale system, and other computer
peripherals, etc.; and

— Real Estate Business: urban renewal, residential real
estate project investment and development.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business and an analysis using financial key performance
indicators, can be found in Chairman’s Statement on pages
11 to 32, in Report of the Directors in pages 67 to 93 and
Financial Highlights on pages 8 to 10 of this annual report.

A discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group is contained in Corporate Governance Report on
pages 33 to 59 of this annual report.

The Group’s turnover by principal product business
segment and geographical locations for the Year are set out
in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board has recommended to pay a final dividend of
HK?7.0 cents per share (2019/20 final dividend: HK5.0 cents
per share), to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 31 August 2021.
Together with the interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per
share (2019/20 interim dividend: HK4.0 cents per share)
and a special dividend of HKO.5 cent per share (2019/20
special dividend: nil), total dividend paid/payable for this
year amounted to HK11.5 cents per share (2019/20: HK9.0
cents per share). The final dividend will be subject to
the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the
Company to be held on 24 August 2021.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group's results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on pages 107 to
108 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group and of the Company during the Year are set
out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in
Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves
of approximately HK$440,643,000 mainly representing the
contributed surplus and retained earnings were available
for distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the Year amounted to HK$158,000.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during
the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during
the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has realized the importance of good utilization
of resources long time ago and not to exploit the rights
of using resources for the next generation. The Group
adheres to the concept of Chairman Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai,
with heartfelt dedication in all details, and saves resources
for the next generation. As such, the Group’s production
adheres to the concept of reducing energy or material
consumption from the sources with the adoption of
various environmental friendly measures and addition of
energy-saving equipment. With the concept of green and
cleaner production implemented in practice, the Group
continues to formulate policies for green production and
energy-saving policies, while introducing different kinds of
environmentally friendly equipment to attain the objectives
of cleaner production and environmental protection and
to comply with relevant environmental regulations. It is of
paramount importance to have effective communication
and understanding between the Group and its stakeholders
including shareholders, partners, employees, suppliers,
regulators and the public in coming up with benchmarks
and regarding key issues.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report Guide contained in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
Sustainability Report will be available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website within three
months from the publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of noncompliance
with such requirements. The Group has been implementing
system and allocating staff resources to ensure ongoing
compliance with rules and regulations.
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Report of the Directors

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China
while the Company itself was incorporated in Bermuda
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. Our establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong, Bermuda and the PRC. The Group had
complied with all relevant laws and regulations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated
and it regularly reviews and improves its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health
and safety.

The Group maintains good relationship with its customers.
A customer complaint handling mechanism is in place
to receive, analyse and study complaints and make
recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving
service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and
conducts a fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group adopts an integrated top-down and bottom-
up approach in identifying risks and thereby conducts risk
analysis and assessment to identify the sources, categories
and indicators of risks. The followings are the key part of
the risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

(1) Operation:
(i) Concentration of clients

The customers in industrial business of the
Group are mainly concentrated in global leading
technology corporations. The Group may be
unable to attract new customers if no new
product has been developed. The concentration of
customers and/or the concentration of geographical
location that exceeds an acceptable level may
increase the business risk and may reduce the
market share of the Group. The Group may also be
exposed to the risk of significant reduction in profit
in case a few important clients are lost.
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(ii)

Supplies of raw materials

Since market fluctuations may lead to delay,
shortage and price fluctuation in raw materials
supply, these may heighten the Group’s risks in
maintaining timely delivery to customers and a
fall in profit.

The Group has already adopted the following
corresponding measures to mitigate operational risks:

(i)

(ii)

Concentration of clients:

The Group adopt practical measures of
“recruiting talents, innovating research and
development, diversifying products, extending
the production bases and market expansion” and
provide solutions to our customers so as to meet
the constant challenges.

Supplies of raw materials:

The Group will seek to stock up sufficient raw
materials in accordance with market conditions
and sales and production plan, in order to stay
clear of short-term fluctuation in market supply
and price.

The Group always values clients and suppliers as
long-term close partners. The Group will timely
communicate with upstream and downstream
suppliers over the market status of the raw
materials and will proactively search for solutions
to achieve a win-win business partnership.
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Risk of the real estate business:

The central government has implemented certain
macro-economic control measures in the real estate
market in the PRC to curb the price hike in certain
cities. These measures, such as purchase restriction,
price restriction, credit control and the Three Red
Lines, has put downward pressure on the real estate
market in the PRC and may have an impact on the
revenue of Karrie’s real estate business.

To mitigate the risk of the new business, the Group
has adopted the following initiatives in response:

e To better handle the opportunities and challenges
posed by policy changes, the Group has
established a professional team to maintain close
communication with the relevant authorities and
thoroughly study policy trends so as to adopt a
more flexible approach to sales in response to
such changes;

e To reduce costs, deliver quality properties at

lower costs and compete effectively in the
the professional management team
closely monitors the quality, progress, safety and

market,
materials of the development projects;

e The macro-economic control measures will foster
long-term development of the real estate market
and prevent any crash. On the other hand,
most of the Group’s projects are “Old Town,
Old Factory and Old Village Redevelopment”
projects adjacent to Shenzhen in the Greater
Bay Area with relatively low land costs. As such,
the Group will launch its real estate projects in
a confident manner in the stable PRC economic
environment.

Finance

Foreign currency risks arising from dealings with
customers and suppliers in foreign currencies are
discussed in the Chairman’s Statement of this annual
report. Other financial risks and uncertainties are set
out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted on 24 August 2012
(the “Share Option Scheme”). Details of the Share Option
Scheme are summarized as below:

(i) (@ The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive
scheme and is established to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions which the eligible
participants have made or will make to the
Group or invested entity (as defined in Share
Option Scheme).

(b) The Share Option Scheme will provide the
eligible participants with an opportunity to have
a personal stake in the Company with a view to
motivating the eligible participants to utilise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of
the Group or invested entity; and attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining an ongoing
relationship with the eligible participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long
term growth of the Group or invested entity.

(ii) The Board may at its discretion grant options to:

(@ any director (whether executive, non-executive
or independent non-executive director),
employee (whether full time or part time
employee), consultant, customer, supplier, agent,
partner, joint venture partner or advisers of or
contractor to the Group or invested entity; and

(b) any discretionary trust whose discretionary
objects include any director (whether executive,
non-executive or independent non-executive
director), employee (whether full time or part
time employee), consultant, customer, supplier,
agent, partner, joint venture partner or adviser of
or contractor to the Group or invested entity.

(iii) The total number of shares that may be issued by
the Company if all options granted under the Share
Option Scheme have been exercised is 24,200,000
(15,000,000 share options were granted on 20 April
2021), which represents approximately 1.2% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 30 June
2021.
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(iv)

(vi)

74

The overall limit on the number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
for the time being of the Company shall not, in
aggregate, exceed such number of Shares equaling
to 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
No option may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme of the
Company if it will result in the above-mentioned 30%
limit being exceeded.

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Share Option Scheme by the
Shareholders (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”), unless
Shareholders’” approval has been obtained. Options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of
the Company will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

(@) Unless approved by Shareholders in a general
meeting, no option may be granted to any
eligible participant which, if exercised in full,
would result in the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted or to be granted to such eligible
participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such new grant
exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of such new grant.

(b)  Any grant of options to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or its
subsidiaries or any of their respective associates
under the Share Option Scheme must be subject
to the prior approval of the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent
non-executive Director who is a grantee of the
relevant options).
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(c) Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
Shares in issue, and

(2) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of
each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000.

then such further grant must be subject to the
approval by Shareholders at a general meeting
taken on a poll.

(vii) The period within which the options must be

exercised will be specified by the Company at the
time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10 years
from the relevant date of grant.

(viii) At the time of grant of the options, the Company may

(ix)

specify any minimum period(s) for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised. The Share
Option Scheme does not contain any such minimum
period.

At the time of the grant of the options, the Company
may specify any performance target(s) which must
be achieved before the options can be exercised.
The Share Option Scheme does not contain any
performance targets.

A non-refundable remittance of HK$10 by way of
consideration for the grant of an option is refunded
to be paid by each grantee upon acceptance of the
opinion.
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(xi) Subject to adjustments made in a situation (xi)

76

contemplated under the Share Option Scheme, the
subscription price in respect of any option shall be at
the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall not
be less than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of a share as shown in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant (which must be a business day) in
respect of such option;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the shares as
shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the relevant date of grant in respect of
such option; and

(¢) the nominal value of a share.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 Il B B2 £ Ig B BE 2 7

4 1R 5 B MG £ ) BT I8 7 1B R 1E
S R 1 T 6] B AR A 10 B M
BREFTHRMEEAT BH
FELRUTREE -

@ BMXARZBREXRLEH
(ZABEAREERR) HLNE
B & P B W (&

(b) BEERBWZBRERL BB
hfEEXABXAELNEH
R F SR B An S Y T AE
54

© KROEE-



(xii) Details of share option movements during the Year
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(xii) RBEBREFERNAEFE 2B

under the Share Option Scheme are as follows: EEHFBWOT:
Number
Number ~ Number ~ Number of options ~ Number
of options ~of options of options ~ lapsed/  of options
Evercise Closing Price ~~ Priceat outstanding ~ granted ~ exercised  cancelled ~outstanding
Priceper Exercise ~ before date exercise date  at 1 April  duringthe during the  during the at 31 March
Name Date of Grant share  Period of grant  of options 2020 year year year am
a3 “B>-f
RERE RBRE [BA-B RNEEE RMEER  RAEE ZAt-R
RUBH  fER  MAGR  BRF ORERE AM/RY  HAGR
#4 RURA  SROGER fikH 2B ER RREZE REREE §8 RREZE RREHE
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS) (000) (1000) (1000) (000) (000)
(%7 (Br)  (%7) () (F) () (7) (F)
(i) Directors/Chief Executives
EXRRRMHAR
Mr. Zhao Kai 11/08/2014 0419 01/08/2015- 042 114 2,500 - (2,500) - -
Eilrs 1000872024
11/08/2014 0419 01/082017- 042 1.1875* 5,000 S (4,000 S 1,000
10/08/2024
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia 271012016 070 01072017- 0.69 - - - - - -
Rk 8 26102026
2711012016 070 01072018 0.69 114 1,000 - (1,000 - -
261102026
271012016 070 01072019 0.69 116 2,000 S (2,000 - -
2611012026
Mr. Chan Raymond 271012016 070 01072017- 0.69 119 500 = (00) = -
RAXAL 26/102026
2711012016 070 010072018 0.69 119 1,500 - (1,500 - -
261102026
2711012016 0.70 01072019 0.69 119 2,000 S (2,000 - -
2611012026
Mr. Yam Chung Shing 271012016 070 01072017- 0.69 - - - - - -
gzt 26/102026
2711012016 070 01072018 0.69 - - - - - -
261102026
2711012016 0.70 01072019 0.69 - - - - - -
2611012026
fi)Other Eligile Participants
EhREn2EE
Employees 11/08/2014 0419 01/08/2015- 042 143 4,000 - (4,000 - -
kg8 10/08/2024
11/082014 0419 01/082017- 042 - 4,000 - - - 4,000
10/08/2024
271012016 070 01072017- 0.69 156 2370 S (600) S 1770
2611012026
2711012016 070 01072018 0.69 156 2570 - (400) - 2170
261102026
2711012016 0.70 01072019 0.69 113 3,760 S (100 - 3,660
2611012026
*  Weighted Average 4 15 £k
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A professional actuarial firm has been engaged in
the year 2014/15 and 2016/17 to perform a valuation
of the share options granted under the share option
scheme.

According to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 2 (“HKFRS2”), the fair value of the share
option on the date grant should be amortised in profit
or loss as expenses over the period from the date of
grant until they are exercisable by the grantee. The
expense required to be reported for share options
granted from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2020 would be
estimated as follows:

2014/15  2015/16  2016/17
(Actual)  (Actua)  (Actual)
2014/15  2015/16  2016/17
(B®) (BER) (ER)

R B — R A (A
ARSHR-B—I—HEE K
—E N/ EERA A
AR Z BRI EE -

BREREUERELENER(E
BRBREER2]) BRENE
HE R A FEERE B
RNEHE(BREAEER ARITE
EAE) BHEIEHRHBEERPT
B BEAN_ZE—NEMA—BZE
—E-TFE=—A=+—HEBELHE
WEREEN T HEFTMHOT:

Financial Year
BREE
2017/18  2018/19  2019/20
(Actua)  (Actual)  (Actual) Total
2017/18  2018/19  2019/20
(B®) (BER) (ER) @t

P&L expenses (HK$'000)  BaEX M (FET) 1,267 1,020 2,561
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Employee share option expenses charged to the
consolidated profit or loss are determined with
the trinomial model valuation model based on the
following assumptions:

(1) The share options were granted on 11 August

2014:
Date of valuation 11 August 2014
Date of grant 11 August 2014
Option value HK$0.176-
HK$0.194
Market price at date of grant HK$0.405
Exercisable price HK$0.419
Risk-free interest rate 1.97%
Life of options 10 years
Expected Volatility (120 52.84%
months)
Expected Dividend yield 2.47%

Report of the Directors

REZEBRaRTMEZEERRK
BERDRBATERR LIE =1

fE AL

== Al F+

(=) R-E-HENA+—-BERA

< BB R
HEHH —ZT—JOF
ANA+—H
s du =t —ET—OF
ANA+—H
RREEE 0.17678 7T —
0.194% T
RELHB 2 0.4057 7T
miZEE
TERE 0.4197% 7T
4 7 by K1) K 1.97%
R % +F
B WEH
78 A% b8 52.84%
(1201@ A)
TEHEREE 2.47%
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(2)

The share options were granted on 27 October
2016:

Date of valuation 27 October 2016

Date of grant 27 October 2016

() RZE—RFt+A-+tBE

Option value HK$0.239-

HK$0.271
Market price at date of grant HK$0.70
Exercisable price HK$0.70
Risk-free interest rate 1.00%
Life of options 10 years
Expected Volatility 51.27%

(120 months)

Expected Dividend yield 5.00%

2 R AE
EXER=:t! —T—RF
+A—-++H
®H B —E—REF
+A—-++H
RREEE 0.2397% 7T -
0.271% 7T
RELHBZ 0.707 7T
mi5EE
TR E 0.707 7T
4 7 b K K 1.00%
R % +4F
B WEFH
T8 5% 18 51.27%
(1201 A)
TEH =R A 5.00%

Note: The vesting of the share options is subject to the
performance of the Group.

There are several relevant measures that may
be considered to assess the financial impact
of the share option schemes, including the
expense of share-based transactions under
generally accepted financial reporting standards
(e.g., HKFRS2). The expense of the share-based
transactions is attributed over the period from
the original transaction date (i.e., grant date) to
the date when the recipient’s entitlement to the
payment has been fully realized (i.e., vested).

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility, adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Change in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.
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The result of the trinomial model can be
materially affected by changes in these
assumptions so an option’s actual value may
differ from the estimated fair value of the options
due to limitations of the trinomial model.

In assessing the value of the share options
granted during the Year and the expense
of share-based transactions under HKFRS2
requirement, the trinomial option pricing model
has been used. The trinomial model is one of
the generally most accepted methods used to
calculate the value of options and expense of
share-based transactions.

The parameters of the trinomial model include
the risk free rate, dividend yield, exit rate and
trigger price multiple. The risk free rate has
made reference to the yield of exchange fund
notes as at the grant date. The dividend yield
makes reference to the dividend history and it is
assumed that the grantee will exercise the option
in accordance with their sub-optimal exercise

policy.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the shares in the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
263 to 265 of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Bye-law provides that the Directors shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
any actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
as a result of any act or failure to act in carrying out their
functions.

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance cover in respect of legal action against the
Directors during the year.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are
set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2021 are set out in Notes 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the Year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia

Mr. Zhao Kai

Mr. Chan Raymond

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Ho Kai Man

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing
Mr. Yam Chung Shing
Dr. Lau Kin Wah

(was appointed on 1 December 2020)
Mr. So Wai Chun

(resigned on 1 December 2020)

EEFRERX

ARBAAUNRTE  EFHARARAE
EESRE UEEETRGRREET
HAREITEMITRAM AR EFA
RA-BR -BX BEERXE-

ARFIELZHUEFTNFEAEE REE
RARcEENRREEABEERRE -

o NG
ARAETEMBARZHE  ARMB
HRMEE9 o

BITHEES
AREBR -_BE-_—F=A=+—HZIRE
TEEFBIRTBEERRNFE23 -

Exg
AEEARBERAFRAYIL  HEZ
EEMT:

BTES

ISR S & (L /B R TTH AR EL)
B % k)

wel kit

B X L%

FHITES
2 AL L (B E)
R X 54

BIYFHTES

75 g &

FEFHLE

2R EF
(ZEZZEF+-_A—HEZE)

BREEZLE
(ZE-_ZTF+-_F—HET)
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Mr. Fong Hoi Shing, Mr. Yam Chung Shing and Dr. Lau Kin
Wah entered into an appointment letter with the Company
for a term of one year with effect from 1 December 2020
subject to extension by mutual agreement and retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company as and when required under the Bye-laws.

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws
and paragraph A.4.2. of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, Mr. Zhao Kai, Mr. Chan Raymond and Dr. Lau Kin Wah
will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. All such Directors, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to which any of the Group companies was
a party and in which a Director was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year
or at any time.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group did
not enter into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction that are not exempted from annual
reporting requirement under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ S INTERESTS IN
SHARES

As at 31 March 2021

The interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the shares and the
underlying shares of the Company and any associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO;
or (b) as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) were as
follows:

K

EERBEETRAEZRGES

R-E-_—F=HA=+—H
ARRBEERZSITHRABEARRF]
REMBR LB (BER(EFRBPERK
BN H MBI ]) FEXVER) B A% 15 K 48
EROPHEENEZRRE  MZE
Em RARR @QBIEC(GEHIEH)E3521&
BATHEGEZELMATREE Kb KIE
(EMRRIEZETESFRIHIZEST
BINTCEZEF A BAAQR RE BB
ARG BRAR (BRFT]) 0T :

Interests in the Company RART ZE &
Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
BREEIETZERREE
Personal Corporate/ % of issued
interests Family interests Other interests  Total interests  share capital
EEER
BARE FEER Rt A BE  BRAESM
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai (R =5t 278,712,000 110,350,000 1,077,608,000 1,466,670,000 72.88
(Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 2)
(H &) (H 5 —) (=)
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming A% 11,400,000 — 817,608,000 829,008,000 41.19
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(=) (R &£ =)
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia RamE 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 0.30
(Note 4)
(B &)
Mr. Zhao Kai ik i3 12,300,000 — — 12,300,000 0.61
(Note 5)
(&)
Mr. Chan Raymond REX L& 5,000,000 — — 5,000,000 0.25
(Note 6)
(B &E7%)
Mr. Yam Chung Shing FE@TE 500,000 - - 500,000 0.03
(Note 7)
(B £)
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing hibi:3 i 4,000 - - 4,000 0.00
Ms. Ho Po Chu ERRL 110,350,000 538,712,000 817,608,000 1,466,670,000 72.88
(Note 8) (Note 8) (Note 2)

GEIY GEILY (FtsE=)
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Notes:

1.

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai’s personal interest consists of
278,712,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Shares”). He is deemed to be interested in 110,350,000
Shares held by his spouse, Ms. Ho Po Chu, as beneficial
owner.

The 1,077,608,000 Shares comprised (i) 487,608,000
Shares held by New Sense Enterprises Limited (“New
Sense”); and (ii) 330,000,000 Shares held by Castfast
Properties Development Co., Limited (“Castfast
Properties”), 87% of the issued share capital of which
is beneficially owned by Honford Investments Limited
(“Honford Investments”). New Sense and Honford
Investments are each wholly-owned by TMF (BVI)
Limited (“TMF”) as trustee for a discretionary trust, The
Ho Family Trust, and (iii) 260,000,000 Shares held by
The Wedding City Co., Limited (“The Wedding City”),
90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho
Po Chu, respectively. Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai is deemed to
be interested in the 817,608,000 Shares in (i) and (ii)
as founder of The Ho Family Trust and in 260,000,000
Shares in (iii) through The Wedding City. Ms. Ho Po Chu
and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming are the discretionary objects
of The Ho Family Trust and are thus deemed to be
interested in the 817,608,000 Shares held under The Ho
Family Trust. Therefore, the interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, Ms. Ho Po Chu and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming in the
817,608,000 Shares duplicate with each other.

The personal interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming comprise
11,400,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
comprise 6,000,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Mr. Zhao Kai comprise
11,300,000 Shares and 1,000,000 outstanding share
options.

The personal interests of Mr. Chan Raymond comprise
5,000,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Mr. Yam Chung Shing comprise
500,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Ms. Ho Po Chu comprise
110,350,000 Shares. Ms. Ho Po Chu is also deemed
to be interested in (a) 278,712,000 Shares held and
260,000,000 Shares deemed to be held by her spouse,
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, and (b) 817,608,000 Shares referred to
in Note 2 above.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2021, Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po
Chu were interested in certain companies established in
the PRC (the “Competing Companies”) which are or are
likely to, directly or indirectly, compete with the business
of the Group. Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu are
also the directors of these Competing Companies. Details
of the interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu in
the Competing Companies are as follows:

Date and place of
establishment

&AL B A Rt B

Name of Competing Company

BEHELFAER IREHR

Principal business

EERBFEEB2ES
RZZB-Z—F=A=1—8  flIFEL
ERAERZEMNEMTEKY 2 H

AR AT RE AR B RSB K E K
FMEHFZAR(HEUIR D EAE
oo IR R E R LT RREL
BREMARZES - (IEEEERMAE
RZtRNZEHFHERR ZERFIFN
T

Shareholdings
&

Dongguan Castfast Door and
Window Products Co., Ltd.
(“Dongguan Castfast”)

2 August 2001, the PRC

Property investment and provision
of property management and
consultancy services in the PRC

RPBEETHEREREENRE =)

Castfast Properties: 95%

SR E  95%

EEBEMEERERA 5%
(IR=EE)) NAZR B E B RFARS

Yixing Yongtai Electronic 25 March 2008, the PRC

Technology Co. Ltd.

Property development in the PRC

Castfast Properties: 75%
Dongguan Karrie Resort

(“Yixing Yongtai”) Limited: 25%
BEEXFREFREERLAF ZZETN\F=ZA-+HA: RHRETHUERS EEEWE:75%
(E&EX%]) Bl FERMNEBRKBERA
a ©25%

7 September 2000, the

Property investment and

Kar Info Property Limited:

Gl PRC development, manufacturing 100%
and sales of computer related
electronic devices
RETEABRERERER —FTTTFAALR- VERERAE LERHEEN RARGER)EXARAR
AR((REERE]) hE HEAETRE 100%

As at 31 March 2021,
a residential and commercial property project located

Dongguan Castfast had developed

at Dongguan, Guangdong, the PRC with a site area of
approximately 48,600 sq.m. and a total gross floor area of
approximately 233,700 sq.m. before 2009.

As at 31 March 2021,
commercial property project located in Yixing, Jiangsu, the
PRC. This project occupied a site area of approximately
101,637 sq.m. and comprised offices, staff quarters and
canteens.

Yixing Yongtai had developed a

RZFEZ—F=HA=+—H RxxnE
ERZZEENFRRE —BURTEHE
RERZEZAEEREAYMEIRR @ (G
EE %) 548,600 5K - MBEEEE
Bl #) &233,700F 75 K o

R-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—H > BHEKXZE
ERE-—BURFEIHETE 2 HH
YIEIER - ZIBBLHEELA101,637
FHEK - WHBFE BIEEREERE
B °
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From 2016, % 5t 32 &l # cooperates with Massive Era
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
to develop a residential property project located in
Dongguan, the PRC. This project occupied a site area of
approximately 32,000 sq.m. with a total gross floor area
of approximately 61,000 sq.m. and had been completed
before 31 March 2021.

The power to make material business decisions for the
Group is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board
considers that there may be a conflict of interest between
the Group and any Director, such Director will be required
to abstain from voting. Therefore, the Board is capable of
carrying on the Group’s business independently of, and at
arm’s length, from the business of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and
Ms. Ho Po Chu.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2021

The interests or short positions of the persons (other than a
Director or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO are as follows:
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M- "FHKB xR BH
Massive Era Limited (R RR 2 2 & W B
ARE)EFRE—RBURPERZEE
Y% - (EHIE AR 49 832,000 F 5K -
RIEEEEL A61,0005F 75K - A& 1E
BEHER-_ZTEZ—F=A=+—HAFlx
B o

AEEZEABEREDNRTESEE
Emlk EEFERA/ARLERRE
SHEAREANGEHRE  Z2EFH
EMERE - At EFSREEBULN
RAFRAIEELEERABERLLH
EGmMEERNKE 2 X5 -

FERR

R=—ZB=—-F=ZA=+-—H
ATALTTERREERARFAZERS
TTBAB)RARE B K 48 B8 B {0 &
EERBEARRAL(ESF R E336
FREFEzERM oD MRR

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

BREMBIBTZEBERHA
Corporate/Other Shareholding
Name of Shareholders Personal interests interests percentage
EEESS A
RREH 18l A 5 o BRESH
New Sense 487,608,000 — 24.23%
(Note 1Hf3E—)
Castfast Properties 3z 1% 5 i = 330,000,000 — 16.40%
(Note 2B 5= =)
The Wedding City % #) 3% 260,000,000 — 12.92%
(Note 3 5F =)
Honford Investments — 330,000,000 16.40%
(Note 2/ 5F =)
TMF — 817,608,000 40.63%

(Note 4 5F PU)
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Note:

1. The entire issued share capital of New Sense was owned by
TMF as trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

2. 87% of the issued share capital of Castfast Properties is
beneficially owned by Honford Investments. The entire issued
share capital of Honford Investments was owned by TMF as
trustee for a discretionary trust, The Ho Family Trust. The
interests of Honford Investments duplicate with those of the
Castfast Properties.

3. 260,000,000 Shares were beneficially held by The Wedding
City. 90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu,
respectively. The interests of The Wedding City therefore
duplicate with those of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai referred to in Note
2 to the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Shares — (A) Interests in the Company” above.

4. TMF is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by New
Sense, Castfast Properties and Honford Investments by virtue of
acting as the trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, no
person, other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’
above, had an interest or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company that was required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO.

and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares”

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS” INFORMATION UNDER RULE
13.51B (1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Change of information of the Directors, which is required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing
Rules are set out below:

Mr. So Wai Chun has resigned as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of each of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company
with effect from 1 December 2020 due to his retirement.

GEX

— + New SenseZ & B E1TIRATHHTMF A
{& 5E X The Ho Family Trustf$ & ©

Z REFHEDEITRAZ87% T H
Honford Investments &z %A ° Honford
Investments 2 & & 2 TR A TIFHTMF
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Dr. Lau Kin Wah has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company
with effect from 1 December 2020.

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing has been re-designated from a member
to the chairman of audit committee of the Company
and his annual salary increased from HK$120,000 to
HK$150,000 (excluding discretionary bonus) with effect
from 1 December 2020.

Mr. Yam Chung Shing has been re-designated from a
member to the chairman of remuneration committee
of the Company and his annual salary increased from
HK$120,000 to HK$150,000 (excluding discretionary
bonus) with effect from 1 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, there is no change in Director’s
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules since the publication of the
Company’s Annual Report 2019/20.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE

LISTING RULES

(1)  On 20 December 2016, Castfast Industrial (Yan Tien)
Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) as borrower
and the Company and Karrie International (B.V.l)
Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) as guarantors
entered into a facility agreement with Hang Seng Bank
Limited, whereby the bank agreed to make available
to the above borrower a term loan facility up to
HK$240,000,000 for a term of 72 months from the
date of such facility agreement.

The above facility agreement imposes, inter alia,
conditions that each of the above borrower and
the guarantors shall ensure and procure that (i) Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai and his associates together have and
will maintain not less than 51% direct or indirect
shareholding in the Company; and (ii) Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai and his associates will not create or permit to
subsist (or agree to create) any security over any of
their shares in the Company without the bank’s prior
written consent.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

(2)
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On 23 March 2017, Dongguan Karrie Properties
Development Company Limited (3 5 5 8| 5 b &
F % A R 2 Al (a subsidiary of the Company) as
borrower and the Company, Castfast Industrial (Yan
Tien) Limited and Karrie International (B.V.l.) Limited
(a subsidiary of the Company) as guarantors entered
into a facility agreement with Hang Seng Bank (China)
Limited, whereby the bank agreed to make available
to the above borrower a term loan facility up to
RMB270,000,000 for a term of 72 months from the
date of first draw down.

The above facility agreement imposes, inter alia,
conditions that each of the above borrower and
the guarantors shall ensure and procure that (i) Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai and his associates together have and
will maintain not less than 51% direct or indirect
shareholding in the Company; and (ii) Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai and his associates will not create or permit to
subsist (or agree to create) any security over any of
their shares in the Company without the bank’s prior
written consent.

On 12 November 2018, Karwin Engineering Company
Limited and Karrie Technologies Company Limited
(each of which is a subsidiary of the Company) as
borrowers and the Company as guarantor entered
into a facility agreement with The Bank of East Asia,
Limited, whereby the bank agreed to make available
to the above borrowers a term loan facility in an
aggregate amount of HK$150,000,000 for a term of
three years from the date of such facility agreement.
The facility will be used to refinance the above
borrowers’ existing indebtedness and to finance the
corporate funding requirements of the Group.

The above facility agreement imposes, inter alia,
conditions that each of the above borrowers and the
Company shall ensure that (i) Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai shall
be and remain the chairman of the Company; and (ii)
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, Ms. Ho Po Chu, Mr. Ho Cheuk
Ming and/or The Ho’s family shall beneficially own in
aggregate more than 50% of the issued share capital
of the Company.
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(4)

On 18 March 2019, Karwin Engineering Company
Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) as borrower
(the “Borrower”) and the Company and a number of
its subsidiaries, namely, Castfast Industrial (Yan Tien)
Limited, Hong Kong Hung Hing Metal Manufacturing
Company Limited, Karrie Industrial Company Limited,
Karrie Technologies Company Limited and Dongguan
Feng Gang Castfast Metal & Plastics Company Limited
(REEHERELRB A AR QA as guarantors
(the “Guarantors”) entered into a facility letter (the
“Facility Letter”) with Hang Seng Bank Limited
(the “Bank”), whereby the Bank agreed to make
available to the Borrower a term loan facility up to
HK$250,000,000 for a term of four years from the
date of first drawdown.

The Facility Letter imposes, inter alia, the Borrower
shall undertake and ensure that Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai
shall not pledge the Company’s shares without the
Bank’s prior written consent.

As at the date of this annual report, the above
specific performance obligations by the controlling
shareholders of the Company continue to subsist.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended
31 March 2021 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers
and customers are as follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 41%
Five largest suppliers combined 67%
Sales
The largest customer 27%
Five largest customers combined 79%

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders

(which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more

than

5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial

interest in the Group’s major suppliers or customers noted

abov

e.
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Report of the Directors

DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
Assuming that the final dividend is approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the AGM, for the purposes
of ascertaining the entitlement to the final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 30 August 2021 to Tuesday, 31 August 2021 (both
dates inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend,
all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 27 August 2021. It is expected
that the final dividend will be payable and issued to those
entitled on or around Wednesday, 15 September 2021.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on 24 August 2021, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 18
August 2021 to Tuesday, 24 August 2021 (both dates
inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the
AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 17 August 2021.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on public
information available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
sufficient public float, being 25% of the issued share
capital of the Company as required under the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

AUDITORS BB

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. AFEERERESHETMEHME
KPMG who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves % : Z#Z BLEIEN#5 E i - B E I FE
for re-appointment. BEEEE -

A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the ZARBIHERBERBAFAGLERKECE

Company will be proposed at the AGM. MEERZARRR -

On behalf of the Board AEEE W

Ho Cheuk Fai FE

Chairman i = 18

Hong Kong, 24 June 2021 FB T —FRXAZ+HEA
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Karrie International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Karrie International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 105 to 262,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2021 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITTHIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Timing of revenue recognition in metal and plastic and

electronic manufacturing services business

Refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(w).

The key audit matter
BARESFEE

FREETEE
ARFASZTHIOBREBEEFZIEXHE -
RRABARPGEAMBHRR BT RR
EBZEH UWFEHILEBESFE
ERGAMBRRANEAERFBETT
R - BEE T EHELEREHRES
ZER -

R Y]
ZEM
B B FEM 27 R 2.2
A -

BEFEXRRIXB2WA®RE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNMNEEZSE R

Revenue from sales of the Group’s metal
and plastic products and electronic products
accounted for over 87 percent of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021.
It is recognised when the goods are delivered
to the customer’s designated location which is
considered to be the point in time when the
Group transfers the control over goods to the
customers.

EEEBE_T_—F=ZA=+—HILFEHE
hehBRERRETFEMIWAGBKRARE
BoZNtE ERAEEREERFPEE M
HoONEEBRKEMENREBETPRER -

The Group’s sales contracts with customers,
which principally comprise of large-sized
international technology corporations, have a
variety of terms and conditions. Such terms may
affect the timing of the recognition of sales to
those customers. The Group evaluates the terms
of each sales contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing of revenue recognition.
EEBERF(ETERRAEBBREMRAR)ETL
ZHEBHNRB—RIRBGRRIGH - ZFK
Rt e ERAYELETPETHEZRRA -
ERERESHESOREREB 2EBGRE
BEB AR ZEERRE -

Our audit procedures to assess the timing of
revenue recognition included the following:

FEEREWABRAZBHE BT REFRENIT:

— obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal
controls in relation to revenue recognition;

— TEERFHESEERKRAEIZBERA
BES 2 RE B REEZAEMIME:

— inspecting key customer contracts to
identify terms and conditions relating to
goods acceptance and assessing the Group's
revenue recognition policies with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

— REBREPANURMMNEEYRIKAH
ZIER RGN AR REBAITEFERZE
K EERE 2 W AEREREK:
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BMEBEITSEERA)
Timing of revenue recognition in metal and plastic and ATEBREFEEANIXZBZRAE
electronic manufacturing services business (continued) REEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNAEEZEER

The key audit matter
BARBESSE

We identified the timing of revenue recognition
in metal and plastic and electronic manufacturing
services business as a key audit matter because
each sales contract may have different terms and
conditions which increases the risk of error in the
recognition of revenue and because it is one of
the key performance indicators of the Group and
could be subject to manipulation to meet targets
or expectations.
EEENSBRBRETEERIEB ZBAER
ZEEIRBEREAFE ASHEHEAWIIAET
[R] 166 5K B Agk 4 - FAI T RJ B 38 A0k A T 3R 86 AR 2
2o R ARARESREER —HERXEE
BRI ASBRMANEXNEREXNAL -

comparing, on a sample basis, specific
revenue transactions recorded before and
after the financial year end date with goods
delivery documents and underlying sales
invoices to determine whether the revenue
had been recognised in the appropriate
financial period; and

MELBEFRAMERC ARZIABRKAR
SEMAAHEERENMEBRXMN XM AEE
HEBRARSEEEZFHATNER: &

inspecting underlying documentation
for manual journal entries relating to
revenue raised during the year which were
considered to specific risk-based criteria.
RENERERAREELRRABBRZTF
B A Gt 8k 2 MBS -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Valuation of inventories

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(1)(i).

The key audit matter
BARESEE

Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

B4 B 3 0 (4)

7 R

2045 2 B 2 I 15 B 420000
AR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNMANEEZSE R

The Group is primarily involved in the
manufacture and sale of metal and plastic
products as well as electronic products.
BEEEIZENFERERHEERSREBER N
NEFEmM-

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The Group maintains its
inventory levels based on customer orders and
forecast demand.

FERRAEAABH FELEHIBEERE &
SERBEEFPITENBYFIREFEFEKT -

A significant proportion of the Group’s products
are manufactured to meet specific customer
requirements. There is a risk that inventories may
be stated at more than their net realisable value
if a customer experiences financial difficulty or
there is a demand issue with a customer’s product
that includes a component manufactured by the
Group.
BEEENAROEREAMEABEPZEXM
i MREFEBMBRE  AFFZEM(E
ERHESBEHENAMNFERKEE gk
iFERIREA BB A IR FEI K 2Rk -

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
inventories included the following:

BEENFERECETREFERUATSEE:

— obtaining an understanding of and
assessing the design and implementation
of the Group’s key internal controls over
the process for assessing provisions for
inventories;

— TERAFGHESREEBFGFERERSB
ZREFZBARATIER 2 RAREWE

— assessing whether the inventory items in the
inventory ageing report were categorised
in the appropriate ageing bracket by
comparing individual items therein with
supplier invoices and other underlying
documentation on a sample basis;

— FEBMELERRERRE M HE M EREX
HAEFEREBEANCFEREEARE
BREECRERER:
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Valuation of inventories (continued)

The key audit matter
BARBESSE

BREESEEE)
FEMEGE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZET MR EZE N

Management assesses the level provisions for
inventories required at each reporting date after
considering inventory ageing and other relevant
factors. This assessment involves significant
management judgement.
BEEBEMEAFEZRESREMHEBREER - ©
BEBSEFHEATEEER KT & ESF
REBRNEREHE -

We identified the valuation of inventories as
a key audit matter because the Group held
significant inventories at the reporting date and
because of the significant degree of management
judgement involved in evaluating the provisions
for inventories.
BEEEFEHEINAEAREASZR AAERHE
RBERRFAERERS  UREFNEBHFEEHER
BRTEBREEEHE -

selecting inventory items, on a sample
basis, at reporting date and comparing
their carrying value to their subsequent
selling prices as indicated in sales invoices
subsequent to the reporting date;
MEEZENREAZFERRE  LREKA
BEEFEAREERELZEE:

obtaining an understanding of the Group’s
inventory write-down policy and assessing
whether this policy appropriate with reference
to the Group’s current circumstances and the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

THRESE 2FEMBMERBEE - WaFE
ZEBRRERESMABERANESE 2 E AR
AW FERRITETEAMENR

comparing slow-moving inventories items
with customers’ orders and assessing the
financial condition of key customers on a
sampling basis; and

MR EPAERERHFERAETLR
ARFEEREPZHBMRNR &

assessing the historical accuracy of management’s
process for making provisions for inventories
by examining the utilisation or release of the
provisions for inventories made at the end of
the previous financial year during the current
financial year.
BREEL S FEMRFERERE
ZARFREZEAKERBR  FEBEERE
BtBEZGERERBRETER -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables
Refer to notes 3(a)(iii) and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies notes 2(k)(i) and

2(n).

The key audit matter
ARESHEE

MR E A (E)
B 5 8 0 kTR 15 SO R £
B8 E B WEN 3R W 213
R WY EE2000) B R20) 2 B it B

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EZCEHNMAAEREE

The Group generates revenue from sales of
its products to customers in several different
jurisdictions including Hong Kong, the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”), North America,
Western Europe and other Asian countries.

BEEEERREELE TEARKMBE(HED -
X AR EkEMEMNBERENZ Z BTREDAE
EERAEBAEEFPHEEMELRA-

Customers located in different jurisdictions are
subject to different local risks (including political,
currency and interest rate risks) specific to those
jurisdictions in addition to the effects of the
global economic climate.
BREREERRZZEIN  URTRBIAEE
BzEFPITEmERTRME TS RER(BER
AR - BEER RN RER)

Management assesses the loss allowance for trade
receivables required at each reporting date at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) after taking into account the ageing
and historical loss rate of trade receivables, the
repayment history of the customers of different
risk characteristics, current market conditions,
customer-specific conditions and forward-looking
information. Such assessment involves significant

management judgement and estimation.

EEBEEREIRBERZRERELER

- TREBRFEIEFERLE BERIMEHER
% 2P ZERBRMATEIEESR  REER

SR EHEEREARERRARERINEZE
SRRER 2 AREEBEBRERS - ZBFGS
KR FE E B B H i A0k 5

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowance
for trade receivables included the following:
EENEIRUREACBHEEERREZE
AREFEREATEIE:

— obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design and implementation of the
Group’s key internal controls over the credit
control, collection of trade receivables,
estimate of expected credit losses and
making of loss allowance;

— TEERFEESERREERY  BHEK
WA REREEBR A RELE
BRE BRI RFARER:

— evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating
the loss allowance for trade receivables
with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standard;

— Z2BAMTSHEANZEXR  THEEEHRE
5 e IR SAE B 1R BB 2 ISR

— assessing whether items in the trade
receivable ageing report were categorised in
the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing
individual items therein with sales invoices
and other underlying documentation on a
sample basis;

— BEMBLBHERZEREMARXN
HEZRUERRERBEANIEEZ mwm
BREEZRERIER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

(continued)

The key audit matter
FREETEE

RREESASHE)
EZRBURA2AMFEBRR®R
(&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNMAEEZEER

We identified the ECL allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because of the
significance of trade receivables to consolidated
statement of financial position and because of
the significant degree of management judgement
involved in evaluating the adequacy of the loss
allowance for trade receivables.
SHREFRURER CEMEEBRBEINR
@ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ RAREZEM R &R E IR
MERZERM UERFEEZRURERZER
BEBIARUESRERZEREHE -

obtaining an understanding of the key
data and assumptions used in the ECL
model adopted by the management,
including the basis of segmentation of trade
receivables, the historical default data, and
the assumptions involved in management’s
estimated loss rate; and
THERNEEEMERAZEREEEEEL
THERZEARBBENRER  ETEEES
EURER 2D BER BELENRRER
BRBEHERERZER:

assessing the appropriateness of management’s
estimates of loss allowance by examining
the information used by management to
derive such estimates, including testing the
accuracy of the historical default data and
evaluating whether the historical loss rates
are appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions, client specific conditions
and forward-looking information.
BRBREEEBANTEKABHES  BREE
Vﬁiﬁﬁ%fzﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ
XRERBEMKBERR  EFFEBRLK
FIEMEERESHAE - U EEEE G
ZEBEBEBEZEET -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

REMBBRRREAZBEAREU I

=3

EXFHEMERAE - HiLEEEHE
HERERA 22 HMES - BETEIEER
EUMBRREESF R BERE -

BEEHEAMBBRRZCERELMNRE
HELE  BSFENITH&FEMERE
KEMPA 2 ERER

REBSFHEAVWBRR 2B BF
LETRMEAMES  ElBRET
EREMEERTEFEMBBRAE
EEEMBETHTHRZIBEAFEERX
EEAEUFEEERERRAZIF
e BERBFEHTZIHE  WRES
RREMBERFEERHERRML - &
EREREZFE -GEEIE BFR

BEEA®HE -

EENREMBRRARBZEL

EXZFAERBEBEAMAERM
ZAE B M mE L) REFB(R A K
B BEERRBEENTBEZIEA
MHRE THERSRESES YK
BRZBETNFEHRNRFRERM
R 2 BERHRR AP 2 A ER 2

EREEEMBHREE  EFRAEN G
BERERERLEZREN  XEBRIBR
THREERELEEHIER  UARE
AREKERGTER  RIEFEE
HESEBFRNIIFILELE - pEEAM
ERZBERIER-

ERZEeWHEFRTEERSR
LHHEHREBRZIEME -

i

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 £ 101



Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

RBMBET RV ERRAEZE
5

EE7ER  REGAMBHRREEE
B FEERBRFFRERmMER &
AR NBABRE YHAR
RESEERZZEMEE - TERK
BEREI1IF(RRIER)FIGEZR
EERBEBKRRRE - RN - B
E2HRETTREEMARZ - TEHT
MAREZAD  HEMEMALTEES
S EEEREM o

EERFRFGNKFZRE  BTRERE
BB BB R ETZET EX
—EAERRAGTERBERE - &
ARERALAT AR ERFE S ER AR B - IR A
EEHEMEBNERERATETE
REMBBRREAERBETBREA
TR R E - BIERE 2 SRR IR AL A
WRIEE KX o

ERB(GEBEMNEADETEN 2B
B BFERTEXHE  RETEH

XEREE - EFN:

— BRI E A B KR SR RR T &

HREMBREFEERNERR
M2 B R RBITESRERF
NEHELRE ARERRTRE
MEEZENRE  EREFE
ZERE o HRNEEFAIRE P R AR
R - BEER - ERERE - 0%
ERABES 2 £ Hit K%
BRRFMER 2 ERHERR A
ZEBERARERREHERME
B2 BREERRM 2 AR -

— TRREFEFTHEBEZAIES - A

RtBEE ZEFREFF - BRI IE
HESERNMES 2B RERRK
BR-
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

&5

REMRETFEUBBRRAEZE

(&

FEEEMHEASTHRRZRE
MRIEHES M EBREEZ
A -

HEZRABELLEERL
REEELER  RIEAERZ
BARE MEROFHERENR
HERBBZERTHEEME - M
MREEHHESEB I HERLER
NELEBERRE -WREFRS
FHEERTHEMH  MALEHR
B BRETIRGBEAELIELR
EMBHRP 2 HBERE - REEH
ZERETR  MESRERRFE
REER - BEFZHEWEENZ
e & A I TG 2 BEHERRE -
AM - RERFHEKBERAELERR
SETRFERE -

A EGAEVBRER CEBERINRT
A HEBEAT BEEE ARk
HEMBBREETERRIZ R
FIH-

NEEERNERAXBES M
HKEERERIRRTR  BEZEMRE
HONBEHGEAMBERRERE
R-BFZABEKEEMZHIRA
EENMHT - BEEREBF B R K
EREAME-
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yuen Man Ching.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

24 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-Z-—F=A=+—-HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 7R)

31 March 31 March
2021 2020
—E-— —E-TF
=A=+—H =H=+—H
Note $’000 $'000
B 5 Fr Tt
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment MmE - MENERE 6 519,498 510,838
Investment properties REWME 7 317,420 294,800
Intangible assets mEEE 8 6,350 7,893
Investment in an associate REERAIZEE 10 19,266 16,538
Other financial assets EhemEE 14 26,401 19,629
Other non-current assets HEMIERBHEE 13 10,849 38,300
Deferred tax assets R IEE = 25(b) 1,696 5,291
e ........901480 893,289
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 15 391,072 528,865
Property development and contract ¥ 3 % & & & R K 74
costs 16 1,064,989 818,881
Trade and bills receivable ESREBEERBER 13 658,268 301,351
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ TEfI K » & & &
receivables H i & U5 BR 5K 13 83,583 63,728
Amounts due from related FEU REE AR ER A
companies 35(b) 131,082 115,135
Current tax recoverable % HA AT Y [B] B 18 25(a) 200 54
Restricted deposits = PR # 7F 53X 17 275,785 33,440
Cash and bank deposits BRe RRITHER 18 144,978 264,042
2,749,957 2,125,496
Total assets EE#E 3,651,437 3,018,785
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable AT EZFEA
to equity shareholders of the FE 18 IR A I fik 4
Company
Share capital @i 19 201,244 199,384
Other reserves H A 21 272,066 193,400
Retained earnings R84 A 21 957,309 782,916
Total equity EHAE 1,430,619 1,175,700
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-Z-—F=A=+—-HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA T3 7R)

31 March 31 March
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
=Z=A=t+—HB =A=+—H
Note $’000 $'000
B 5T Fr Tt
LIABILITIES =R+
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5 ENERR 22 340,424 288,987
Accruals and other payables EEtE A K EAD
JE - BR 3K 22 803,798 492,221
Lease liabilities HERE 24 2,594 3,244
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 301,010 126,800
Amount due to an associate DR A /NG]! /TA 10 1,669 4,083
Amounts due to related companies [&{<f 8 2&# 2 7 Bk 3K 35(b) 4,032 632
Current tax payable 2N HA e AN 5 I,E 25(a) 134,961 88,568
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 1,588,488 1,004,535
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank borrowings RITEHE 23 616,456 824,837
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 1,141 1,421
Provision for long service payments & Hi IR 1§ & % & 26 9,149 8,162
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 25(b) 5,584 4,130
... 632,330 838,550
Total liabilities EEHEE 2,220,818 1,843,085
Total equity and liabilities EakBEAE 3,651,437 3,018,785
Net current assets REBEEFE 1,161,469 1,120,961
Total assets less current liabilities EE# BB ARBEE 2,062,949 2,014,250

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors N_E_—FRAZTHEHBESFEH
on 24 June 2021. I R AT B o

Ho Cheuk Fai Chan Ming Mui, Silvia

GF B & 5k
Director Director
EF EF
The notes on pages 115 to 262 form part of these financial ~ F115F 2628 2 M BN &K 2 —

statements. o o
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE-T-—F=A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(A B TTIIR)

2021 2020
—EB-—F —EETF
Note $’000 $'000
B & Fr T
Revenue A 27 3,192,617 2,902,208
Cost of revenue N & 28 (2,478,560) (2,372,714)
Gross profit EX 714,057 529,494
Distribution and selling expenses 9 #5 & 5 & & A 28 (32,239) (30,668)
General and administrative — R EITHER
expenses 28 (152,472) (120,129)
Other income/gains H g AW 2 27 2,601 4,444
Net valuation gain/(loss) on REWMEHERE
investment properties (BE)FH 7 1,184 (2,361)
Operating profit  ®&&=™ 533131 380,780
Finance income B & U A 4,613 4,462
Finance costs B 75 ik A (7,975) (24,858)
Finance costs, met  WE&AFE 30 .....B36y (20,396)
Share of profits of an associate  F& {f B & 2\ 5] )& £ 10 1,487 1,354
Profit before taxation FR Bt AT & 531,256 361,738
Income tax Frig®t 31 (165,975) (111,472)
Profit for the year FEZER 365,281 250,266
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-Z-—F=A=+—-HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA T3 7R)

2021 2020
—E-—fF BT
Note $°000 $'000
P 5 T Tt
Earnings per share attributable AATEZRFEA
to equity shareholders of the FE AL B R & 7
Company
Basic earnings per share BREFEF
(HK cents) (7B AL) 32 18.3 12.6
Diluted earnings per share BErskoar
(HK cents) (7&4l) 32 18.2 12.5

The notes on pages 115 to 262 form part of these financial ~ #115E2628 2 M AR B %K 2 —
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity &% @ BRAFEE &N 2 B ARE #
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for — Zm#FA A Z & B FFHI R T 5E33 o

the year are set out in note 33.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-Z-—F=A=+—-HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 7R)

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Note $’000 $'000
P 5 T T
BRI OTNheyca N (o = T 565,201 SN BT
Other comprehensive income for FEHEM2MEK A :
the year:
Items that will not be reclassified T & E# 7 E 18
to profit or loss: ZIEE
Remeasurement of provision for ~KHIRESEFH =
long service payments HEt= 26(h) 671) (569)
Changes in fair value of other HthemEEQFE
financial assets X 21 (488) —
Items that may be reclassified HEREEFT T HE
subsequently to profit or loss: EBmZHEA -
Exchange differences on translation # & & % LA 9h 3 % Bf
of financial statements of BMRMEL ZH
operations outside Hong Kong MmER 21 70,941 (62,629)
Transfer to profit or loss upon HEHEMESRMEE
disposal of other finance assets HREEER 21 12 —
Changes in fair value of other HiteMEERFE
financial assets 229 21 9) (1271)
Other comprehensive income FEHM2ERKA
for the year 69,785 (63,319)
Total comprehensive income FEZHBRALE
for the year 435,066 186,947

The notes on pages 115 to 262 form part of these financial

statements.

FNSE202B ZMERAMBIMEKR 2 —

B -

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 F

109



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HLEFE
(LA TTAI7R)

For the year ended 31 March 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share Other Retained
capital reserves Earnings  Total Equi%
Rx  Htte  RERN  BHA
(Note 19) (Note 21) (Note 21)
(K&E19) (¥ &E21) (M&E21)
Note 000 000 000 000
ik r Fr Tr Fr
Balanceat 1April 2019 =R-AFMA-AZE&HR 199183 254217 713460 1,166,860
Changes in equity for the year ended EHZE-Z-FF=F=+-H
31 March 2020: LFERGET:
Profit for the year ERRA — — 250,266 250,266
Other comprehensive income E2ERA = (62,750) (569) (63,319)
Total comprehensive income  REMAL® = 6a7s0) 249697 186947
Dividends paid in respect of BREEERS
the previous year 33(b) = = (99,692) (99,692)
Dividends paid in respect of BRAFERS
the current year 33(a) = = (79,754) (79,754)
Equity settled share-based transactions AR 13322 %X 5 20(d) — 230 — 230
Cancellation of shares it #HR A 21(0
(iv)&(v) (71) 866 (795) —
Repurchase of shares [ 8 & (7 21(0)(iv) = (795) - (795)
Issuance of shares upon exercise of 1T EREE ETRR
share options 19 272 1,632 — 1,904
Balance at 31 March 2020 ZRIFFZAZT-H2
T 199384 193,400 782,916 1,175,700
Balanceat 1 April 2020 SR-REMA-AZEHK 199304 193400 782916 1,175,700
Changes in equity for the year ended BE=2=-%=A=t-H
31 March 2021: LFERHZRD:
Profit for the year ERRM = — 365,281 365,281
Other comprehensive income Ep2EWA — 70,456 (671) 69,785
Total comprehensive income  REMALE = U R
Dividends paid in respect of Bk EEERS
the previous year 33(b) — — (99,882) (99,882)
Dividends paid in respect of BRAFERE
the current year 33(a) — — (90,335) (90,335)
Issuance of shares upon exercise of 1T EREEETRR
share options 19 1,860 8,210 — 10,070
Balance at 31 March 2021 ZE--#ZfA=t-H2
& 201,244 272,066 957,309 1,430,619
The notes on pages 115 to 262 form part of these financial ~ #1152 2628 2 M s RAM B Ex 2 —
statements. o o
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-Z-—F=A=+—-HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 7R)

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Note $’000 $°000
P 5 T T
Cash flows from operating RETPBRERE
activities
Profit before taxation B Tt AT & A 531,256 361,738
Share of profits of an associate JEAG B & R A& M 10 (1,487) (1,354)
Depreciation and amortisation of ¥ % « BB & & 2
property, plant and equipment Ir & K # i 6 88,245 62,971
Amortisation of intangible assets & 2 & & ~ # 35 8 1,543 1,504
Equity settled share-based IR XN 25
transactions 20 — 230
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, &2 « BKE &
plant and equipment Rz (W),
BB 27 271) 1,327
Loss on disposal of other financial HE KM &R EE 2
assets Bi1E 27 690 —
Provision for long service payments & i iR 7 & % &5 26 318 283
Net valuation (gain)/loss on REMEME W)
investment properties S BB 7 (1,184) 2,361
Interest expenses ME X 30 7,975 24,858
Interest income MEWA 30 4,613) (4,462)
Foreign exchange loss SN BE 3 B 18 3,355 7,823
Operating profit before working E#EES#8Ha2
capital changes carried forward K& RBHEHE 625,827 457,279
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-Z-—F=A=+—-HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA T3 7R)

2021 2020
—E-— —E-THF
Note $’000 $'000
B 5 Fr Tt
Operating profit before working FRAEEE LB EHA
capital changes brought 2R
forward 625,827 457,279
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 1F& 27 B4 (3% 1) 137,793 (193,374)
Increase in property development 473 3% & 2 18 fiI (198,512) (321,736)
Increase in trade and bills B REBREWER
receivable 2 380 (358,160) (24,154)
Decrease/(increase) in AR mek
prepayments, deposits and other — H ftf fE I BR 50 2
receivables B, (38 ) 1,375 (18,712)
(Increase)/decrease in amount due JEWRAE A FIRRZ
from related companies (3 Hn) Rk (158,123) 18,569
Increase in trade payables EHRMNERZ
0 49,151 136,778
Increase in accruals and other FEEH B R &k E A FES
payables AR X 2 18N 396,366 43,455
(Decrease)/increase in amount due JEfNEZ AFERZ
to an associate CR ) /180 (2,414) 4,048
Increase in amount due to related EEERFERRK 2
companies Rl 3,400 238
Increase in restricted deposits R ERZE M (239,913) (33,440)
Net cash generated from REELEZZFHES
operations 256,790 68,951
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BN EENEHR (22,589) (13,505)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded ~ REZFBFEH — 4
PRC tax paid B B F 15 T (15,597) (2,402)
Long service payments paid ENKREBREE 26 (58) (269)
Long service payments refunded RERHRBH S 26 56 191
Net cash generated from RETRHEEZ
operating activities FRE 218,602 52,970
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE-_ZT-—4F=-A=+—HLEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(A B TTIIR)

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 5 T T
Cash flows from investing RETH2RERE
activities
Payment for the purchase of BEVE BER
property, plant and equipment BN (72,454) (120,156)
Payment for additions to investment /5 & 1% & ¥ 2 2 F 5%
properties 7 — (101)
Proceeds from disposal of property, (I E# % + & F &
plant and equipment R 1 440 430
Proceeds from disposal of other  HEHM SR EE 2
financial assets FT 1% 3K 6,116 —
Payment for acquisition of other BEEAEMEFHEE 2
financial assets NE (13,767) —
Payment for acquisition of BEEBTLEEZNK
intangible assets 8 — (229)
Interest received 2 U F B 4,190 4,037
Net cash used in investing REFBRAZ
activities FRE (75,475) (116,019)
Cash flows from financing METBZRETRE
activities
Interest paid EENEES) 18(b) (36,991) (49,493)
Payment for the repurchase of [l 8% AR 19 2 1~ 3K
shares 21(c) — (795)
Proceeds from new bank MIITEEZ
borrowings FT 1S 3K 18(b) 322,557 473,162
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIETEE 18(h) (372,552) (135,480)
Capital element of lease rental ENEEREZ
paid BRI, 18(b) (3,985) (3,206)
Interest element of lease rental ENHEHEEZ
paid UP=R:1R) 18(b) (219) (215)
Dividends paid B K ik B (190,217) (179,446)
Proceeds from issuance of shares 17 fif f& i #& 1& 35 17
upon exercise of share options W&t 2 P 1§ & 19 10,070 1,904
Net cash (used in)/generated from & & EE (FTH) ~
financing activities EEX2ERE (271,337) 106,431
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-Z-—F=A=+—-HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA T3 7R)

2021 2020
Note $’000 $ OOO
P £ T Tt
Net (decrease)/increase in cash fﬁﬁ&*ﬁﬁ:%ﬁwz
and cash equivalents W),/ 18 (128,210) 43,382
Cash and cash equivalents FUZHER
at the beginning of the year REEEY 264,042 224,030
Effect of foreign exchange rate IEEREH 2
changes 9,146 (3,370)
Cash and cash equivalents FEZEER
at the end of the year REeEZEEY 18 144,978 264,042
The notes on pages 115 to 262 form part of these financial ~ F115E 2628 2 Mzt B B EK 2 —
statements. IS
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Karrie International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in

— Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): providing
mechanical engineering solutions, manufacturing
and sales of metal and plastic parts, including
moulds and the relevant plastic and metal parts
products for information and communication
technology industry, etc.;

— Electronic Manufacturing Services Business
(“EMS”): manufacturing and sales of magnetic
tape data storage, point-of-sale system, and other
computer peripherals, etc.; and

— Real Estate Business: urban renewal, residential
real estate project investment and development.

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda on 29 October 1996. The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 16 December
1996.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in unit of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise
stated.

1

—REH
EHNAREEERAR(HAT)
RG] INGICYHES 3L IES:
3

— HTeBREH(IREBR):

B TRRR TR &
ERHECBREBHL
FTEREAARAANEE
¥R HEZEESE
BEERS

— BEFEXARIXBIEFHN

T)): RERHEEWSHBUR
e WIRHE R R A
BEREREERT K

— BHMEXRSR:E8HRE %

FHERBRERER -

KRB —NAARFTAZTAH
BREREEIMKRIZBEREE
N &) P E R #b ik Z Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda °

RRBZBEMR—ANANFE+ZA

TARAREAMARZABARAR
(TBER AR EMR L -

BRIEXBGRHA - RSB HRERIA

BILIRDE2® -

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 £ 115



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LB ITTHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2

116

(@

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note
2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current
and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.
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(b)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2021 comprise the Group
and its interest in an associate. The measurement
basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for
investment properties, other financial assets and
employee benefit assets/liabilities which have
been measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

2 B
(b)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

118

(0

(d)

Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments
to HKFRSs that first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group.

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s result and financial
position for the current or prior periods have
prepared or presented in this financial report.
The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group
and other parties) are considered.

An investment in subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-Group balances,
transactions and cash flows, and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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(d)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the
Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets
the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

Changes in the Group'’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

120

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate (see note 2(e)).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group
has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy

decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post-acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment (see note 2(k)(ii)). Any acquisition-
date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees
and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest
is reduced to $nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-
term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investees, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, retained interest

is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity

method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 2(f)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

122

)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s and the Company’s accounting
policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries
and associates, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are
initially stated at fair value, which is their
transaction price unless it is determined that the
fair value at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price and that fair value is evidenced
by a quoted price in an active market for an
identical asset or liability or based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable
markets. Cost includes attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss and where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

(i) Investments other than equity
investments
Non-equity investment held by the Group
are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

— Amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represents solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 2(w)(iv)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(continued)

Investments other than equity
investments (continued)

(i)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) (recycling), if
the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by
both the collection of contractual cash
flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in
profit or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

FVPL, if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2

2

124

)

(g)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)

(i) Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election
to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election
is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the other
financial assets revaluation reserve until
the investment is disposed of. At the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
other financial assets revaluation reserve
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, if
any, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest (see note 2(i)) to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation. These include land
held for a currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or developed
for future use as investment property.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting
period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time. Any gain or loss arising
from a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-
of-use assets and land use rights) are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation or
amortisation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are expensed in
profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Gain or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2
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(h)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Construction-in-progress represents buildings,
plant and machinery under construction and
pending installation and is stated at cost. Cost
includes the costs of construction of buildings,
the costs of plant and machinery, installation,
testing and other direct costs. No depreciation is
made on construction-in-progress until such time
as the relevant assets are completed and ready
for intended use. When the assets concerned
are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as
stated in below.

Depreciation and amortisation is calculated to
write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives. The annual rates used
for the calculation of depreciation are:

— Land use rights and Over the lease term

leasehold land

— Buildings 2% to 4%

— Fixtures and leasehold 8% to 33.33%
improvements

— Machinery 6.67% to 20%

— Tools and equipment 15%

— Furniture and computer 15% to 33.33%
equipment

— Properties leased for Over the lease term

owned use

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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(i)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses

whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A

contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an

identified asset for a period of time in exchange

for consideration. Control is conveyed where the

customer has both the right to direct the use of

the identified asset and to obtain substantially all

of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease

component for all leases.

the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a

At the lease commencement date,

lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

2
(i)

EESHBERE)

HEEE

uTiDr\)jHT REBFHEL
ERHEXBEHE - W

m,\@/ﬁ%%ﬂﬁ’:\ ER BF I A

THEBMNEECRAENSR

BRE - BZeNAHEESE

EHE - TRFRAEEETR

EBNEEZRE  THE
NZRAEEGRTRMAKE
FlamzBERT - BliEhED 8
% o

(iy fEBREEA

fid & 4B & M & 48 K 5
SRIEHEELKILY -
AEEEERETDFIE
MEAKSD  WEHT
& 78 & 48 i &6 o R AE A
HEZIEREBAKIT D
T”EF_'I*IE —2ZEMAK
HOoETEHRERE -

REERBE  KEBRE
RERAEEELEESR
& - A28 Az A

TZHERBKEEEEZ
HERIN  EXREEH

—REREBEEEYHE
ER - AEBRAERS
NZEHEREERHE
EEXM BREXNEZ
HEHBzEENKE

HE AR R i#E R
BB -
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 £ 127



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2
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O

Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted
to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 2(h) and 2(k)(ii)).
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(i)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i) Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate,
or there is a change in the Group'’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that
do not meet the definition of investment
property in ‘property, plant and equipment’
and presents lease liabilities separately in
the statement of financial position.

In the comparative period, as a lessee the
Group classified leases as finance leases
if the leases transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group. Leases which did not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group were classified as
operating leases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2
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Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Where the Group had the use of assets
held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases were charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis
was more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received were recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of
the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals were charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they
were incurred.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance

with note 2(w)(iii).

2

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 Il B B2 £ Ig B BE 2 7

(i)

SR (E,

*ﬁiﬁﬁ%(f‘“’)

(i)

EREBEANGE)
MAEBALLEHER
BREEZERE AR
BEHEFELZARE
HEHMRE 28 H
MR AEESHER
mPH KA R
HERRRERKAEE
BEMEA ZWAZEN
ARSI - HEMSE R Z
BB RS R s P R
RAMEFNREEL
HED XA EEE
HEAZEHEAE
BEPIIE -

ERHBEA
EAEBEREEAR
EXHEREREES
HERERMEMELK
REHE - MEERE
MEEZMERZIEAXN
o R kb RERE
EMEA - AIAKERBRH
HED ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ °
fid NB R E U
%“ﬁ%m“ﬁ&o

ﬁmm S &4 K
D hIEBEHKIL D

AEERBHEEELE
BEEREOPZRE
DM FEHEKIBD o &
E2HE2He W ARE
Bt 5 2(w) (i) BE 3R o



()

(k)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see note
2(k)(ii)). Operating rights acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Amortisation of intangible assets
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses ("ECLs”) on the
following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and bank deposits,
restricted deposits, trade and bills
receivables and prepayments, deposits
and other receivables);

— contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 2(0)); and

— debt securities measured at FVOCI
(recycling).

Financial assets measured at fair value,
including debt securities and equity
securities designated at FVOCI (non-
recycling), are not subject to the ECL
assessment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2
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(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present values of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the

Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives
of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

the
Group recognises a loss allowance equal

For all other financial instruments,

to 12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

134

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held) or (ii) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable,
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or

including historical

effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractual due
dates;
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(i)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to
the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant

increase in credit risk is performed on either

an individual basis or a collective basis.

When the assessment is performed on a

collective basis, the financial instruments
are Grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and

credit risk ratings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2
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(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment

recognition.

gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt securities that are
measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognised in accordance
with note 2(w)(iv) is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Groups assess
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.
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(i)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable
events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or an
impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may have decreased:

2

138

(k)

(i)

property, plant and equipment;

intangible assets; and

investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

Calculation of the recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest Group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash generating unit).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
EZEGTHRERE)

FEBREREEZRERE)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (continued)
— Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating

unit to which it belongs,
its recoverable amount.

losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or Group of units)

and then,

amount of the other assets in the
unit (or Group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use

(if determinable).

— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the

recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.

exceeds
Impairment

to reduce the carrying

2

(k)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2

2

140

(k)

M

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and
impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the
financial year (see notes 2(k)(i) and 2(k)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of other financial assets
are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim
period relates. Consequently, if the fair
value of another financial asset increases in
the remainder of the annual period, or in
any other period subsequently, the increase
is recognised in other comprehensive
income and not profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process
of production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories (continued)

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and

net realisable value as follows:

(i)

Manufacturing

Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
method and comprise all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sales.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount
of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in
the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
2 EEEMEBERE)

2

142

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Inventories (continued)

Property development

Cost and net realisable values are
determined as follows:

Property under development for sale
The cost of properties under
development for sale comprises
specifically identified cost, including
the acquisition cost of land, aggregate
cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other
direct expenses and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value represents the estimated
selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

Completed property held for resale

In the case of completed properties
developed by the Group, cost is
determined by apportionment of
the total development costs for that
development project, attributable to
the unsold properties. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling
price less costs to be incurred in selling
the property.

The cost of completed properties
held for sale comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location
and condition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories (continued)

(if)

(iii)

Property development (continued)

— Completed property held for resale
(continued)
When
carrying amount of those inventories

inventories are sold, the

is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is
recognised.

The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Other contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain
a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained (for example, an incremental sales
commission). Incremental costs of obtaining
a contract are capitalised when incurred if
the costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

144

M

Inventories (continued)
(iii) Other contract costs (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised
if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods
or services in the future; and are expected
to be recovered. Costs that relate directly
to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable
to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments
to sub-contractors). Other costs of fulfilling
a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset
exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount
of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not yet

been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue
to which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is
set out in note 2(w).

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Joint operation

A joint operation is a joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of
the arrangement have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

When a Group entity undertakes its activities
under a joint operation, the Group as a joint
operator recognises in relation to its interest in
the joint operation:

— its share of any assets held jointly;

— its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

— its share of revenue from the sale of the
output by the joint operation; and

— its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses relating to its interest in
a joint operation in accordance with the HKFRSs
applicable to the particular assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses.

When a Group entity transacts with a joint
operation in which a Group entity is a joint
operator (such as a sale or contribution of assets),
the Group is considered to be conducting the
transaction with the other parties to the joint
operation, and gains and losses resulting from
the transactions are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of other parties’ interests in the joint
operation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

146

(n)

(o)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note
2(0)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(k)(i)).

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2(w)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contract assets are assessed for ECLs in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(k)(i)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right
to the consideration has become unconditional
(see note 2(n)).

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(w)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue.
In such cases, a corresponding receivable would
also be recognised (see note 2(n)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

For a single contract with the customers, either
a new contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant
financing component, the contract balance
includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method (see note 2(w)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings
are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expenses is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(y)).

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value, and are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

148

(r)

(s)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(k)(i).

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period. Employee entitlements
to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Employee benefits (continued)

Pension obligations

Group companies operate a defined
contribution plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Defined benefit retirement plan — Long
service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of
long service payments to its employees
upon the termination of their employment
or retirement when the employee fulfils
certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current and
prior periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2

150

(s)

Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Defined benefit retirement plan — Long

(iv)

service payments (continued)

The obligation is calculated using the
projected unit credit method, discounted
to its present value and reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to
contributions made by the Group. The
discount rate is the yield at the end of the
reporting period on high quality corporate
bonds which have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related
liability. The actuarial gains or losses are
credited or charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the current
period.

Other compensations

Other directors’ and employees’
compensations are recorded as a liability
and charged to profit or loss when the
Group is contractually obliged or when
there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation and the associated
services are rendered by the employees.

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operated an equity-settled, share-
under which the
Company received services from employees

based compensation plan,

in return for the granting of equity instruments
(options) of the Company. The fair value of share
options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in
a capital reserve within equity. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted:

— including any market performance
conditions;

— excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions
(for example, profitability, sales growth
targets and remaining an employee of the
entity over a specified time period); and

— excluding the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised
over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting
period, the entity revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing vesting conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to the
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(u)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cash received for the shares issued when the
options are exercised is credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium, net of any
directly attributable transaction costs.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to employees of a subsidiary
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in the subsidiary, with a
corresponding credit to equity.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all
deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from
the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2
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(u)

Income tax (continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their
fair values in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2(g), the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured using the
tax rates that would apply on sale of those
assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when
the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities,
if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
or the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods or the use
by others of the Group’s assets under leases in
the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes Value-added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 EEEFBRE#E)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the customer for more than 12 months,
revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the
effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides
a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The
Group takes advantage of the practical expedient
in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sales of manufacturing goods
Revenue from the sales of goods is
recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. Any
advance payments received from customers
prior to delivery of goods are recorded as
contract liabilities (see note 2(0)).

(w)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

2
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(i)
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Sales of manufacturing goods (continued)
In the comparative period, revenue
from sales of manufacturing goods was
recognised when the goods are delivered to
the customer, the customer has accepted the
products and the related risks and rewards
of ownership and collectability of the

related receivables is reasonably assured.

Sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties
developed for sale in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the property
is accepted by the customer, or deemed
as accepted according to the contract,
whichever is earlier, which is the point in
time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property. Deposits and instalments
received on properties sold prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included
in the statement of financial position under
contract liabilities (see note 2(0)).

If any advance payments received from
the buyers are regarded as providing a
significant financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment
of time value of money will be accrued by
the Group during the period between the
payment date and the completion date of
legal assignment. This accrual increases
the balance of the contract liability during
the period of construction, and therefore
increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer. The interest is
expensed as accrued unless it is eligible to
be capitalised under HKAS 23, Borrowing
costs, in accordance with the policies set
out in note 2(y).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Revenue and other income (continued)
(iii) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by
the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired,
applied to the gross carrying amount of the

the effective interest rate is

asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note

2(k)(i).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in
the same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate the
Group for the cost of an asset are deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expenses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2
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(x)

Translation of foreign currencies

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s

functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the
year are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Group initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured.

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

(ii)

Transactions and balances (continued)

The results of operations with functional
currency other than Hong Kong dollars
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong
Kong dollar at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the
translation reserve.

On disposal of an operation with functional
currency other than Hong Kong dollars,
the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to

the acquisition, construction or production of

an asset which necessarily takes a substantial

period of time to get ready for its intended use

or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that

asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the

period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2

2
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(y)

(2)

Borrowing costs (continued)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members
of the same Group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a Group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.
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(b)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(z) Related parties (continued)

An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions applies: (continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group

of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected to

influence, or be influenced by, that person in

their dealings with the entity.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(aa) Segment reporting

2

3

164

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: currency risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

3 HEEREEREMIAQAFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Risk management is carried out by the Group’s
Finance and Accounting department (“Group
F&A”) under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Group F&A identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation
with the Group’s operating units. The Board is
responsible for overall risk management which
covers currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and cash
management.

The Group’s exposure to the aforesaid risks
and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.

(i) Currency risk
The Group operates primarily in Hong
Kong and the PRC and most of its business
transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in HK$, United States dollars
(“US$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
risk arises from commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations that are

Currency

denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency. As HK$
are pegged against US$, management
considers that the Group is mainly exposed
to foreign currency risk with respect to
Renminbi.
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will

Management will continue to

take measures to minimise the currency
translation risk. The conversion rate of
Renminbi to foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
Government.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

The following table details the currency

3

166

(@)

(i)

portfolio of the Group’s monetary assets/
(liabilities) denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the

entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the portfolio are
expressed in HK$, translated using the spot

rate at the end of the reporting period:

3 UHXEREERERIAEAFE
(%)

(@)

Bt %
(i)

Rk EEGE)

ShE R B (4F)

T%\%%EIJZIKEL){*HE?J
ERDEEEUINEM
ERRBUERME
E/(Efﬁ)z A -
BIERRAE LHEEZ
& FA RS BOR B AR [E
R WABTTIR

At 31 March 2021

—8--%¥=fA=t+-H
Carrying

Note value HK$ Us$ RMB  Others
MaE REE BT £r  AR® Hity
$000  $000  $000  $000  $'000
r i r r r

Trade and bills receivable and B Z R ZEERER T K
other receivables L fth & U B % 13 675883 1,928 638,195 35728 32
Other financial assets AeRmEE 14 26,401 — 18,956 — 7445
Restricted deposits XREFER 17 275785 = — 275,785 —
Cash and bank deposits ReERBIFN 18 144,978 31,385 79,078 33,645 870

Amounts due from related EhEENRRR

companies 35 131,082 1,059 — 130,023 -
Trade payables BAERER 22 (340,424) (51,615) (247,915) (40,817 (77)

Accruals and other payables T B R R Lt FE
B3R 22 (803,798) (87,665) (81,994) (634,139) -
Bank borrowings RITREE 23 (917,466) (681,936) — (235,530) =
Lease liabilities HEEE 24 (3,735) = — (3,735 —
Amount due to an associate Fﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ““?ﬁﬁm 35 (1,669) — —  (1,669) —

Amounts due to related ERBEARRR

companies 35 (4,032) (466) —  (3,560) —

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZXIBEIRZERER 2 7
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HXEREERESBIAEAFEE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (%)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued) @ BHXRRBREZEGE)
(i) Currency risk (continued) (i) SEREE)
At 31 March 2020
“E-ZH=fA=1-H
Carrying
Note value HK$ Us$ RMB  Others
ME  HEE BT *T ARE Hfth
$000  §000  $000  $000  $000
T T T T T
Trade and bills receivable and  EZ R ZEEUMEZ K
other receivables L fth JE Yo B 3% 13 331,914 1,111 293,199 37,544 60
Other financial assets EfeRER 14 19,629 — 19,629 — —
Restricted deposits SRR 17 33,440 = — 33,440 =
Cash and bank deposits BERBOFR 18 264,042 32,555 95,692 134,924 871
Amounts due from related e U A i 1) B BR X
companies 35 115,135 — — 115,135 —
Trade payables EHEAER 22 (288,987) (55,109) (186,045) (47,832) )
Accruals and other payables B ZT B F |k H A fE £
E 22 (492,221)  (51,589) (44,317) (396,315) —
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 (951,637) (735,250) — (216,387) —
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 (4,665) — — (4,665 —
Amount due to an associate ERBENRERD 35 (4,083) = — (4,083 =
Amounts due to related EREERARRR
companies 35 (632) — — (632) —

At 31 March 2021, if HK$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB
with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year and retained
earnings would have decreased/increased
approximately $2,197,000 (2020: $9,709,000
decreased/increased), mainly as a result
of the net foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of Renminbi-denominated
trade and other receivables, cash and bank
deposits, trade and other payables and bank
borrowings.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3

168

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates
the instantaneous change in the Group'’s
profit after tax (and retained earnings) and
other components of equity that would
arise assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rate of HK$ against the RMB had
occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk, including inter-company payables
and receivables with the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2020.

Interest rate risk

Monetary assets/liabilities acquired at
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings and bank deposits which are
primarily issued at variable rates.

3
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s interest-bearing assets
and liabilities at the end of the reporting
period:

3

BXEBREERSMIAEATE
@ HERBEZEE)
(i) A ZEp(EZ)

TRFAFVRBREHRA

At 31 March 2021

EEASLAEREER
27 B

At 31 March 2020

—EC--f —Z-TF
=ZRA=t+-H =A=1+-H
Effective Effective
interest interest
Note rate % $000 rate% $'000
ERFIE BRF X
Pt & % Fr % T
Fixed rate interest-bearing EEFEHEEE /
assets/(liabilities): (B :
Deposits with banks “EARERIEH
with 3 months or less to ZBRITER
maturity when placed 18 0.14% 8,432 — —
Key management insurance BZEZEBERRE L
contracts 14 2.01% 18,956 2.22% 19,629
Lease liabilities HERR 24 4.32%  (3,735)  3.81%  (4,665)
Variable rate interest- FBAEER
bearing assets/ EE/(8f):
(liabilities):
Restricted deposits KR 7 17 1.61% 275785  0.01% 33,440
Cash and bank deposits RITER 0.01% 134,991 0.01% 263,061
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 3.51% (917,466)  4.61% (951,637)

At 31 March 2021, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rate had
increased/decreased by 50 basis points, the
corresponding increase/decrease in interest
expenses on bank borrowings and interest
income from bank deposits at variable rates
will result in a net decrease/increase in the
Group’s post-tax profit by approximately
$1,777,000/%$2,438,000 (2020: decrease/
increase by $2,491,000/$3,943,000).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3
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(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained earnings) and other
components of equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained earnings) and other
components of equity is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or
income of such a change in interest rates.
The analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2020.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group and
is managed on a Group basis. The Group’s
credit risk mainly arises from financial
assets and deposits with banks and financial
institutions, as well as credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding trade and
other receivables. For banks and financial
institutions, only independent parties with
high credit rating are accepted.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HXEREERESEBIAEAFEE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
(@ Financial risk factors (continued) @ HMBRBEZEE)

(ili) Credit risk (continued) (i) &R (E)

Trade receivables and contract assets BHRWERRANEE
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is REBELR2EERR
influenced mainly by the individual TEXRINEERPZER
characteristics of each customer rather REBATE MIERTP
than the industry or country in which the FIESE1TR MAERR
customers operate and therefore significant At s E&EFEER
concentrations of credit risk primarily RFrEREAEZEERZ
arise when the Group has significant FHBEERRAR  -RZ
exposure to individual customers. There is T —F=A=+—80"
a concentration of credit risk in respect of TREGREREKEE
trade and bills receivable as the Group’s RZEFEESRER
sales are made primarily to a few key JEUs BR TR AR 4991% (Z
customers. At 31 March 2021, the trade and T-FF :86%) °

bills receivable from five largest customers
accounted for approximately 91% (2020:
86%) of the total trade and bills receivable.

Individual credit evaluations are performed AEEGHERBEIR—
on all customers requiring credit over a TERBEEZHMAERFR
certain amount. These evaluations focus # 17 @ R E B - Uk
on the customer’s past history of making SHEHEHERFBER
payments when due and current ability B HA R 2 8 SR AT 8k ) IR
to pay, and take into account information R HRES) - WEBEP
specific to the customer as well as ZHEERFEHMNER
pertaining to the economic environment EEERZEZHEBE
in which the customer operates. Trade Ko B 5 W R A
receivables are due within 90 days from the HEHRATRARE - K
date of billing. Normally, the Group does SE-—RKRTEgmEFPK
not obtain collateral from customers. 4 o
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HEEREEREMIANTFE

3
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables

Credit risk in respect of other receivables,
the Group monitors the exposures
and manages them based on historical
settlement records and past experience,
current conditions and forecast of future

economic conditions.

Amounts due from related parties

Credit risk in respect of amounts due from
related parties are limited given that the
Group assesses and closely monitors their
financial conditions and the related parties
have sufficient reserves of resources to settle
the amount as they fall due.

Cash and bank deposits (including restricted

deposits)

The credit risk on cash at banks (including
restricted deposits) is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit
rating agencies. Transactions in relation to
derivative financial instruments, if any, are
only carried out with financial institutions of
high reputation. The Group has policies that
limit the amount of credit exposure to any

one financial institution.

3
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

BHERBEEREMIAQTE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of credit facilities. The Group aims
to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
credit lines available at all times.

The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities classified into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of the reporting period to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due
within twelve months equal their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

3

(%)

@ HMBREBRREEGE)

(ivy REE<£ER

EBEEHZRHDE SR
Eiﬁ?‘é%’ﬁﬁﬁftfﬁﬁﬁ
FRANEARIEER
éﬁé SRAIHAESE - A
BEEERNREFEEE
TE)JFH%EFU\ HEER
HEZEEMN -

UNIED T AKE 2%
BEE ZAEEHAR
EHREAVINHPAKT
HﬂF‘ﬂﬁk ‘*Ezﬁfﬁxﬂﬁﬁ
Mel e RPMBRESER
BAEMNKBRZRER
E-HARNMAZEEY
TEX BtZA@AR
K'JHﬂZmﬁ%EﬁiﬁEEﬁ@
HE

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

RREXFTRREER
Between Between
Carrying Lessthan 1and2 2and5
amount 1 year years years Total
BEE PR-F —-ZmF —Z1fF it
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T Fr Fr Tr
At 31 March 2021 RZTZ—F
=RA=+—-H
Trade payables BIENER 340,424 340,424 — — 340,424
Accruals and other JEETE R K E LT
payables B 803,798 749,954 = — 749,954
Amounts due to related A R NGIE
companies 4,032 4,032 — — 4,032
Lease liabilities MEBRE 3,735 2,690 1,006 167 3,863
Bank borrowings RITEE
— without repayable on -REREXEER
demand clause f& 5K 895,558 307,401 628,850 3,770 940,021
- with repayable on -MAERERER
demand clause f& R 21,908 8,300 8,151 6,015 22,466
2,069,455 1,412,801 638,007 9,952 2,060,760
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HEEREERSBHIAEAFE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued) @ BHXEREBREZEGE)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (ivy REVE Rk (#&)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BRAFTRARR G

Between  Between

Carrying Lessthan 1and2 2 and5
amount 1 year years years Total
BHE IR—F —EWFE —ELF GRS
$000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T

At 31 March 2020 RZZE-ZF
ZA=+—-H

Trade payables BIENER 288,987 288,987 = — 288,987
Accruals and other BiTERAK

payables HM AR 492,221 428,862 — — 428,862
Amounts due to related JE 5 B E A B BR X

companies 632 632 — — 632
Lease liabilities MEBE 4,665 3,363 1,439 — 4,802

Bank borrowings without 8B R EKE B KR
repayable on demand ZRITEE
clause 951,637 178,004 271,069 600,210 1,049,283

1,738,142 899,848 272,508 600,210 1,772,566
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns
for equity shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided
by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total
bank borrowings and lease liabilities less cash
and bank deposits (including restricted deposits).
Total capital is calculated as the total equity as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The Group’s strategy, which is unchanged from
prior year, is to maintain an acceptable net
gearing ratio. The net gearing ratios at 31 March
2021 and 2020 are as follows:

3 HEEREEREMIAQAFE

7 43
(&)

(b)

EcRBER

AEBEESEEZEEAR
BAEBILRFEERLERAEYE
BEBEZRN  BERFBEA
AR B 5] - [ B FE R A A
mEBEEZFZ  THEFHR
EZERERE -

SEFEHABRINTRREZ
RS- RETHRRZBA - 3
TH R L EEENRRE
& o

HEEANHEMAR K AEH
MAFERITEELRERH
BN ot R RIFE TR
RABERGE - FHEERE
R|TEERBENEERE
MRS R BRITER(BREXZR
BIFRK) - REARN R m BE
(ERE MBI KT ©

AEEY FHATETS B
RAEBHAERZ 2 BRITE
B RZTEZ—FKR=FT
—BEZA=+-BZFRT

BEELERINT:

2021 2020

—E-—F —EEHF

$000 $'000

Fr T+

Total bank borrowings RITBEE B 917,466 951,637
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,735 4,665
Less: Cash and bank deposits & : I & K #R 1777 %K (144,978) (264,042)
Restricted deposits = BR & 77 K (275,785) (33,440)

Net borrowings FIEE 500,438 658,820
Total equity EmBE 1,430,619 1,175,700
Net gearing ratio FRITBE L X 35% 56%
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3

176

(9]

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less ECL for trade and bills
receivable, other receivables and trade and
other payables are a reasonable approximation
of their fair values. The fair value of financial
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at
the current market interest rate that is available to
the Group for similar financial instruments.

The table below analyses financial instruments
carried at fair value, by valuation method. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (Level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The Group has a team headed by the Assistant
Accounting Director performing valuations for
the insurance contracts which are categorised
into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. A
valuation report with analysis of changes in fair
value measurement is prepared by the team at
each interim and annual reporting date, and is
reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial
Officer. Discussion of the valuation process and
results with the Chief Financial Officer is held
twice a year, to coincide with the reporting
dates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)
The following table presents the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis at 31 March 2021:

3

BHERRBEEREMIALQTE

(%)

(© 2RDFEMGEE)
WZZEZ—F=A=+—8"
AEBAREEER N FE
AAEEHmcEeMEENT:

2021 2020
—EF-F —EEHF
$’000 $°000
Fr T
Assets: BE:
Level 1 FE—E
— Listed equity securities — TR #E R 5
(note 14) (B 7E14) 7,445 —
Level 3 EF=
— Key management insurance —EBZEIEERR
contracts (note 14) &4 (Bt 5E14) 18,956 19,629
26,401 19,629

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the reporting date. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry Group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included
in Level 1.

EEBRBMHEEECEMTA
ZAFEREREB IS
B DB o i R E A BB e
EHRREZZSH X558 -
e FRAL - EERBE
FEERERES MKXFR
BREREBRAFRZHEREETT
ZEBRRERTEXZE » %
MISWRBERE - REBEF
BZeRMEECTHRER
ERETHRE - WETABR
EE—E -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3

178

(9]

Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible
If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are

on entity specific estimates.
observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument
is included in Level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

— Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for
similar instruments.

— The fair value of structured foreign exchange
forward products is determined using
Monte Carlo simulation, taking into account
of observable market parameters such
as forward exchange rates, volatility and
interest rates at the reporting date.

—  Other techniques, such as discounted cash
flow analysis including dividend growth
model, are used to determine fair value for
the remaining financial instruments.

There were no transfers of financial assets/
liabilities between Level 1,
fair value hierarchy classifications.

Level 2 and Level 3
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

3 MBEAREERSGBIAATE
()
© BDFEMEH )
EBE=BATENEEN

Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range  Weighted average
fh B R FUBEREAYE i E IR ¥ 33
Key management Discounted cash flow Discount rate 2.0%-2.01% 2.01%
insurance contracts model (2020: 2.0%-2.65%) (2020: 2.22%)
BEZERERRGHN HAREREL HEXR 2.0%-2.01% 2.01%

The fair value of insurance contracts is
determined using the discounted cash flow
model. The duration of the cash flows and
the specific timing of inflows and outflows
are determined by conditions in accordance
with the terms of the respective insurance
contracts. The periodic cash flow is estimated
as gross redemption value and interest income
less surrender charges. The series of periodic
net income for the contracting periods is then
discounted. The fair value measurement is
negatively correlated to the discount rate. As at
31 March 2021, it is estimated that with all other
variables held constant, a decrease/increase
in discount rate by 1% would have increased/
decreased the Group’s other comprehensive
income by $2,796,000 (2020: $2,542,000).

(ZE-TF: (—E-Z4:

—_—R == —_—=T—=

2.0%-2.65%) 2.22%)

RBRADZAFETIRAR
RBEEREZEZET -BHER
EZHRUAERARREZ
STERMIBESRBRENZ
BCRET - THRERED
et ALEREE R B K
NRERER - A08MAZ—
BRTHFRATIFATE -
AT EEEMBRETIR MG
BRI E-_—F=A=+—
H - fHEHERTE H i B 85
BEZBERT BRI/
BI% A&, RO AEE
2 HAn 2 MU A2,796,0007T
—ZT T4 :2,542,0007T) °
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3

180

(o)

HHERRBEEREMITIAQTE
(%)

Fair value estimation (continued) (o0 AFEMMGHE)
Information about Level 3 fair value EBEE=FEAFEIITEEH
measurements (continued) (4&)
The movement during the year in the balance FRZEZEE=ZEAFEHS=
of these Level 3 fair value measurements is as ZEREE T
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
$’000 $'000
Tr T
Key management insurance ~ ZZEEE
contracts R & A
Beginning of the year F 1 19,629 19,325
Additions NE 5,833 -
Disposal H & (6,794) —
Interest income recognised in NIE R Z
profit or loss FLB A 423 425
Exchange loss recognised in ~ MIE@m#ER 2
profit or loss I 5 & 18 (126) —
Fair value losses recognised ~ FAREMEE I A
in other comprehensive R AVFEER
income during the year 9) (121)
End of the year FIE 18,956 19,629

There were no fair value losses or gains for the
years included in profit or loss for these assets
held at 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other

including expectations of future events

that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates may be different from the actual results.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in future years are
discussed below.

(@)

(b)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade
receivables

The Group maintains a loss allowances of trade
receivables measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL of receivables stated at amortised
cost. The loss allowance is estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factor that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date. If there is a
change in the financial condition of the debtors,
actual write-offs would be higher or lower than
estimated.

Write-down of inventories

Inventories are written down to the net realisable
value based on an assessment of the realisability
of inventories. Write-downs on inventories
are recorded where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be realised. The identification of write-downs
requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value and write-downs of inventories.

4

2 & H B & A 5t

1t 51 B A B AR 95058 1 8 B e B
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5

182

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s chief operating decision-maker
(“Management”) reviews the Group’s internal reports
periodically in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Management has determined the
operating segments based on these reports.

The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into
three (2020: three) major operating segments. They
are (i) metal and plastic business; (ii) electronic
manufacturing services business; and (iii) real estate

business.

Management considers the business from both a
geographic and products and services perspective.
From a products and services perspective,
management assesses the performance of metal and
plastic business, electronic manufacturing services
business and real estate business. In addition, there
is further evaluation on a geographic basis (Japan,
Hong Kong, Mainland China, Asia (excluding Japan,
Hong Kong and Mainland China),
and Western Europe).

North America
Management assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on
operating profit. Segment information provided
to management for decision making is measured
in a manner consistent with that in the financial

statements.

A measurement of segment assets and liabilities is
not provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management and accordingly, no segment
assets or liabilities information is presented.
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The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2021

are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ 3K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)
SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

5 2WEmEGE)

BE_ZT_—F=ZHA=1+—HLF

BZ2DEBEEMT

2021
—E--F
Electronic
Metal and manufacturing

plastic services  Real estate
business husiness business Total
nEEB ETE% BRHE
% RIEEK % a4
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
I r r rn
Segment revenue AHRA
Revenue from external customers RENBEEZMA 1,895,368 898,006 399,243 3,192,617
Inter-segment revenue A EEBA 25,539 = = 25,539
Reportable segment revenue BEDBRA 1,920,907 898,006 399,243 3,218,516
Gross profit 7 404,628 48,024 261,405 714,057
Distribution and selling expenses and general ~ A #HREEERR—K R
and administrative expenses ﬁﬂl g ﬁ (133,212) (16,732) (34,767) (184,711)
Other (losses) and income/gains Hit (BB RMA /s (2,588) 1,689 3,500 2,601
Net valuation gain on investment properties Tx & %ﬁfﬁ”ﬁl #HE 1,184 — — 1,184
Operating profit =l 270,012 32,981 230,138 533,131
Operating profit includes: BeRNAE:
Depreciation and amortisation of property, W% BERZELFTER
plant and equipment -3 84,850 2,341 1,054 88,245
Amortisation of intangible assets BVEE B 1,543 S - 1,543
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of obsolete RE R B EBEEHE /
and slow-moving inventories (MR BE) 1,286 (1,286) = =
(Reversal of)/recognition of loss allowance for & 5 & 5 1 4 & 3
trade and bills receivable BEREEZ(RR)/ B2 @ 4 - -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

5  SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5 SBE|EE)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2020 BRE_ZT_THFE=-A=+—HILHF
are as follows: BZzo®MEREWT:
2020
kg ¥
Electronic
Metal and  manufacturing
plastic services  Real estate
business business business Total
ik 3 ETER BUHE
% KIZH £ af
$'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
T T T T
Segment revenue 2HUA
Revenue from external customers RENBEFZBA 1,632,236 997,767 272,205 2,902,208
Inter-segment revenue R L/ ON 32,823 — — 32,823
Reportable segment revenue REFHBMA 1,665,059 997,767 272,205 2,935,031
Gross profit £ 331,023 43,637 154,834 529,494
Distribution and selling expenses and general ~ AR HEBRR— K RTH
and administrative expenses R (114,570) (17,542) (18,685) (150,797)
Other income/gains A /s 2,658 102 1,684 4,444
Net valuation loss on investment properties ~ RENXEERRFE (2,361) — — (2,361)
Operating profit eyl 216,750 26,197 137,833 380,780
Operating profit includes: BERNER:

Depreciation and amortisation of property, W% BERZELHERE

plant and equipment # 60,250 1,743 978 62,971
Amortisation of intangible assets BYEEEH 1,504 = = 1,504
(Reversal of write-down)/write-down of obsolete [RE R &7 & (3 2

and slow-moving inventories BE)/Hm (2,145) 2,145 = =
Recognition of loss allowance for trade and bills E5 Rk EEENESRER

receivable B BA 92 . = 92
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
A reconciliation of operating profit to profit before
taxation is provided as follows:

/'\_lei&ﬂ:/ 5/

L RN P ERTADEM AT -

2021 2020

$000 $ 000

F Tz

Operating profit g A 533,131 380,780
Finance income B A 4,613 4,462
Finance costs B 75 B A< (7,975) (24,858)
Share of profits of an associate JE 1 BSs & A R) g A 1,487 1,354
Profit before taxation B T4 A 4 A 531,256 361,738

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue
and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, intangible assets and
investment in an associate (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of revenue is
based on the country in which the final destination
of shipment is located or services are provided and
properties are located. The geographical location
of the specified non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset, in the case of property,
plant and equipment, investment properties and the
location of the operations to which they are allocated,
in the case of intangible assets and investment in an
associate.

TRINE AR B Z WA K i) &
SEZME BEERE WED
X EBREEMRBEARZEKE
((TEEFRBEEAEME2E
Bt o WA BT o R 1R IR & R A 8
Bei s R IR E M ERER
RNl - HEFRRBDEEMEM
BzED  MBWE - BELERE
REENETIREBEZEEATZ
M E  MAETEEENMRE
BRRZEEDNRBEMRSES
B2 A -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

5 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5 S2B®EE)
The Group’s Specified non-current
revenue assets
AEEZHA EEXERBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—EC-F ZT2TH “E--F ZZ-ETF
$'000 $000 $/000 $'000
Fr T Fr T
Hong Kong (place of domicile)  &@ (&) 759,928 795907 41,136 42,561
Japan AR 38,213 61,237 = =
Mainland China KR 1,271,197 1,047,503 821,389 787,494
Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong ~ ZM(TBERE - FER
and Mainland China) HEARE) 138,699 214,263 — —
North America EEM 496,699 415,834 9 14
Western Europe 7B 487,881 367,464 — —
Sub-total 1N 2,432,689 2,106,301 821,398 787,508
3,192,617 2,902,208 862,534 830,069

186

The Group’s customer base includes three (2020:
three) customers with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. For the year
ended 31 March 2021, the total revenue from sales
of merchandise in the metal and plastic business and
electronic manufacturing services business, including
sales to entities which are known to the Group to
be under common control with these customers,
amounted to approximately $2,196,185,000 (2020:
$2,234,127,000) and arose in all geographical
regions in which the businesses are active. Details
of concentrations of credit risk arising from these
customers are set out in note 3(a)(iii).

The Group’s sales are made primarily to a few key
customers. For the year ended 31 March 2021, the
revenue derived from five largest customers accounted
for approximately 79% (2020: 83%) of the Group’s
total revenue.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % I B (2 #2= IR B R 2 7
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BIEEE REHERSBRBE
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ABERARAEEMAZEZE
REARESHcERBZHER) D
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 ¥R R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

6 WX BERRHE

Land use Properties Fixtures and Furniture and
rights and leased for Construction-  leasehold Toolsand  computer
leasehold land Buildings ownuse in-progress improvements  Machinery  equipment  equipment Total
1ibERE BE %ER IR BARR
REELH BF M¥BR KERIER NE%8 BE  RRE EERE L
$'000 $/000 $/000 $'000 $'000 $/000 $/000 $/000 $/000
T T Tr Tr T T r i T
Cost: B
At1 April 2020 “Z-Z§MA-A 25,277 331,634 7,786 1,478 102,967 513,562 52,105 102,093 1,136,902
Additions KB — - 2,748 6,880 10,708 28,571 12,108 21,389 82,404
Disposals HE - - - - (377) (12,852) (4,516) (1,235) (18,980)
Exchange adjustments ABRE = = 638 287 7,884 21,265 3,791 4,256 38,121
At31 March 2021 25,277 331,634 11,172 8,645 121,182 550,546 63,488 126,503 1,238,447
Accumulated depreciation, RiFE BHR
amortisation and REGE:
impairment losses:
At 1 April 2020 “ZZZEMA-H 8,823 80,015 3,253 - 48,468 381,690 25,133 78,682 626,064
Charge for the year EENR 499 6,474 4,133 = 7,364 49,754 6,834 13,187 88,245
Written back on disposals RHEZHE = = = = (345) (12,838) (4,402) (1,226) (18,811)
Exchange adjustments JERE - - 344 - 5,567 12,259 1,705 3,576 23,451
At 31 March 2021 ZE--#=f=1-H 9322 86,489 7,730 - 61,054 430,865 29,270 94,219 718,949
Net book value: REFE:
At 31 March 2021 —E--%=f=t+-H 15,955 25,145 3,442 8,645 60,128 119,681 34,218 32,284 519,498
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

6  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 6 YE BERREE)
Land use
rights and Properties Fixtures and Furniture and
leasehold leased for - Construction- leasehold Toolsand ~ computer
land Buildings ownuse in-progress improvements  Machinery  equipment  equipment Total
THRERE HE RER I&  BHR
hEELTH BT WXBR ERIER WEEE #E  LRE EEZR af
§'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 §'000 §'000

i T T i T Tn i i T

Cost: HA:
At1 April 2019 —E-AfMmA-A 25,277 331,611 7,703 192 86,941 506,826 45,740 89,139 1,093,429
Additions FE - - - 1357 28,186 53,719 11,770 18,780 113,812
Transfers &% = 23 = (31) 8 = = = =
Disposals HE - - - - (7,644) (25,276) (2,283) (1,899) (37,101)
Adjustments due to modifications B {EH 2 H& - - 621 — — — — — 621
Exchange adjustments AERE - = (538) (40) (4524) (21,707) (3,122) (3,928) (33,859)
At 31 March 2020 —“E-ZF=f=1-8 25,277 331,634 7,786 1,478 102,967 513,562 52,105 102,093 1,136,902
Accumulated depreciation, 2 FE BER

amortisation and HERE:

impairment losses:
At 1 April 2019 ZE-AEWA-A 8323 73,045 - - 53,821 384,863 23,932 74,527 618,511
Charge for the year FENR 500 6,970 3,341 = 4,565 33,496 4,846 9,253 62,971
Written back on disposals HEZHE = = = — (7,576) (23,709) 2,177) (1,882) (35,344)
Exchange adjustments ABRE = — (88) — (2,342) (12,960) (1,468) (3,216) (20,074)
At 31 March 2020 “Z-ZF=f=1-8 8,823 80,015 3,253 - 48,468 381,690 25,133 78,682 626,004
Net hook value: FEEE:
At 31 March 2020 “$-%§=8=1-8 16,454 251,619 4,533 1,478 54,499 131,872 26,972 23,411 510,838

T E K& # 8B A $81,143,0007T
(Z & = & #:59,604,0007T) &
7102,0007T (ZZZZ 4 : 3,367,000
TL) 2 B FEA WA KA~ — 8 R AT
BHER -

Depreciation and amortisation expense of
$81,143,000 (2020: $59,604,000), $7,102,000 (2020:
$3,367,000) has been charged to cost of revenue,
general and administrative expenses, respectively.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 6

Right-of-use assets
The Group’s interests in right-of-use assets at
their net book values are analysed as follows:

ME - BERRKEE)

@ ERAEEE
AEBEEREEEZ#ER
REBREFESNTWT

2021 2020
—B=-—F —E-FHF
$7000 $°000
Fr T
Leasehold land and buildings RN & &+ A 2 HE
in Hong Kong, held on 13 RIBF10E
leases between 10 to 50 50%% ZHE
years (note (i) (B 2 ) 1,873 1,978
Land use rights and buildings 75 BI#5A L b (& /7 #
in the PRC, held on leases ~ REFI10E50FH 2
between 10 to 50 years 78 & (FY i)
(note (ii)) 259,227 266,095
261,100 268,073
Properties leased for own use HE¥ X AR Z
carried at depreciated cost rE ‘AR
(note (i) (B i) 3,442 4,533
264,542 272,606
(i) Leasehold land and buildings in Hong (i FEEEHELHRE
Kong held for own use FHEEH
The Group holds several buildings for its REEFAEETETIE
office and warehouses. The Group is the RPRRERRE - R&EH
registered owner of these property interests, RZEDFEER(BRE *ﬁ
including the whole or part of undivided Faifﬂmiuﬁi‘u‘ﬁ
share in the underlying land. Lump sum a] 7> & & )Z%Eﬂﬁ%ﬁ
payments were made upfront to acquire A REEL—FBIAN
these property interests from their previous A5 2 B GEMER A

registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of
the land lease, other than payments based
on rateable values set by the relevant
government authorities. These payments
vary from time to time and are payable to
the relevant government authorities.

WEYMERER  BRIEA
B4 IR T B P9 AR E 2 FE AR
ZMBEE MR K
B AR IR i T B R
REEETZIMAR - %F
RN E) - I A
THBEMFEM -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 6

6

190

(@

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i) Land use rights and buildings in the PRC
held for own use
The Group holds several buildings for
its factories. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including
the underlying land use rights. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the
land lease.

(iii) Properties leased for own use
The Group has obtained the right to use
other properties as its warehouses through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 2 to 3 years with
no extension options. None of these leases
includes variable lease payments.

Buildings leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out an insignificant portion of
factories located in PRC under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1
year. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments. Undiscounted lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in place at the
reporting date will be receivable by the Group in
the coming year is $nil (2020: $84,000).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 Il B B2 £ Ig B BE 2 7

ME - BERREE)

(@

(b)

EREEE#E)

(i) HFEFELHERER
HEBFHEBEH
AEBRBETEFIE

RBE AEESZE
MEEE (BEHAELH
AR ZEMERA-
AEBA-—FBENRK
[ % 2 BT A A
WEmEED A5HE
1BE 4 AR 4K £ 1 A B 1K K
EEET M-

(i) FEHEMEEEHN
AEBECERAHEEWZ
ESMEEREREZ
£ RAER - 8 & 1058
FRUEMFE=FKE
EHEERE -SEHEE
BRAZSHHEEMNNK-

RELEeHEEHZEF
AEFBNKEEHEZ A H
MR RFBEZ—/NEBD TR -
HHEYVBERE—F - #
EHERENEHHEENK -
REBPRREBSDELE 2TA]
BHEERETZ RERITR
HerkfesrE(ZZE-_F
£ 84,0007T) °



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REW=

2021 2020

—E-—F —ZEZETF

$’000 $'000

T T

Beginning of the year F ¥ 294,800 318,600
Additions NE = 101
Exchange differences HmER 21,436 (21,540)
Fair value adjustment N EHE 1,184 (2,361)
End of the year FE 317,420 294,800

The investment properties are under construction

and located in the PRC under lease terms of 40 years
expiring in August 2050 to January 205T.

Fair value measurement of properties

(@)

Fair value hierarchy
As at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, the fair
value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties is categorised into Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020, there were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

ETFBRZERTREDEDRIE
E%E+$W:E£%$Aﬂi

ER-F-AFHZHEEHM

%E

WEZ AT ENE

(a)

NEEER
R_E-—F=ZA=+—8K
R-E-_ZTF=A=+—H"
$%@&ﬁ%¥zﬂ$ﬁﬁ
EREBUFHREERSE
135);7 (A FEEFEIZEERD
BHARAF-ELAFEER-

@E_E:—E&_v_vi
—A=+—BLEER
A%—E%Zﬁiﬂkﬁ
ME=ZBRITEGSHKEA -
AEBZHERRBESHR
BRAFEERAERE &
%7, o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value measurement of properties (continued)

7

192

(@)

(b)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The valuation of the Group’s investment
properties as at 31 March 2021 was conducted
by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent
professional valuer, which has among its staff
members of Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
The investment properties were valued on
the basis that it would be developed and
completed in accordance with the Group’s latest
development proposals. The Chief Financial
Officer has discussion with the independent
professional valuer in the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each interim and annual reporting
date.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “net valuation gain/
(loss) on investment properties” on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements
Valuation
techniques
i {8 i

7

REWME(E)
ME2AFEFEE)

(a)

(b)

NEBEEBHRKE)
R-_E-_—F=A=+—8"
REBEZREMERLEBILE
XA kFTHEBRRA
RAGEE  HEEBESH
AEMBereg - KEME
HEEASEBEETERER
EVERABEE  2REH
MR ER 2t EEE N 2
BEEEBRSIABHZATEE
TEERMEEZERTK A
BEERENA - EEHHK
EFEREFETHER  HF
BB EB T EFET AN
WEFEBE RS

REMEZRTERABTIR
RABmR EZ[WEYEMA
e,/ (B18) %5 ] — AR

. °

FHEFE=-ZERLTEFEZ
a#

Unobservable
inputs

TUBRZEE

Range
i 5T 8 &

Investment properties
— land in the PRC

Market comparison
approach

BREWE —NFH
Z T

[RE 324 1975

Investment properties Residual method
— property under

development in the

PRC
REME —NTHE R R O%
ZHERYE

Adjustment factor
on size and
location of the
properties

WEEBRUEZ
HEBRAXER

Adjustment factor
on size and
location of the
properties

MEmMBRUEZ
HEBEREE

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % Rl B B2 #= IR B IR 2 7

-36% — -25%
(2020:
-21% — 6%)

-36% — -25%
(ZE=FTF:
-21% — 6%)
-52% — -3%
(2020:
-31% — -15%)

-52% — 3%
—E-FEF:
31% - -15%)



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
7  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 7 REWEE)
Fair value measurement of properties (continued) MEZAFETFEE)
(b) Information about Level 3 fair value b) EBEFE=ZBRLAFETEZ

measurements (continued)

The fair value of land that in the PRC classified
as investment properties is determined using
the market comparison approach by making
reference to the comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant market was adopted.
The adjustment factors used have been adjusted
for the size and location of the properties. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to
the adjustment factors on size and location of the
properties.

The fair value of property under development
in the PRC classified as investment properties is
determined using the residual method by making
reference to the comparable transactions or
asking cases as available in the relevant market
and it had taken into account the construction
costs that will be expended to complete the
development to reflect the quality of the
completed development. The adjustment factors
used have been adjusted for the size and location
of the properties. The fair value measurement is
positively correlated to the adjustment factors on
size and location of the properties.

a8 (&)

RPBESBER/RKREMEZL
2 AR T E BT 5
EEE X2 ERETSE
BALLBHERS - EAZ
AERNZERYEZEER
MEHETHE QFEFE
HEYEEELME ZHER
EJHIEEEE o

RFEDERRENEZHE
BYME2RFETERRH
EEE  WEREHREMISAE
B BHERS Y E
B e FEIRBBIEENER
RS - VAR BRE SE R B 3 TR B
ZEE -ERZHAEBRERE
BYWEzEBERMUEETH
B-RVEFEEYXEE
B zBEREKTILE R
7 o

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 £ 193



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

8

194

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8 BIEEE
Computer
software
S
$'000
Fr
Cost: oA g
At 1 April 2020 and —TEFMHA-BR
at 31 March 2021 —E-—%=ZA=+—H 14,412
Accumulated amortisation: Bir#e .
At 1 April 2020 —E-TFMA—AH (6,519)
Charge for the year FEMK (1,543)
At 31 March 2021 —E-—49=ZAF=+—H (8,062)
Net Book Value: BREEE
At 31 March 2021 —E-_—F¥=A=+—H 6,350
Cost: K
At 1 April 2019 —ET-hFMOA—H 14,183
Additions NE 229
At31 March2020 = F=-FF=A=ft-H 14,412
Accumulated amortisation: Rat#Ee:
At 1 April 2019 —E-NFWOA—H (5,015)
Charge for the year FEHKk (1,504)
At 31 March 2020 —E-FEF=ZA=+—H (6,519)
Net Book Value: BREFEME:
At 31 March 2020 —E-EF=A=+—H 7,893

Amortisation of $1,543,000 (2020: $1,504,000) was
included in general and administrative expenses in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year

ended 31 March 2021.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZXIBEIRZERER 2 7

HE_ZTZ-_—4F=-A=+—HIL
FE 1,543,000 #H (T =F
% :1,504,0000) BIEEHKEE R
KPR —MRITHER -



SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company as at 31 March 2021 are:

establishment and
types of legal entity
i/ RIBER

2y

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

9 MEBATE
AKRNRIRZE-_—F=A=+—H
FTEHRBA TZéﬂ-

Principal activities and
place of operation

IRERREENY

Particulars of issued/
paid-up capital Interest held

E&/CHRA igcdit

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

Karrie Industrial Company

e=ll]

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

Karrie Technologies
Company Limited

ENRRHRARLE

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

Karwin Engineering
Company Limited

FERHIRERAA

Sale of server casings, office automation
products, visual accessories, plastic
and metal parts, metal stamping dies
and plastic injection moulds and
provision of management services,
Hong Kong

HERRSENG RLEXEER P8

At ZBREBAM  EAER

ARIREARRHEERE 2R

Manufacturing and sales of plastic parts,
sales of metal stamping dies and
plastic injection moulds, provision of
electronic manufacturing services and
investment holdings, Hong Kong
RERHELRHS cEAERAR
AERE RUBTEERIRBR
REER BE

Design, manufacture and sale of server
casings, office automation products
and visual accessories; sale of plastic
and metal parts, metal stamping
dies, plastic injection moulds and
investment holdings, Hong Kong
Rt RERHEARENR HAZE
XEEQRPRAN HELBRE

Bl 2BRERE FBRAR

RERK 2R

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 F

Ordinary shares of $1,000 100%

Non-voting deferred shares of
$5,000,000 (i)

E&ER1,0007T
ERZERETTARS,000,0007T()

Ordinary shares of $30,000,000 100%

4 7%30,000,0007T

Ordinary shares of $10 100%
Non-voting deferred shares of

$100 (i)

mE
ool
%

i
AR RELRI007)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

9

196

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Principal activities and

9 |‘§ﬁ=—/‘\ /f)

Particulars of issued/

Name types of legal entity ~place of operation paid-up capital Interest held
2RItk
iR EEERER IRRBREEHA ERfT/BARE frE e
REBEREERBNLE The PRC, limited Manufacture of server casings, office Paid-up capital $174,755,000 (ii) 100%
ERAA liability company ~ automation products and metal parts,
the PRC
PEERRELT  RERRENZ BLEXEERRE SHEER74,755,0007 )
Bt hHE
REAEEREBRS The PRC, limited ~ Manufacture of server casings, office  Paid-up capital $128,510,000 (ii) 100%
BRAT] liability company ~ automation products, visual
accessories, moulds and plastic parts;
provision of electronic manufacturing
services, the PRC
THERATAR RERMRENR BOEXEER ¥ SHER185100007 i)
Bk RARZBET REETE
ERIKRHE P8
REFEETEX The PRC, limited ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital $428,000,000 (iv) 100%
NS liability company
THERALLR  HANE A B 415 428,000,000 iv)
ERZNABAERE The PRC, limited ~ Property development and management, ~ Paid-up capital US$20,000,000 (v) 100%
ERAA liability company ~ the PRC
TRRRRMLLR  MERERRER PE E 8% %£20,000000% T
EREREXARAT The PRC, limited ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital US$16,000,000 (vi 100%
liability company
TEERALAR  HENX TH B 8 E 716,000,000 7T (v)
REREFHERE The PRC, limited Property development, the PRC Paid-up capital US$43,700,000 (vii) 100%
BRAT liability company
THERALLR  NEER TE E 4 %43,700,000% T (vl
BEGERFFHERE  ThePRC limited  Property development, the PRC Paid-up capital RMB97,501,000 (vii) 100%

ERRA

liability company
HEEREELT

NE%R TE

B & &R ARE97501,0007T (vili)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZXIBEIRZERER 2 7



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITTHIR)

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(vii)

(viii)

The non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights,
are not entitled to dividends, and are not entitled
to distributions upon winding up unless a sum of
$200,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant
companies to holders of the ordinary shares.

FEBEEZBE2RBRSER QA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years up to 19 May 2026.

FEEERLLELRBRASER DA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years up to 24 May 2026.

RERBEETFTEEABRAT is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 25 years up to 18 February 2030.

EHEEMNEBREREZEER LA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 40 years up to 2 December 2049.

HEBFEXERADA is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 40 years up to 22 March 2051.

ZnelFEMEAFR2AF is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 20 years up to 17 September 2033.

HEE=RANFEMERZEAMR AT is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with a long-term
operating period.

9

i A ()
W o

() EREEEERMNIYIEHAEER
FrvEd - WERGERERE  IE
BHZRE - BRIFRBATIEER
BrmETRRERE  EEBA
200,000,000,0007C : & Bl 3% & i&
MEEIZEMDIK ©

iy REBEREBEZ2BASERA

*F#lﬁiié‘%ﬁ&l\éi%
HEEHR/THF  R-TRX
FhAtAAEM -

iy REBERZBBASERAAD
—RAPBERI2ERENEDE
HEEZEHMRA+RE  R-_T-X
FRAZ+TMARER -

ivv REREETEEERAAD—RN
FEKZ 2 EEAINE D % HE
EHRA-_+RE WN-T=ZTF
ZRA+NBER -

v HEZMEBEAERAZBRAA
T—RAPBERIE2ERFINE

¥ HEAXHRANL+TH  HIZZ

MAE+—_A—-BEMm-

vi) BEEBFBEEERQATI—RAF
lﬁkiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁm% HE%
HERAOTF RZZERA—F=A
T+ Z=HEm -

(vii) ERAEHEREERA
—F¢IWI%§%§%§¢¥
H2ZHRA-TF  RZT==
FALA+TERER

vii) BEZRRMNEHEREERA

A —RPERKIEEERINE
¥ HEZHRARS -
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Bt 5 ¥ R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

10 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 10 REBEEQAFZRE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZEF
$/000 $°000
Fr Tt
Share of net assets BEEERE
Beginning of the year F 9 16,538 16,327
Share of profits of an associate JEAG B & 2 R& 1,487 1,354
Exchange difference =R 1,241 (1,143)
End of the year FR 19,266 16,538
Balances with an associate BEBRERNTZER
Amount due to an associate J& 1< B & R B BR K
(note 35(b)) (Bf 7E35(b)) 1,669 4,083
The outstanding balances due to an associate are ZELHERNA R AERENZER
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, PEEA - TFAME - WEEK
and are denominated in RMB. REE RAARBREL -
Particulars of the associate of the Group is as follows: AEEBE AR ZFHABERET
Proportion of ownership
interest
FEEZNLH
Place of Group's
establishment and Particulars of issued effectie  Held bya
Name of associate types of legal entity  Principal activities and place of operation ~ and paid-up capital interest  subsidiary
RIBHR ’ e Y 2
BENTLH EEEEEH IERBREERY ERT/E4RE ZARERS &
BREGHZAMBERA  The PRC, limited Research, sales of industrial robots and robot ~ Ordinary shares of 30% 30%
B R 2 ("Cuifeng’) liability company peripheral automation equipment, and RMB10,000,000
provision of automation solution, the PRC
ERRERZANRKSL +EARELNE BT WEIXREAREEAREEIR LRRARK
ARAA(2E)) o REREBLBATR E 10,000,0007C
Cuifeng is a listed corporate entity on the National RERPEARAMBE 2B /)
Equities Exchange and Quotations of the PRC whose rERMEBEERGEE  WRE
quoted market price is not available. mHHE -
198 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 FI B PR #2 i & R 2 =
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
Summarised financial information of the associate

adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and
reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated

RBERT 2 RE(E)

RESFABRRZ2EMEZFER
ZBMERRPFHBERME  WE
REUBHRRZEREETH

financial statement are disclosed below: BB :
Cuifeng
2 g
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZETF
$000 $'000
Fr T+
Gross amounts of the associate Bf& N7 A%
Current assets MEEE 48,289 60,016
Non-current assets EMBE E 5,167 6,098
Current liabilities RBBRE (11,399) (31,649)
Net assets/equity BEFE TR 42,057 34,465
Revenue WA 50,206 57,864
Profit for the year FE &M 4,956 4,512
Total comprehensive income for FE 2 U A 858
the year 4,956 4,512
Reconciled to the Group’s AHERAEERBE
interests in the associate AR ZRER
Gross amounts of net assets of the Bt& NG 2 /FE E 425
associate 42,057 34,465
Fair value adjustments on W EEIR 2 9 R
identifiable intangible assets BREEATERAE
upon acquisition 31,034 28,930
Capital injection by the Group rEBITE (14,160) (13,200)
58,931 50,195
Group’s effective interest REBZERER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of the 7x & & & {5 5t & A 7
associate EEFE 17,679 15,058
Goodwill EES 4,077 3,970
Impairment losses recognised B B 1B HE R (2,490) (2,490)
Carrying amount in the RiZa B mRERT®
consolidated financial FREE
statements 19,266 16,538
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 F 199
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

11

200

INTERESTS IN A JOINT OPERATION IN RESPECT OF
A PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

On 1 August 2016, the Group entered into a
cooperation agreement (the “Agreement”) with Kar
Info International Property Limited (“Kar Info”),
a related company of the Group, regarding a real
estate development project (the “Project”) in the
PRC. According to the Agreement, an area of land
held by REmMBEMBERKE B R QA (the
“Project Company”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kar
Info), would be used for construction of residential
suites and public amenities. The Group agreed to
participate in the Project by making an investment in
the amount of $140,000,000 in consideration to Kar
Info of it being entitled to a share of profit from the
Project through selling the properties in the future.
The transaction contemplated under the Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Agreement was expired
on 22 March 2021 in accordance with the agreed
terms.

The details of the joint operation are as follows:

11

REBYUXBR2BEEECHE
#®
RZE—R"ENA—RHB X&H
REERNTEEMERZEEAR
([ I8 B J) 8 7K & H B8 & 2 & Kar
Info International Property Limited
(TKar Infol) RT3 & 1F & ([ 2
B REZWBHE AR=MR
MBAEKREMBRAR(EER
Al Kar Infoz 2 BB AR #
BZz- BRI BAREEEEE
ERAXER AEEREKRE
140,000,0007T £ /3 32 f+ T Kar Info
ZREZEZER  UNEHERE
BESNBEFHEZFWEM A%
HEES G - RIBELETHRAE
T4AT  ZE BN RETZIRS
BR—HBAERS - RN_FT_—F
= At A& B &R IE & 155K
(IR

BRBAEEZFRBON:

Total gross Completion date

Location Land Use floor area (m?) (calendar year)

HMIEEHEE W T HEH

vE + i A & (7 K) (B %)

Phase 3, Castfast Villas, Fenggang Town,  Residential 60,911 2018/2019
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province,

the PRC
TEERERETEMERESZE=S F= 60,911 —ZT-N/
—E-NF

The Group’s assets held in relation to the joint
operation include the investment cost contributed
by the Group and the related construction costs
capitalised. The balance is shown on the consolidated
statement of financial position as property
development (note 16). As at 31 March 2021, the
carrying amount of property development in respect
of the joint operation was $nil (2020: $148,996,000).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % Rl B B2 #= IR B IR 2 7

REERBEEERBECEESR
BAEEIAZEEKRARER
b2 BRBEXAE  RERGESE
MBARREKPIEDEERE (W5
16) c R_ZE-_—F=A=+—8 "
EB e ECMEER KRR
BARE(ZE T F 148,996,000
JT) °



11

12

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ 3K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

INTERESTS IN A JOINT OPERATION IN RESPECT OF 11
A PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, there was an amount due from

Kar Info in relation to the joint operation amounting

to $129,171,000 which is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and with no fixed repayment terms (2020:
$113,833,000). The amount consists of the share of
profits through selling the properties and expenses
incurred for the Project throughout the agreement
term.

REBYERRCBAEEZE
&= (&)
RZE-_—F=A=+—H ®
% & % & & W Kar Info 2 X 18
129,171,000 & &\ 38 « 5 A
BEREETERBER(ZE_ZF
113,833,0007T) - Z 2 B BEIEE B
HEMEESZ MMHERER
EEZHAE -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 12 RENI>EZE®MIA
Financial assets measured Other
at amortised cost financial assets Total
DY §-102
HESREE HbeREE af
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“E--F CECRE CEC-% R CEC-F ZFCTE
§/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §000
n r n r r r
Assets EE
Trade, bills and other receivables £ 5 ZH R Et BN K
(note 13) (Fi3E13) 675,594 331,595 - — 675594 331,595
Prepayments (note 13) BN Eak) 58,997 42,016 - - 58,997 4,016
Deposits (note 13) & (W) 18,109 29,768 ~ — 18,109 29,768
Other financial assets (note 14) ~ Et @ BEE(fi14) = = 26,401 19,629 26,401 19,629
Restricted deposits (note 17) FRHGR(HE17) 275,785 33,440 - — 275785 33,440
Cash and bank deposits (note 18) ~ %£ REFTF 3 (H5E16) 144978 264,042 = — 144978 264,04
Amounts due from related companies & 41 B & 72 &% 3t
(note 35(h)) (Ft 5£35(b) 131,082 115,135 - — 131,082 115135

1,304,545 815,996

26,401 19,609 1330946 835,625
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12  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 12 RENI2EZEMIAE)
(continued)
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZETF
$’000 $'000
T T
Liabilities afE
Trade payables, accruals and BHRENMERR
other payables (note 22) JEETE A N A
JE 1 BR 3R (B 5E22) 1,144,222 781,208
Bank borrowings (note 23) RITEE (M17E23) 917,466 951,637
Amount due to an associate JE AT B 2 N B BR 3K
(note 10) (KF5E10) 1,669 4,083
Amounts due to related FENEEARERR
companies (note 35(b)) (Bt 5£35(b)) 4,032 632
2,067,389 1,737,560
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13 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS, 13 BEZREBEWERNR  BARK -
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES B & OH B W R
2021 2020
— —EEHF
$’000 $°000
Fr T
Trade and bills receivable EENE S TN 658,557 301,670
Other receivables H b & UK BR 3K 17,326 30,244
675,883 331,914
Less: Loss allowance for trade and & : B 5 & F 1% & Uk
bills receivable R EEEE (289) 319
675,594 331,595
Prepayments a3 58,997 42,016
Deposits b g A 18,109 29,768
752,700 403,379
Less: Other non-current assets o B IER BB E
(Note) (P &) (10,849) (38,300
741,851 365,079
Representing: k!
Trade and bills receivable, net of &5 K& 2 & E W R 3
allowance Mk EEE 658,268 301,351
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ TE{f 3k » &€& K& E fb i
receivables W BR 3k 83,583 63,728
741,851 365,079
Note: Other non-current assets represent deposits paid Mizt: Hth3EnBEERKRBEEYWE
for the purchase of property, plant and equipment BEREHE ZENRESESERN
and intangible assets amounted to approximately 7%10,849,0007T (= & = & F:
$10,849,000 (2020: $19,160,000), and a government 19,160,0007T) & # BT # 5 #
grant receivable from Jiangsu Yixing Economic Wi i v FEWOT & B B ALK
Development Zone Investment and Development HERREERARAAZK
Company Limited amounted to $nil (2020: $19,140,000) NEHeBAE( T F:
in relation to the acquisition of a piece of land in Yixing, 19,140,0007T) - RBE=-_T = —
Jiangsu, the PRC. During the year ended 31 March 2021, FZA=+—RBLEFE EBHKK
the government grant receivables of $20,100,000 (2020: T &B)% %820,100,0007T (ZF =
$nil) was written off and recorded in other income/gains T E)EMOB LA B A
(note 27). /e zs (B EE27) ©
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13

204

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
The Group generally grants credit periods ranging
from 30 to 90 days, except for four (2020: three) of
the customers who is granted a credit period over 90
days. An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivable,

13

ESREBREWERR  BAR &
cREMEWREKRR(ZE)

BREGAOU(ZE_ZEF :=ZM)F
FzEHBB0BN - REB—#R
BYEPZEEA30HBE90ARH - &
SREBERRERIZEZHHE

based on invoice date, is as follows: HZHREDTOT

2021 2020
—E-—% —E-ET4HE
$’000 $°000
Fr T
0 to 90 days 0&90H 651,073 291,397
91 to 180 days 912180 H 5,098 8,972
181 to 360 days 1812 360H 2,386 954
Over 360 days 3600 A k£ — 347
658,557 301,670

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivable, BHREBREBWERR - AR &

prepayments, deposits and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

The receivables are expected to be recovered within
one year. Any amounts not expected to be recovered
within one year are not included in current assets.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and
bills receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % I B (2 #2= IR B R 2 7

ThEMEBRER 2 FEmERA
NFER -

R R R TE M E —FAKE
TReEARITEE—FAKE
AT BRRARBEENA °

AEBESGREBRRER ZE
BRBAEASNEEAFTERL
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13  TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS, 13 EZREBEWERR FAMR - &
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) SR EMEWREDRZ)
The following table provides information about the TREHRIEHEBEAERZE G &
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and FEEWEREERR RERE
bills receivable as at 31 March: BEEER=_BR=1+—8:
2021
—E-—F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHEEEX KRHEHALE BEEE
% $’000 $’000
T T
Current (not past due) EREI(RBER) 0.00 585,295 g
1 to 90 days past due 1 H11E90H 0.33 65,739 220
91 to 180 days past due # H191ZE180H 0.92 7,523 69
658,557 289
2020
—ETF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount  allowance
TEHEEX KREH&EE BEREB
% $’000 $'000
T+ T
Current (not past due) EA(RE ) 0.02 280,711 55
1 to 90 days past due B HI1E90H 0.09 18,290 16
91 to 180 days past due #8191 £180H 2.71 1,320 36
181 to 360 days past due B H31812=360H 9.34 1,254 117
Over 360 days past due 1 89360 H A 100.00 95 95
301,670 319

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss EHEEXENBEZEREBR
experience in the past. These rates are adjusted to R o LB R GBI E
reflect differences between economic conditions FESE 8RB 2 B ARRN - B AT
during the period over which the historical data has AR ST AN 7K £2 1B S Ui AR R TR B A
been collected, current conditions and the Group’s HZRBRAABEZRZER -
view of economic conditions over the expected lives

of the receivables.
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13 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movement in loss allowance account in respect of

trade and bills receivables is as follows:

R REHEUER  AAK - 2
& B KA BB U R K (1)

EME SR R 5 R
BB BT

206

2021 2020

—E-—F —EFF

$’000 $°000

Fr Tt

Beginning of the year F ¥ 319 3,329
Recognition of allowance during  EA N & 18 # & 2

the year R — 92
Written-off of trade and bills EENE Sy

receivables BR 7K 88 (30) (3,102)

End of the year FIE 289 319

The recognition of allowance for impaired receivables
is included in general and administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of independent customers that
had a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect
of these balances as there had been no significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying value of trade and
bills receivable, deposits and other receivables stated
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

The credit quality of the Group’s trade and bills
receivable, deposits and other receivables that
are past due but not impaired has been assessed
by reference to the historical information about
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties
do not have significant defaults in the past.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % I B (2 #2= IR B R 2 7
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14 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

14 Hihes@mEE

2021 2020
— —TTF
$’000 $000
Fr TIT
Financial assets measured at BRAFETAHAM
FVOCI (recycling) FHEMBRA B [E)
AEZERMEE
— Key management insurance — EZERE
contracts (unlisted ‘e (GELT
investments) (note (i) 1% &) (KT 5 G)) 18,956 19,629
Equity securities designated at RiEZESFFAREMEE
FVOCI (non-recycling) L NCCIE:IED)
— Equity securities listed & B A SN £ R RE
outside Hong Kong (note (ii)) Z (B 5% (i) 7,445 —
26,401 19,629

Notes:

(i)

At 31 March 2021, the insurance contracts represented
life insurance plans with investment elements relating
to two key management personnel of the Group. The
total sum insured is US$7,081,000 (approximately
$54,878,000) (2020: US$4,681,000 (approximately
$36,512,000), with an annual minimum guaranteed return
of 2.0% to 4.2% for the first 10 years and 2.0% for the
years afterwards.

At 31 March 2021, if the Group terminated the insurance
contracts, the account value, net of a surrender charge
of US$2,117,000(approximately $16,407,000) (2020:
US$2,215,000 (approximately $17,275,000)), would be
refunded to the Group. The amount of surrender charge
decreases over time and is no longer required from the
19th year of contract conclusion onwards.

The listed equity securities outside Hong Kong are
shares in T.Krungthai Industries Public Co., Ltd. (“TKT"),
an automotive parts and components and moulds
manufacturer in Thailand. The Group designated its
investment in TKT at FVOCI (non-recycling), as the
investment is held for strategic purposes. No dividends
were received on this investment nor disposal of
investment was made during the year ended 31 March
2021.

iy RZEBE-Z—F=ZA=Z=+—H" &
RBENEAEB _RETEE
BEABZERERDZ ASE
IR B 4 1R B A7,081,000% T
(4754,878,000L) (= & = & F:
4,681,000% 7T (4936,512,0007T)) -
BETFRERZFRARESEF2.0%
F42% N EETF2.0% °

RZB-_—F=A=+—80" &
AEBRIEZREBEH  RBRE
FHIKRRRER%EAB2117,000%
7 (#916,407,000 ) (T =F F ¢
2,215,0003 7T (4917,275,0007T)) &
ZURE FAER o RRKE R
MR RREZEHNETEERBETNE
AR A ULER -

i)y BEUANMLETBRBEEZ B
T.Krungthai Industries Public Co.,
Ltd ([TKTD) Z Bt - REEEER
BTN @A REA - AR
MRHEZRE  AEBEEETKTR
ERBEAFEFAHEMLZEKA
(RAajgEm) - BE-_ZT-—F=A
=t+—RFER  LEEIBE X
HEZKE -
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15 INVENTORIES

(@

(b)

208

Inventories in the consolidated statement of

rE

@ RNEEWBURRARZIFEER

financial position comprise: ¥
2021 2020
—EB-—F —ZEZETF
$’000 $'000
Fr Fr
Raw materials R #4 # 114,302 156,602
Work-in-progress + &K 52,916 54,484
Finished goods £ o 223,854 317,779
391,072 528,865

The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in “cost

of revenue” in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss (note 28) is as follows:

b FEZZHECHEIA/ILR

EBRRER

BRmERAMA

B AS (B 35 28) AT AT -

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZECIEF
$’000 $'000
Fr F

Carrying amount of 2EFEY
inventories sold BEEE 1,969,902 1,905,388
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16 PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND CONTRACT COSTS 16 YEREREBR A&

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZETF
$7000 $'000
Fr T
Property under development fhERME
for sale 1,002,708 668,407
Completed property held for sale 44 ¥ % 58,907 150,474
1,061,615 818,881
Contract costs & [ B A 3,374 —
1,064,989 818,881
(a) The analysis of carrying value of land held for @@ FEVERHRIMWZEHEE
property development for sale is as follows: DT
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEZEF
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Outside Hong Kong BB
— Less than 50 years — LRE+F 117,523 110,455

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 % $§ 209



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
16 PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND CONTRACT COSTS

210

16 YEBRE(E)

(continued)
(b) The analysis of the amount of properties (b) ‘«F@%Zi%ﬁaﬁﬁw%iﬁ&
recognised as an expense and included in “cost ERERGEERARRANEA
of revenue” in the consolidated statement of BCAR (M 5528) AT @A T
profit or loss (note 28) is as follows:
2021 2020
—EC-—F —EFF
$’000 $'000
Fx Tz
Carrying amount of BEEMEZ
properties sold FREE 137,838 117,371
() At 31 March 2021 and 2020, certain of the (0 RZE_—FR-_FT-_ZTF=

(d)

Group’s property under development for sale
were pledged for bank borrowings as disclosed in
note 23 to the financial statements.

Contract costs

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 March 2021
relate to the incremental sales commissions
paid to property agents whose selling activities
resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties
which are still under construction at the reporting
date. Contract costs are recognised as part of
in the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which revenue from the
related property sales is recognised. Contract
costs of $868,000 (2020: $nil) were recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March
2021. No impairment was identified for the
contract costs as at 31 March 2021 (2020: $nil).

“selling expenses”

(d)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

The balance represents pre-sale proceeds to secure
the future payments of the Group’s property
development projects. Such restricted deposits will
be released for the payments for construction costs
of the related property development projects or upon
completion of the construction.

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS
(@ Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

17 ZREFERK
EBRRERBEMWEZMENRIEN
REHEBINASEEMEZRREIE
B ZEXRAFHRETRRIZA
EEYMEERBZREEKASET
B1SARRBR ©

18 BERBITEXK
@ RERBASEEYEHE:

2021 2020

—E-—F —ZEZETF

$’000 $'000

Fr T

Cash at bank and in hand ~ RITFERERE 136,546 264,042
Deposits with banks with 3 =1 A3 % 52 2| 81

months or less to maturity RITHE R
when placed 8,432 —
144,978 264,042

The Group’s pledged deposit amounting to
$nil (2020: $55,000,000) to secure the Group’s
banking facilities, details of which are set out in
note 23.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

AEBERGERAE(ZE
— & 4 :55,000,0007T) K R
BAEEZRITHE  F1B
BT EE23 ©

b BEFHFRELEZAEAD

TRHALEEXRERE LTI
BEZEY BRASTIIER
TEY METHELZE
BEREREERBERKRRE
EAKEHEERERERT
RREARERFELRS

mEZARE-
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18 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

212

(b)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

18 BE&REBITERE)

b BEEFHRELEZAGAEAD

financing activities (continued) (%)
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
BITHEE HEERE a3
(Note 23) (Note 24)
(ff=£23) (B &E24)
$000 $000 $7000
T T T
At 1 April 2020 —B-BEMA—HB 951,637 4,665 956,302
Changes from financing MEREREZ
cash flows: 25:
Proceeds from new bank MIRITEEZ
borrowings FT 15 3% 322,557 — 322,557
Repayment of bank BRIRITEE
borrowings (372,552) — (372,552)
Capital element of lease ENEHEEEZ
rentals paid BRI S — (3,985) (3,985)
Interest element of lease ENEERSZ
rentals paid A S AR — (219) (219)
Interest paid EfRFE (36,991) — (36,991)
Total changes from financing M E R & & 2
_cashflows EmmE (86,986)  (4,204)  (91,190)
Exchange adjustments R 15,824 307 16,131
Other changes: Hit %5 :
Increase in lease liabilities & & & 210 — 2,748 2,748
Interest expenses (note 30)  F B 3 H (i} %30) 7,756 219 7,975
Capitalised borrowing costs & A1k {§ & oK 7
(note 30) (Kt 5£30) 29,235 — 29,235
Total other changes HtmEshwE 36,991 2,967 39,958
At 31 March 2021 —EC--F
=A=+—H 917,466 3,735 921,201
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18 RERBIAERE)

18 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

(b)

b BEEFHRELEZAEAD

financing activities (continued) (&)
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RITEE HEARE &
(Note 23) (Note 24)
(Pfff5E23) (P 5E24)
$’000 $'000 $'000
T T Tt
At 1 April 2019 ZE-AFWMA—H 620,342 7,703 628,045
Changes from financing MEREREZ
cash flows: -
Proceeds from new bank FRITEEZ
borrowings FT 15 3K 473,162 == 473,162
Repayment of bank BERITEE
borrowings (135,480) — (135,480)
Capital element of lease ENEEEEZ
rentals paid BARED — (3,206) (3,206)
Interest element of lease ENHEEREEZ
rentals paid M B &5 — (215) (215)
Interest paid EfFE (49,493) — (49,493)
Total changes from financing B ER &R E 2
Ccashflows g@eE 268,189 (,421) 284,768
Exchange adjustments R (6,387) (453) (6,840)
Other changes: Hth % 5 :
Increase in lease liabilities ghoHEAE
due to modifications 2N — 621 621
Interest expenses (note 30) #2852 H (Fff 7%30) 24,643 215 24,858
Capitalised borrowing costs & ZAN{b {& & Bk 2N
(note 30) (M 5£30) 24,850 — 24,850
Total other changes Hip 28 4aE 49,493 836 50,329
At 31 March 2020 —E-EF
=A=+-—H 951,637 4,665 956,302
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18 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued) 18 BE2RBITERE)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases () #Eiifﬁﬁ T 4A %A
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for BErEReRerRRNZHEE
leases comprise the following: S REIT

2021 2020
—EB-—F —TFF
$’000 $'000
Fr T+t
Within operating cash flows REZXBRERE
Z A 4,938 3,848
Within financing cash flows REERESRE 2N 4,204 3,421
9,142 7,269
The amounts solely relate to the lease rental paid ZeHERAFEENMEE
during the year. HeHBE@ -
19 SHARE CAPITAL 19 RAK
2021 2020
Zg:—ﬁ E 7 E EF‘
Number of Nominal  Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
BeEE HE RKROHE HE
000 $'000 000 $'000
T F T T
Authorised: EERA
Ordinary shares of HK10 cents & 3@ ik & R E 107
each 4,000,000 400,000 4,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREBERA:
Ordinary shares of HK10 cents ~ E#@RSREE10# L
each:
Beginning of the year F1) 1,993,840 199,384 1,991,834 199,183
Issuance of shares under share BB EEFEI T %17 0
option schemes 18,600 1,860 2,720 272
Cancellation of shares HTHERR — — (714) (71)
End of the year FK 2,012,440 201,244 1,993,840 199,384
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SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, share option
have been exercised to subscribe for 18,600,000
ordinary shares (31 March 2020: 2,720,000) in the
Company at a consideration of $10,070,000 (2020:
$1,904,000) of which $1,860,000 (2020: $272,000)
was credited to share capital and the balance of
$8,210,000 (2020: $1,632,000) was credited to the
share premium. $3,749,000 (2020: $708,000) has
been transferred from share-based compensation
reserve to the share premium in accordance with
policy set out in note 2(t).

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on
24 August 2012 (the “Scheme”) under which it may
grant options to employees of the Group (including
executive directors of the Company) and other third
parties to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal value
of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time excluding for this purpose any shares
issued on the exercise of options. The exercise price
will be determined by the Company’s board of
directors and shall at least be the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date
of grant of the options, and (ii) an average closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options.

19

20

e NE=P)

HEe_T-_—F#=ZA=+—H
tFERN BREEETHE
LA £ {810,070,000T(= T —
% :1,904,0007T) R B &~ A
18,600,000% & @ IR(=Z & =
% :2,720,0000%) * E 71,860,000
T(Z T = F F:272,0007T) &
A B AR - £ %88,210,0007T (=
T — T F:1,632,0007T) & 5 A
IR0 % B o 1B ¥R M FE200) AT &L K
3,749,000 (= T = T F:
708,0007C) B B A B D X+ 2
MeRmBEBERERMOGEE -

4t

hu)

A

i IR RE
ARARIR—_ZE——FENA=-+mA
KA—IEERERE - JRIEAR
EBCEEBEARRZHNITE
BE)RF-ERHERENERE
KRR Z&H  EHEZARREDT
REBTRARBECBERTE
BAREMEIT RN 30% B8R -
ZERETEESBARRIZE
ESET  LORRFRONER
BERTHZWHE: RHBEEET
BREAARBRZZBARRRMD
ZFHWTE -
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20

216

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

On 11 August 2014, a total of 18,000,000 share
options (the “2014 Share Options”) were granted to
certain qualified participants of the Group (including
an executive director of the Company) under the
Scheme. The 2014 Share Options entitle the grantees
to subscribe for a total of 18,000,000 new shares
of $0.10 each in the share capital of the Company.
Depending on the financial performance of the Group
and other conditions of the 2014 Share Options, not
more than 50% of the 2014 Share Options will be
vested on 1 August 2015 and not more than 50% of
the 2014 Share Options will be vested on 1 August
2017. The exercise price of the 2014 Share Options
is $0.419 per share, which represents the highest of
(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
of $0.405 per share as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company of $0.419 per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of
the Company of $0.10 per share. All the 2014 Share
Options were accepted by the grantees.

On 27 October 2016, the Company granted a
total of 24,700,000 share options (the “2016 Share
Options”) to certain qualified participants of the
Group (including executive directors of the Company)
under the Scheme. The 2016 Share Options entitle
the grantees to subscribe for a total of 24,700,000
new shares of $0.10 each in the share capital of
the Company. The exercise price of the 2016 Share
Options is $0.70 per share, which represents the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company of $0.70 per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares of the Company of $0.656 per share as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of the shares of the Company of $0.10 per share.
All the 2016 Share Options were accepted by the
grantees.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

20 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
(@) The terms and conditions of the Share Options
are as follows:

20 BBREE)

@@ BEREZERRESET:

Exercise price Number of
per share options Vesting condition Expiry date
BR RRE
TRER YE BTt HAEH
Options granted to BRERTES:
directors:

—on 11 August 2014  —RZZE-MF $0.419 5,000,000  Not more than 5,000,000 10 August 2024

NA+-H options will vest on

1 August 2015*
AER500000000  ZFZRF
BRERN-Z-1F NATH

NR—-B&E*
—on 11 August 2014  —RZT-M%F $0.419 5,000,000 Not more than 5,000,000 10 August 2024

NA+-H options will vest on

1 August 2017*
AZ0s5,0000008  ZFZEF
BRERR-Z2-tF NATH

NA-B5E
—on27 October 2016 —RZE—RF $0.70 3,150,000 Vesting on T July 2017 26 October
tA=t+A 2026
RZF-tF  ZFIAF
tA-BEE tA-tAR
—on27 October 2016 —MZF—XF §0.70 3,150,000 Vestingon 1July 2018 26 October
tAZT+H 2026
RZF-NE  ZRINE
tA-REE tAZtRA
—on27 October 2016 —RZF—RF $0.70 4,200,000 Vesting on 1 July 2019 26 October
t+A=t+A 2026
RZF-NE ZEFIAF
tA-REB TAZTKH
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20 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 20 BREGE)
(a) The terms and conditions of the Share Options (@) BEAHE ZIER R HWT
are as follows: (continued) (&)
Exercise price Number of
per share options Vesting condition Expiry date
gk BhRE
TEER 88 il L HEEE

Options granted to BRERTET:

employees:
—on 11 August 2014  —RZZE-MF §0.419 4,000,000 Vesting on 1 August 2015 10 August 2024
NAt-H
RZF-1F  ZTZRF
NR-REB NATR
—on 11 August 2014 —RZE-MF $0.419 4,000,000  Vesting on 1 August 2017 10 August 2024
NAt-H
RZF-+F  ZTZQRF
NA-RGE NATH
—on27 October 2016 —RZF—RF §0.70 4,260,000 Vesting on 1 July 2017 26 October
tA-ttA 2026
R-B—+F  ZBIA
tA-B5E tAZtAR
—on27 October 2016 —RZF—RF §0.70 4,260,000 Vesting on 1 July 2018 26 October
tAZttA 2026
RZF-N\F  ZFINF
tA-BEE tAZtAR
—on27 October 2016 —RZF—RXF §0.70 5,680,000 Vesting on 1 July 2019 26 October
tA-t+tA 2026

R-E-NE “EoNE
tR—-R%E tA-tiH

Total number of share ~ BRELH

options 42,700,000
*  The vesting of the Share Options granted to an e MARBRITEER T2 BIE
executive director of the Company is subject to the BEIRARKEE £ERH
performance of the Group and other conditions. b i 14 o
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20 BBREE)

20 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows:

(b)

BEREHE R NEFSTE
BF :

2021 2020
“EC--F “T-EF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options
0 ¥ 33 BRE TS B R
TEE %8 TEE 28
‘000 ‘000
i T
Outstanding at the beginning R F 4111
of the year AT $0.56 31,200 $0.57 33,920
Exercised during the year NERTTER $0.54 (18,600) $0.70 (2,720)
Outstanding at the end of the R F & i R1T
year $0.59 12,600 $0.56 31,200
Exercisable at the end of the ~ REFEA{TE
year $0.59 12,600 $0.56 31,200

The Share Options outstanding as of 31 March
2021 had an exercise price of $0.419 or $0.70
(2020: $0.419 or $0.70) per share and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 4.70 years
(2020: 5.48 years). No share options have lapsed
during the year ended 31 March 2021 and 31
March 2020.

R-—_E-_—F=ZA=+—8"
MARTECBREZITEE
% FR%0.4197030.70 L (= F
—ZF:0.41978 5£0.7070) &
INEFEHITEE L FEI4.705F
TETF548F) - B E
—E-—FzZHA=+—BkZ=
E_EF=-A=+—HItFE
N R BBRERR -
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20 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) (continued)

220

(0

Fair value of the Share Options and
assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for
share options granted is measured by reference
to the fair value of share options granted. The
estimate of the fair value of the 2014 Share
Options and 2016 Share Options granted was
measured based on the Trinomial Model, after
taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the share options were granted.
The contractual life of the share option and
expectations of early exercise were incorporated
into the Trinomial Model. The significant
assumptions and inputs used in the valuation
model are as follows:

Fair value of and assumptions for 2014 share
options

Fair value at measurement date $0.176 to

$0.194
Share price $0.405
Exercise price $0.419
Risk-free interest rate 1.97%
Expected volatility 52.84%
Expected dividend yield 2.47%
Expected exercise multiple 2.2t02.8

Fair value of and assumptions for 2016 share
options

Fair value at measurement date $0.239 to

$0.271
Share price $0.70
Exercise $0.70
Risk-free interest rate 1.00%
Expected volatility 51.27%
Expected dividend yield 5.00%
Expected exercise multiple 1.8 to 4.0
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BREZAOFERMEEBRR

FTUR B A B ER BB 2
R ZAFETDLZ2BAKRE
BREsAFEFE IR
BT —OERER - —X
BREZ AFEMITRITR
ZEEBREBRABRL ZER
MG BRIE =8 E ARG
E - BREZANFHRRE
B zEHEMA=ER
BERN - HERAFMERZ
BRABREEENT:

“E-MBEREQFERE

78 B &%

RetEAZAFE $0.176F

$0.194
mHEE $0.405
T ER $0.419
2 & b F) = 1.97%
TE HA K iR 52.84%
TE BRI AR B e X 2.47%
TEHIT (B & 22%2.38

“E-ABREQFEEME

Bl R &

RErTEHZAFE $0.239%

$0.271
mSEE $0.70
ITEER $0.70
= & b R R 1.00%
TE H K 1R 51.27%
TE BRI AR B g X 5.00%
TEHTEEH 1.824.0
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
20 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) (continued)

Fair value of the Share Options and
assumptions (continued)

Risk-free interest rate is based on the yields of
the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes at the
grant date. Expected volatility is based on the
historical volatility (calculated based on the
weighted average remaining life of the share
options). Expected dividend vyield is based on
historical dividend trend of the Company and
expected future dividend policy determined by
management.

The vesting of the share options granted are
subject to the performance of the Group and
other conditions. Such non-market conditions
have not been taken into account in the grant
date fair value measurement of the share options.
There are no market conditions associated with

the share options granted.

The Trinomial Model is subject to certain
fundamental limitations because of the subjective
nature of and uncertainty relating to the
assumptions and inputs to the model as well as
certain inherent limitations of the model itself.
Any changes in the above assumptions or inputs
may materially affect the fair value estimation.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss
for the year ended 31 March 2021 in respect of
the Share Options is $nil (2020: $230,000) (note
29(a)).

20 BREE)

(o)

(d)
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B 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

21 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 21 HM@EEREABER
(@ Group @ FT&KEH
Other reserves
HhhE
Other
financial

Capital ~ Share-based asses

Share  Treasury Capital Merger ~ redemption compensation ~ revaluation  Translation  Total other ~ Retained
premium share reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings
BER
ERRE ARAN EEQ Rithe

RiEE  EER  EARR AHEE BE <HERE EHEE AERE B8 RERH
§1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000
i i i i i i T T T T

Balance at 1 April 2020 ut Jut 2
B-Rzé8 282,512 = 2,608 (36,000) 1,753 6,701 169 62,343) 193,400 782,916
Profitfor the year EREA - - - - - - - - - 365
Remeasurement of provision for & S 22/
long service payment Eiiifg
Inote 261 (B &261b) - - - - - - - - - 671)
Dividends paid in respect of the 2% LFE R &
previous year — — — — — — — — — (99,882)
Dividends paid inrespectof ~ BEAFERE
current year - — — — — — — — — (90,335)
Currency trangltion differences S A% %2 = = = = = = = 70,941 70,941 -

Reclassfication of other LEEHERAE
financial assets revaluationto A Z %

profitor loss upon disposal - - - - - - 12 - 12 -
Fairvalue losses onother ~~ AHSBEELT

financil assets (on- Ez2y(TaeE

recycling B) - - - - - - (468) - (488) =
Fairvalue losses onother ~~ EHSHEERTE

financial asets (recycling] 2 #F(FEE) - - - - = = 0 = 0) =
Issuance of share upon exercise 17 BRERET

ofshare options (note 19~ 7R3 (F3£19) 11,959 = = = - B = = 8,210 =

Balance at 31 March 2021 ZB=-%=R
St-AZER 294471

2,608 (38,000) 1753 2,95 (316) 8598 272,066 957,309
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B 75 ¥ 3K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

21 Htt#FERREER(E)

21 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(continued)
(@ Group (continued)

@ F&£HE)

Other reserves
BB
Other
financial
Capital ~ Share-based assets
Share  Treasury Capital Merger ~ redemption compensation  revaluation  Translation  Total other ~ Retained
premium share reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings
EARE  HRARA {3 BfbfiE
Rt EER  EARE SRR BE ZHMERE EHEE  AERE 88 REEN
§000 §1000 §1000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 §000
Tr Tr Tr Tr T T T T T i
Balance at 1 April 2019 Z3-0E
mA-Az&H 280,172 - 2608 08000 1682 7179 9% 86 28427 713460
Profit for the year EEEN = = = = = = = = - 250266
Remeasurement of provision for & & 5 £ £
long service payment Eifit g
(note 26(b) (R 26 = = = = = = = = = (569)
Dividends paid in respect of the P& LFE R &
previous year = = = = = = = = = (99,692)
Dividends paid in respectof ~ EIRAFEMRS
current year — — — — — — — — — (79,754)
Currency transation diffeences M HEZE - - - - - - - 269 (6269 S
Equiy setled share-based AR T2 %5
transactons ote 20d) (B &E200) - - - - - 30 - - 230 -
Fair value losses onother ~~~ EHEBAEATE
financial assets fecycling) 2 B (1 E) - - - - - - (121) - (121) =
Cancellation of shares FRRA M
(note 21(c)v)&(v)) (iv () = 795 = = n = = = 866 (795)
Issuance of share upon exercise 177 B8 R B4 %17
ofshare options note 19) (3 (¥ 19) 2340 = = = = (708) = = 1632 =
Repurchase of shares mER(H
(note 21(c)v) (BE20m) = (795) = = = = = = (795) =
Balanceat 31 March 2020 ZB=F%=5
St-R2&H 282,512 - 2608 G800 173 6,701 169 (@343 193400 782916
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B 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

21  OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 21 Ht@EERREERN(Z)
(continued)
(b) Company (b) AT

Other reserves

Atk
Other
financial
Capital Share-based assets

Share  redemption Contributed compensation  revaluation Total Other ~ Retained
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve  earnings
Hipe®
Bx BRfxAZ BEZ Ettf%
BfER AHEE REEE  WeRE  EfRE 2% REEN

§'000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000 §'000 §'000
T T T T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2020 ut St 33
MA-AzER 282,512 1,753 193,185 6,701 169 484,320 255,690
Profit for the year EREN - - - - - — 182,009
Remeasurement of provision for long & R & 2 EEH
service payment — — — — — — (24)
Dividend paid in respect of the BRLEERS
previous year — — — — — — (99,882)
Dividend paid in respect of BRAFERS
current year — — — — — — (90,335)
Reclassification of other financial assets HEE e HEERE T BR
revaluation to profit or loss upon
disposal - - - - 12 12 -
Fair value losses on other A eHAEATE
financial assets (recycling) LERFER) = = S S ) 9) =
Issuance of share upon exercise of share 775 1 184 % {1k 1
options (note 19) (Btt19) 11,959 = = (3,749) = 8,210 =
Balance at 31 March 2021 RI-ESA=T-HzER 294471 1753 193,185 295 170 492533 247438
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

21 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 21 HMFEERRERFE)
(continued)
(b) Company (continued) (b) AT (E)
Other reserves
Rttt
Other
financial
Capital Share-based assets
Share  Treasury redemption Contributed compensation revaluation ~Total Other ~ Retained
premium share reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve  earnings
HipeR
Ex NRGXATZ BBz HfbRE
RHEE EER AfRE BERE HEIRE EHER B8 REBEA
$'000 $'000 §000 $'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000

T T i T T i T T

Balance at 1 April 2019 ZE-NE
MA-Az&H 280,172 — 1,682 193,185 7,179 290 482,508 215,949

Profit for the year EEEH - - - - = = — 2003
Remeasurement of provision for & ERHB L ERENH &

Iong service payment — — — — — — — (41
Dividend paid in respect of the 2k LEERE

previous year — — — — — — — (99,692)
Dividend paid in respectof ~ EEAEEHE

current year - — — — — — — (79,754)
Equity settled share-based HRAX 225

transactions (note 20(d)) (B & 20() - - - - 230 = 230 =
Fair value losses on other EeBAELTHE

financial assets (recycling) ZER(ER) = = = = = (121) (121) —
Repurchase of shares B RS

(note 21(cl(v) (B EE21(c)v) - (795) - - = = (795) =
Cancellation of shares THERH

(note 21(c(iv)&(v) (2100 R () - 795 Ul - = = 866 (795)
Issuance of share upon exercise /77 B R BT 1

of share options (note 19) ~ (F{&19) 2,340 = = = (708) = 1,63 =
Balance at 31 March 2020 ~ —B=FEZf=1-H

&R 282,512 - 175 193,185 6,701 169 484320 255,690

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders, subject to the condition that the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if
(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (ii)
the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its

issued share capital and share premium account.

REEBRE—NN\—FREDE
EoBABSRAHDIKT K
R EEXNEREZEOARF
TREXMNIMBMERE  K()H
BEZAZHAEBE/GSEAMD
REBEEREBEHTHRAR
Beinid (B 2 A st 4858 - RIAR
ATAEM « IAIRE - i
BABRRELDIK -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
OTHER RESERVES (continued)

21

226

(b)

(0

Company (continued)

At 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company was $440,643,000
(2020: $448,875,000). After the end of the
reporting period, the directors proposed a final
dividend of HK7.0 cents per ordinary share
(2020: final dividend of HK5.0 cents per ordinary
share), amounting to $140,871,000 (2020:
$99,692,000) (note 33(a)). This dividend has not
been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of entities outside Hong Kong. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(x).

(i) Merger reserve

The merger reserve comprises the difference

between the investment cost and share

capital of an acquired entity.

(iii) Other financial assets revaluation reserve

The other financial assets revaluation

reserve comprises the cumulative net

change in the fair value of other financial

assets held at the end of the reporting

period and is dealt with in accordance with

the accounting policies set out in note 2(f).
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REBHKREZE ETSERR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

21 OTHER RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iv) Treasury share

The Group did not repurchase of the
Company’s shares during the year ended
31 March 2021 (2020: 714,000 shares). In
last year, the total consideration paid to
repurchase these shares was $795,000,
which has been deducted from equity
attributable to the owners of the Company.
During the year ended 31 March 2020,
714,000 shares were cancelled. Accordingly,
the premium of $795,000 paid on the
repurchase of shares was charged to
retained earnings.

Capital redemption reserve

During the year ended 31 March 2020,
upon cancellation of 714,000 shares, an
amount equivalent to the par value of the
shares cancelled of $71,000 was transferred
from share capital to the capital redemption
reserve.

21 HMfF#EE)
c FEZHEERBENE)
(ivy EER

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 £

HEr—_ZT=-—5=A
=+—HLEFER K
EEWELDEARRAR
M(ZZEZFF : 714,000
fR) e EFE AR EZRK
BT AE B795,000
TL ¢ AR RARER
RIEMEZ TR - &
E-E-FTF=A=+—
HiE®FE R - 714,0008%
MEWTHE - AL B
B &R D M 2 2 % B
795,0007T B 7 £& 88 )% A
8 o

EAREEFE
BHE_T-_ZFTF=H
=+—HLFEA 2
$H714,000fk 2 12 - HHE
R EEHER D EEZ1,000
TZeBEEARAER
EERNEOFEE -

227



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

22 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 22 BSEMGERNR EFERARHEME
PAYABLES L E
2021 2020
—EB-—F —EFF
$/000 $°000
T T
Trade payables  HZEAEX ¢ 340,424 288,987
Accruals for short-term lease EEtREES
expenses 7,289 9,730
Accruals for purchase of property, EFtEEW X - WE K&
plant and equipment & 21,689 22,798
Salaries and staff welfare payable &% & &k 8 T1&@7H 190,897 156,905
Accruals for properties under JEFHE Y%
development 7,358 41,154
Other payables and accruals H At & - BR X e
AT EH 105,596 103,086
Receipts in advance (see note (a) TEHHR 5K
below) (B TFIH @) 470,969 158,548
803,798 492,221
1,144,222 781,208
The carrying amounts of trade payables, accruals and BHRNERR  BAERREME
other payables approximate their fair values. All trade NERZEBEEQAFERLD -
payables, accruals and other payables as at 31 March RZE_—FRZIZ_ZTF=H
2021 and 2020 are expected to be settled within one =+—BZFBEESRENER &
year. &R N H A B BRRIERN —

FRBN -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

22 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES (continued)

Trade payables ageing analysis, based on invoice date,

22

BEZRNERN  BAERARHEME

R (E)

BHRMEFRIZEZAHAEZR

BOMT :

is as follows:
2021 2020
—EZ—-F —EFF
$’000 $'000
Fr T
0 to 90 days 0290H 322,729 220,453
91 to 180 days 91£180H 16,097 67,198
181 to 360 days 1812 360H 1,434 695
Over 360 days 3608 LA 164 641
340,424 288,987

(@

Receipts in advance
Typical payment terms which impact on the
amount of contract liabilities recognised are as

follows:

Manufacturing segment

When the Group receives a deposit before
the production activity commences, this will
give rise to contract liabilities at the start
of a contract, until the revenue recognised
on the project exceeds the amount of the
deposit. The amount of deposit is negotiated
on a case by case basis with customers.

Property development

The Group receives receipts in advance
from customers when they sign the sale
and purchase agreement. These receipts
in advance are recognised as contract
liabilities until the properties are completed
and legally assigned to/accepted by
customers.

7 W B X

TECHRRANAEEREL

BEMNTIEROT -

REED

EAEEELEERYF
AR EIR & E
EENHABRKELESSL
BfE HERCHERIEAW
ABBESSBE/L -
e eBRBREAERBR
HEEPHE

E 3

AEBERRIEE W=
IR SE W Bl PAAK -
BUEBRERREAEE
EBEPEXEREKRZ
MEZHERBEMNEA

& °
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22 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES (continued)

230

(@

Receipts in advance (continued)

22

BESRNERN  BrEARAEME
R (E)
@@ FEWERNKE)

Movements in contract liabilities: AaE B
2021 2020
—EC-—-F —EETF
$’000 $'000
T T
Beginning of the year F10 158,548 115,854
Decrease in contract RERBERETA
liabilities as a result of FNENEEL
recognising revenue LR AZHY
during the year that was aHAaBERD
included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning
of the year (142,845) (92,718)
Increase in contract Ui BY T8 -1 BR SR8 =
liabilities as a result of AR B E N
receiving receipts in
advances 440,111 139,152
Exchange difference Hpa=ER 15,155 (3,740)
End of the year FR 470,969 158,548

As at 31 March 2021, the amount of receipts in
advance expected to be recognised as revenue
after more than one year are $6,692,000 (2020:
$100,038,000).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts
for manufacturing products and properties
development such that information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when
it satisfies the remaining performance obligations
that had an original expected duration of one
year or less need not to be disclosed.
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RZEZ—F=HA=+—H"
8 Uk BR 706,692,000 (ZZE =
= 4F 1 100,038,0007T) & 5t #5
R—FRERBUA) -

AEBECBBBMEHRELE
BISEI5SR E121R 2] 1THEE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

23 BANK BORROWINGS

23 RITEE

2021 2020
— B —E-FTF
$000 $'000
Fr Tt
Portion of bank borrowings —FAREEILHE
repayable within one year and BREBBEZ
_ classified as current liabilities  S|ITEEZHH 301,010 126,800
Portion of bank borrowings —FREEADE
repayable after one year and RIERBEEZ
classified as non-current IRITEBE 231D
liabilities
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FBER2FR 612,706 226,180
After 2 years but within 5 years 2% & 18 FA5F A 3,750 598,657
616,456 824,837
Total bank borrowings RITEERSE 917,466 951,637
Representing: e
Secured B 439,530 420,387
Unsecured i 477,936 531,250
Total bank borrowings RITEERTE 917,466 951,637

As at 31 March 2021, banking facilities of
$516,700,000 (2020: $499,900,000) were secured
by the pledged deposits of $nil (2020: $55,000,000),
property under development for sale of $151,977,000
(2020: $585,356,000) and the share capital of the
two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company,
Castfast Industrial (Yan Tien) Limited and %R 3£ 5 &
B EMZEAR AR, such facilities were utilised to
extent of $439,530,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020:

$420,387,000).

RZEZ—F=A=+—H &%
B R 1TR & 58516,700,0007C (=&
— T £ : 499,900,0007T) * LA & ##
FEHREL(ZZE=F4F : 55,000,000
JC) ¢ RV TE W $151,977,0007T
— T T4 :585,356,00070) B A
AEIMEEENBAR - EHZE
BPRAHRERATRREEA
EHERZEBRARZBRAIER
MR E—F=H=+—H
B E A 2 B & ¥ £439,530,000
TL(ZZE—F 4 :420,387,0007T) °
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23

24

232

BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 23 RITEEHE)
At 31 March 2021, borrowings totaling $301,010,000 R-_F-_—F=ZHA=+—-H &K
(2020: $126,800,000) have a contractual maturity ?‘_I BEAYNIHEA —FAK
within one year or are subject to repayment on R E’\ Tiz EXEEKAIAZERE
demand clauses. Some of the Group’s banking #£301,010,0007t(= T = T &
facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants 126 800,0007T) ° Kﬁg‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
relating to certain of the Group’s statement of financial MEAFERAEEE THBMNRR
position ratios. If the Group were to breach the RURBACRHEREETRA
covenants, the drawn down facilities would become EE - WAKBEEREBERH - A
payable on demand. The Group regularly monitors EXMzBEMEERER - AKE
its compliance with these covenants. As at 31 March EEHEREETEERZR 2B
2021 and 2020, none of the covenants relating to MR B_—FR_ZF_ZTF=
drawn down facilities had been breached. A=+—H BEEREXDHBES
A RAEEER -
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings RITBEZRAMEREARFEME
approximate their fair values. 4T e
LEASE LIABILITIES 24 HEARE
At 31 March 2021, the lease liabilities were repayable R-E-—F=-A=+—HoME
as follows: BEEBNT:
2021 2020
—R--F “ECRF
Present Present
value of value of
the lease  Total lease  the lease  Total lease
payments  payments  payments  payments
HEMR ?ﬁ% HERK HE
ZBE (R4 ZRE (HER
$000 $'000 $'000 §'000
T Fr T T
Within 1 year  TFR 2594 2690 3244 3363
After 1 year but within 2 years 1§ &ER2ER 974 1,006 1,421 1,439
After 2 years but within 5 years  2F % B R5F R 167 167 = =
1,141 1,173 1,421 1,439
3,735 3,863 4,665 4,802
Less: total future interest expenses Jii : 7 R 7| B 5 &2 8% (128) (137)
Present value of lease liabilites HE&EZHE 3,735 4,665
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

(@)

25 RESHMBMRRKRPBIR

Current taxation (@ AHEHIA
2021 2020
—E=-—F —E_THF
$’000 $000
Fr TIT
Provision for Hong Kong FEFBNEMRLZ
Profits Tax for the year A1 23,869 20,461
Provisional Hong Kong Profits 2 1< & 81 & /&
Tax paid M 1F (14,665) (13,501)
9,204 6,960
Balance of Hong Kong Profits A il F & & & ] 15 1
Tax provision relating to 2 FEBR
prior years - 1,753
Provision for PRC taxes RS 2 125,557 79,801
134,761 88,514
Current tax recoverable N B AT Y @ A% T (200) (54)
Current tax payable AN HR FE A A IR 134,961 88,568
134,761 88,514
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25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25 RESHMBRRARFBE(E)
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

234

(b)

Deferred taxation (b) IEIEFIE
Fair value
gain of Capitalisation
Accelerated  investment of loan
depreciation  properties interests Total
REME
AYE EXFE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEBEERE NERE W & BEX{ A
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T T Fr
At 1 April 2019 —E-AEMA-A 2,647 2,650 4414 9,711
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss B % 8 /(3 \) 1,544 (591) 4,067 5,020
Exchange difference REER — (164) — (164)
At 31 March 2020 and “E-RFZA=t-BK
1 April 2020 —E_EEMA-A 4,191 1,895 8,481 14,567
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss RBRGIA) /2 (74) 297 3,710 3,933
Exchange difference FBER - 146 = 146
At 31 March 2021 “E--%=ZA=+-H 4117 2,338 12,191 18,646
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B 75 ¥ 3K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25 RESHBRRRFBE(E)
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(b) Deferred taxation (continued) (b) EZLERIE(Z)

Temporary

difference

for property
Tax losses  development Others Total

NEREZ
Deferred tax assets BEHEEE REBER ERER Hit aft
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T
At 1 April 2019 = (4,841) (5,643) (555) (11,039)
Credited to profit or loss REHFA (2,568) — (2,121) (4,689)

At31 March 2020 and 1 April ~ —B-BF=ZA=+-HEK

2020 “E-BENA-A (7,409) (5,643) (2,676) (15,728)
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss 1Bz (FTA) /X 8 (361) = 1,331 970
At 31 March 2021 —E--%zf=+-A (7,770) (5,643) (1,345) (14,758)
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25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

236

(b)

Deferred taxation (continued)

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to set
off and when the deferred income taxes relate to
the same tax jurisdiction. The following amounts,
determined after appropriate offsetting, are
shown in the consolidated statement of financial

25

REEMBRRRPREE)

(b)

EERIE(E)

=B X TE RN A R TR IR
BEREEMRABEEN -
4 XE P15 3508 B R — 31 5%
W RIS EEHBREE
BUEER B ABEEHEEH -
REABERHER - THEER

position: RiFEHBRARNER
2021 2020

— B —E-THF

$000 $'000

Fr F
Deferred tax assets BEEBIEEE (1,696) (5,291)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIBEE 5,584 4,130
3,888 (1,161)

At 31 March 2021, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(u), the
Group had unrecognised deferred tax assets of
approximately $25,283,000 (2020: $18,423,000)
primarily representing the tax effect of
cumulative tax losses (subject to agreement by
relevant tax authorities) which can be carried
forward against future taxable income, of which,
tax losses of $153,230,000 (2020: $108,839,000)
can be carried forward indefinitely.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
26 RAKBANEME

26 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(@

(b)

Defined contribution plans

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong
employees to join the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
Group and its employees makes monthly
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both
the Group’s and the employees’ mandatory
contributions are subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of $30,000 and thereafter,
contributions are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the
PRC, the Group contributes to state-sponsored
retirement plans for its employees in the PRC.
The Group’s annual contributions to these plans
represent defined contributions, and the Group
has no further obligations for the actual payment
of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement plans are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

Defined benefit retirement plan — Long service
payments

Provision for long service payments represents
the Group’s obligations for long service payments
to its employees in Hong Kong on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The obligation is calculated using the projected
unit credit method, discounted to its present
value and reduced by entitlements accrued under
the Group’s retirement plans that are attributable
to contributions made by the Group. Such long
service payment obligations are valued by BMI
Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified
actuary valuer.

(@

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 £
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ZAB(ERABREIMARER
SEB) 5% R AT EIMEH K o
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30,0007 & ERR - Hig 2K
AlEEREME -

REFEAEMRTE  AREA
ARTEREREMRE ZBER
BBNRIKF BIEH R - A&
BRIt E & 2 FHRSRTE
W RS AT ERRERK
X HFERNRRENAHEE
EHERIAE - RAREEZ
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26 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 20 RAKBENEEE)
(b) Defined benefit retirement plan — Long service by RAEERKBAFE — RBRK
payments (continued) 5]'%% (#%&)
The amounts recognised in the consolidated REEVBRRARERZE
statement of financial position are determined as BTSN GAETE
follows:
2021 2020
R —fF —ECEF
$’000 $°000
Fr Tt
Present value of unfunded ﬂi}\I%{EEE\EZEE IS8
obligations and liability in ~ RE&RE M B AR R KA
the consolidated statement 2 B1&
of financial position 9,149 8,162

238

A portion of the above liability is expected to
be paid after more than one year. However, it
is not practicable to segregate this amount from
the amounts payable in the next twelve months,
as future contributions will also relate to future
services rendered and future changes in actuarial
assumptions and market conditions. The Group
expects to pay $nil in contributions to defined
benefit retirement plan for the year ending 31
March 2022 (2021: $nil).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

26 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 26 RAKBREFEE)
(b) Defined benefit retirement plan — Long service by REERNKEBATE — RER
payments (continued) Be(E)
The amounts recognised in the consolidated RiZzaBEa REME2EEA
statement of profit or loss and other RIERZ AT

comprehensive income are as follows:

2021 2020
—EB-—F —EEF
$’000 $000
Fr T
Current service cost AN HA AR 75 B AR 242 160
Interest on obligation BENER 76 123
Total amounts recognised in REHEER 2 LT
profit or loss (note 29(a)) (B 5229(a)) 318 283
Net actuarial losses MREAMZE KA
recognised in other ERRZBEE
comprehensive income FEE 671 569
Total ®E 989 852
The current service cost and the net interest on THRBERARBEENESE
obligation were included in the “general and BREREAEERERT KRR
administrative expenses” in the consolidated THERRA -

statement of profit or loss.
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26 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 26 BIKBRNEMLEGE)
(b) Defined benefit retirement plan — Long service by RAEERKBAFE — RBRK
payments (continued) BE (&)
Movements in the provision for long service AEBERBRBCLERE D
payments of the Group are as follows: LUNNE
2021 2020
—BC-—F —F-FF
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Beginning of the year F 10 8,162 7,388
Remeasurements: B E:
— Actuarial losses/(gains) — BARREMESE
arising from demographic ZREEER/
assumptions (U %) 996 (1,634)
— Actuarial (gains)/losses — BB ERRNE
arising from changes in FELZKEE
financial assumptions (W), B8 (1,029) 520
— Actuarial losses arising — HRRAEMESE
from experience ZEEBRE
adjustment 704 1,683
671 569

Payments made during the — F R B LK

year (58) (269)
Refund received during the £ U 2 iR 5%

year 56 191
Current service cost < B BR 75 B AR 242 160
Interest cost BB AR 76 123
End of the year FR 9,149 8,162
The weighted average duration of the defined ] ﬂfEZDD T 15 5
benefit obligation is 9.6 years (2020: 10.0 years). FE RIGF(ZE_FTF:10.0

) e
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)
26 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

Defined benefit retirement plan — Long service

26 EBABERANEEE)
b)) REERKEFRE — RBRK

payments (continued) 5]'%% (&)
Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity BERRLERE DN
analysis are as follows: RDT :
2021 2020
—EC-—fF —EEF
Per annum Per annum
BF BF
Discount rate Bh IR & 2.09% 0.93%
Expected rate of future salary 7 2 % Bl 2
increases TEHE R X 3.00% 2.00%
The below analysis shows how the defined R-—T—— T_TF=H

benefit retirement plan — long service payments
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 would have
increased/(decreased) as a result of 0.50%
change in the significant actuarial assumptions:

=+—8- izﬂi 4 {35 R% 42 0
/O 4) 0.50% ¥ 57 5F 18 7 iR
KET8 — RERG 2 E
DT

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

in 0.50% in 0.50% in 0.50% in 0.50%

gm o RS M A

0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50%
$’000 $’000 $000 $'000

T T T T

Discount rate AL IR X
Expected rate of future 7 2 % Bl 2
salary increases FEHR G R R

(414) 445 (389) 418

11 (21) 20 (19)

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the
assumption that changes in actuarial assumptions
are not correlated and therefore it does not
take into account the correlations between the
actuarial assumptions.

NEBRESTZERRBE
Eﬁzm EHEB®ZR BB EMN
%8 B llil:/xﬁu RSl
Bt s E -
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27 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME/GAINS

27 WARHMWA WREF

2021 2020
— B —E-FTF
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Revenue from contracts with ERAMBHREEL
customers within the scope of SF15KEEREEF
HKFRS 15 ZEHBA
Sales of merchandise EmiEE
— Metal and plastic business — T BRBER 1,895,368 1,632,236
— Electronic manufacturing — BFEERIEH
services business 898,006 997,767
2,793,374 2,630,003
Sale of properties MEIHE 399,243 272,205
3,192,617 2,902,208
Other income/gains: Hft A2 e
Fixed rental income EHE WA 3,980 3,998
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, H&E ¥ % ~ 7 &
plant and equipment Rz W,
(B1#8) 271 (1,327)
Loss on disposal of other financial & H i & & & & 2
assets E5 18 (690) S
Government grants received ESZBREME
(note (i) (B 52 G) 9,194 —
Written off of other receivables H fih i Ui B 0 8H (20,010) —
Others (note (ii)) oAt (BT 7 (i) 9,856 1,773
2,601 4,444
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

27 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME/GAINS (continued)

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
successfully applied for and received funding support of
$6,029,000 from the Employment Support Scheme under
the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong SAR
Government. The purpose of the funding is to provide
financial support to enterprises to retain their employees
who would otherwise be made redundant. Under the
terms of the grant, the Group is required not to make
redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all
the funding on paying wages to the employees.

The Group also received subsidies of $2,570,000 from
the PRC government. The purposes of these subsidies are
to encourage the use of high-technologies machineries,
promote the development of human resources and
to provide financial support to enterprise during the
COVID-19 pandemic.

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
successfully applied for and received refund of Value-
added Tax (“VAT”) of $6,624,000 from the VAT refund
mechanism introduced by the China’s State Council in
effective from 1 April 2019.

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregated amount of
the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the Group’s existing
contracts is $818,923,000 (2020: $446,908,000).
These amounts represent revenue expected to be
recognised in the future from pre-completion sales
contracts for properties under development. The
Group will recognise the expected revenue in future
when the properties are accepted by the customer,
or deemed as accepted according to the contract,
whichever is earlier and is expected to occur from 12
to 24 months from the contract date.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to revenue such that the
above information does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the contracts for sales of merchandise that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

BWAREBEA W (E)
B 5

iy BEZE-_—F=ZA=+—H&E
N AEBRNEZEEBERERE
BRFRSY 2R mEE ST 2R
21 2 MUK EN6,029,0007C B &
R -ZEBZEMR AL ERM
MR RBAEGWERY
BB - RIBEEB 2GR AEEK
TEREMUBPETBEHE - WHEA
EEPHREZMNEIIE -

7K & B Ji W BR 2,570,000 F8 FF B X
Tz ik - 22BN FEEE
AEREigas - IRAAS BN KA
200 R AEREBEBE T B X

i) BE-ZTZ-_—F=ZA=1+-—HB%&E¥
W AEBRIRFAEERIZE
H-ZT—AFNA—BRARZIE
EFRHRBRBERE KR
5] 1% (& % & %86,624,0007T °

R-_E-_—®F=A=+—H KA
BHATHEZEFGREOBRE R
X 5 %8 /818,923,000 (—E - F
% 446,908,0007T) ° Z & AR K
ERARRER2BECREDEHESE
BRI TEFTHRA - AEEKER
REEHBA - ERFPEXZME
BEAREKACESR  URE
ERERTEFT L EHERBHREL2
E24E A A -

HRAEEEHERAERES
MR EERFEIHEFENRIRZE
BEET HE Bt EdERITA
PREEBEBWMAEERERBHF
HAE—FUTNERFSBRETER
HEETMBAERBRKBR ZKAZ
B o
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28

244

EXPENSES BY NATURE 28 BMEIBEZEH
2021 2020
—®_—F —E-FHF
$’000 $000
T T
Carrying amount of inventories  E&FE ZEHEE
sold (note 15(b)) (Pt 3E15(b)) 1,969,902 1,905,388
Carrying amount of properties sold B ¥ % 2 BRE &
(note 16(b)) (Kt #£16(b)) 137,838 117,371
Depreciation and amortisation of %1% - HE &k & #E 2
property, plant and equipment I & & # 8H (f 5Xe)
(note 6) 88,245 62,971
Amortisation of intangible assets &2 & & 2 # i
(note 8) (Fft 3x8) 1,543 1,504
Employee benefit expenses & B8 M 5 X
(including directors’ (BREZEH=2)
remuneration) (note 29(a)) (B 3E29(a)) 385,772 360,080
Rental expenses of short-term RHHEES
leases 4,938 3,848
Net exchange gain PE X U 2% F %8 (2,483) (6,814)
Auditors’ remuneration % 2B BN & 4,287 3,844
Recognition of loss allowance for B 5 & 5 #& F& W iR ;B
trade and bills receivables BREEZER
(note 13) (K &E13) — 92
Other expenses Hfh > H 73,229 75,227
2,663,271 2,523,511
Representing: K&
Cost of revenue WA B S 2,478,560 2,372,714
Distribution and selling expenses 73§ } 5 & & A 32,239 30,668
General and administrative —MREITHER
expenses 152,472 120,129
2,663,271 2,523,511
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

29 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 29 EERAZH —BRESMHE
DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION
(@) Employee benefit expenses during the year are @ FRESEFMNIHMT:
as follows:
2021 2020
—p —TEF
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
Wages and salaries HFMETE 378,696 342,228
Contributions to defined FE M KR IRET 8
contribution retirement 2R
plans 6,758 17,339
Provision for long service RHARK EH
payments (note 26(b)) (B 5% 26(b)) 318 283
Share option expenses BB b
(note 20(d)) (M 3 20(d)) — 230
385,772 360,080
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

29 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 29 EERAXE —BREEME
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) (&)
(b) Directors’ remuneration (b)
Directors” remuneration disclosed pursuant
to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

EEMe

BEEBCRARHEN)ZEI83E
MRAEMER 2 8 — 81D (B #
EEREMoBRE RO Z

Ordinance (Disclosure of Information about EEMeHEENOT:
Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows:
2021
—E--F
Employer's

contributions

Discretionary  to retirement

246

Fees Salary bonuses plans Total
Name of director EZEE WMERE  Bfed
e e 2R 2BIEF gt
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T r n
Executive directors HITEZ
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fEgEsE — 4,736 3,293 — 8,029
Mr. Zhao Kai HAAE = 1,224 3,110 10 4,344
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia B4 — 890 1,686 18 2,59
Mr. Chan Raymond BRUEE — 1,032 1,947 18 2,997
Non-executive directors FHTEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming DEXP: 44 = 40 = 284
Mr. Ho Kai Man IR s B 476 163 18 657
Independent non-executive directors —~ BUEHTTEE
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing hipyihidia 130 - - - 130
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHLE 130 - = - 130
Mr. So Wai Chun (resigned on GREAE(CE_TE
1 December 2020) TZA-REf) 90 - - - 90
Dr. Lau Kin Wai (was appointed on ~ B/REFT(ZF-F%F
1 December 2020) tZR-BEZf) 50 ~ — = 50
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 29 EERANZY —BFEEE#MS
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) (%)
Directors’ remuneration (continued) by EEME(E)
2020
Z3I%F
Employer's Share-
contributions based
Discretionary  to retirement payments
Fees Salary bonuses plans  Sub-total (note) Total
DY)
REER RUK2HE SOE L
Name of director ETAR Be gt L ZEIRR et () A
$'000 000 §'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 000
r n r r r r r
Executive directors HITEZ
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai @ ssE — 473 2,810 = 7,546 = 7546
Mr. Zhao Kai ek ke = 1393 2,608 15 4,016 — 4016
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia %44 g/} — 885 1,235 18 2138 4 2,18
Mr. Chan Raymond REX 5% — 1,00 1,447 18 2491 47 2538
Non-executive directors  F#H772%F
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming IS8 %% 220 - 40 — 260 — 260
Mr. Ho Kai Man R kS = 464 145 18 627 - 627
Independent non- BIFHIEF
executive directors
Mr. So Wai Chun BRELE 120 - - — 120 — 120
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing HBERE 120 - - — 120 — 120
Mr. Yam Chung Shing B3I E 120 - - — 120 5 125
Note: These represent the estimated value of share PEEE s bR RIR B AN D A RS AR &
options granted to the directors under the FrER TESE 2 AENER

Company’s share option scheme. The value of these
share options is measured according to the Group’s
accounting policies for share-based payments as set
out in note 2(t). The details of these share options,
including the principal terms and number of options
granted, are disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.

EEE - WEBREEES
AR R 7R & B 70 BT 5200 BA
B ZA Rz SR
FTE o WEERE S
B E R R
2 A ®EWE209
WE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

29 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

248

(0

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include four
(2020: four) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining one (2020:

29 BERAH —BREESEHE
(&)

(0

TEEESFMAL

AREBEBRERESHM
ATBEOZE(ZTE_FF:
MEZ)EE EMe2& R L
Mot e RERE#H—R(Z

= —

T_TF —R)IRSHAL

one) individuals during the year are as follows: ZRENB 20T
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Basic salaries and allowances £ 7~ %7 & & F ih 869 864
Discretionary bonus B 15 2 R 2 TEAL 782 631

Contributions to retirement R K5t & 2 4 5k

plans 18 18
Share-based payment A BR A7) ST AT 52 B — 20
1,669 1,533

The emoluments fell within the following band:

SZSMEENIEEEENA -

Number of individuals

ATEAR
2021 2020
— B —E-FTF
$1,500,001 to 1,500,0017% &
$2,000,000 2,000,0007T 1 1
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

FINANCE COSTS, NET 30 MBRAE - FHE
2021 2020
—p —TEF
$000 $'000
Fr T+
Finance costs B 745 B 7R
— Interest expense from financial — REHKX AT E 2 &
liabilities measured at BEENEZH
amortised cost 36,991 49,493
— Interest expenses on lease — HEABZMEXH
liabilities 219 215
Less: interest expenses capitalised J& : 505 £ &% %
into property under MBEXHERE
development for sale (B 3%)
(note) (29,235) (24,850)
7,975 24,858
Finance income B A
— Interest income from financial — Z#EEKXAFTE 2 S
assets measured at amortised BEENL
cost WA 4,190) (4,037)
— Other interest income from — BAFEFAHEME
financial assets measured EU s (AregmE) 2
at FVOCI (recycling) THREE
H A F B A (423) (425)
4,613) (4,462)
Finance costs, net 2 B N E 3,362 20,396

Note:
4.13% (2020: 5.16%) per annum.

The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of

MIeE: BERANUNFEFNELI13% (2=

T AF 1 5.16%) # & K1t o
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31

250

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The amount of taxation charged to consolidated
statement of profit or loss represents:

REGEERBRPHREN

REABRRRH BN

2021 2020
$’000 $ 000
Fr T
Current taxation B E
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBFEH
— Current year — KFE 23,869 20,461
— (Oven/under provision in prior — FF 7 (H#B%5),
years TREMH (787) 22
PRC taxes A A 18
— Corporate Income Tax — EMEM 24,182 14,381
— Land Appreciation Tax — I ER 113,808 76,277
Deferred taxation (note 25 (b)) IE % B 18 (K & 25(b)) 4,903 331
165,975 111,472

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year for all Group companies
incorporated in Hong Kong.

The Group’s operations in the PRC are subject to
Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC at the standard
tax rate of 25%. Land Appreciation Tax is levied on
properties in Mainland China developed by the Group
for sale, at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, which under
the applicable regulations is calculated based on
the revenue from sale of properties less deductible
expenditure including lease charges of land use
rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditure.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % I B (2 #2= IR B R 2 7

FTERBERBRLZEEB AR IR
B AE 2 G 5T E R B8 F1216.5%
—E T F 1 16.5%) 2T KR
BEAEFEHER -

AEBRPR EBKBEEBFTHE
EEHEREEB E25%
oo ANEE KB R 5 2 1EH
ERBRZMETR LI MIEESHE
AR EFE30%E60%FEEHT+
HIEER - HRBEREN - i
RESEDBEDEHESR AR
AREE(BELERAERE
BR BERAKFENEEZERE
FMX)MEE °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
Reconciliation between income tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

31 R&E&

BREXTHEH(E)

SRTEHEZEAMEFEZ

E.aJr/ma"JZaH

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEZEF
$’000 $000
T T
Profit before taxation B 1 B & A 531,256 361,738
Less: Land Appreciation Tax W T IR E R (113,808) (76,277)
Profit before Hong Kong Profits  Br & /& 713 %t &
Tax and Corporate Income Tax 182 F7 15 % Al /& FI 417,448 285,461
Notional tax calculated at RERMEFTEZ
applicable income tax rate R IR 95,563 67,275
Associate’s results reported net of B & A &) 3£ 45
tax BT E (245) (223)
Income not subject to taxation |ABRB WA (98,227) 87,621)
Expenses not deductible for RRH 2 X H
taxation purposes 56,517 55,934
Temporary difference not AERZERER
recognised (677) (446)
(Oven/under provision for Hong FF 2 & EHIE 2
Kong taxation in prior years (B8) /TREMB (787) 22
Utilisation of previously A AEFARERNIEA
unrecognised tax losses R (110) (159)
Unused tax losses not recognised AR 2 7 & A % 18
& 18 133 413
Hong Kong Profits Tax and FEMNBH K&
Corporate Income Tax rEMEH 52,167 35,195
Land Appreciation Tax T IB(ETS 113,808 76,277
Income tax expense Fr i3 # 32 165,975 111,472
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32

252

EARNINGS PER SHARE 32
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing

the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue after adjusting the potential dilutive
effect of the outstanding options during the year.

=1

AR AR N TR B AR R B S
FEARGRNBRAFAERTZ
BB MNEFHEGE -

BRREROSN DRBEARRER
FEARGRIBRAFAERTZ
EBBEMETFOR L AR ELEE
BREZRARITERBBRETE -

2021 2020
—E_—F —EFF
Profit attributable to equity RATIEZFEAA
shareholders of the Company JE A& 4 A
($7000) (F7T) 365,281 250,266
Weighted average number of BT E B INE
ordinary shares in issue (in F 158
thousand shares) (F &) 1,999,077 1,993,066
Effect of outstanding share options M ARTT{L R E 2 &
(in thousand shares) (F & &) 12,860 15,558
Weighted average number of BEETEAER#EE
ordinary shares (diluted) in issue Al # ¥ £
(in thousand shares) (FR&&D)
2,011,937 2,008,624
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) & & £ 75 )& #1) (L) 18.3 12.6
Diluted earnings per share #5812 8RO A
(HK cents) (&Il 18.2 12.5
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 5B RSN - LA THITR)

33 DIVIDENDS 33 RE
(@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the @ EBREFERNSEAAER
Company attributable to the year BEAZRE
2021 2020
= —TTF
$’000 $’ 000
Fr T
Interim dividend declared EEM&E KT HRKR
and paid of HK4.0 cents B&EEBAR4.0E
per ordinary share (2020: (CZ-Z5 :BEB
HK4.0 cents per ordinary A%4.07%8 1)
share) 80,298 79,754
Special dividend declared B 5N E KRR
and paid of HKO.5 cent per B & i@ 1%0.5/8 Il
ordinary share (2020: nil) (ZE=ZFF: 8\) 10,037 .
Final dividend proposed after 72 ¥ & Hi K 1 #¢ ik K HA
the end of the reporting i B R R7.0E
period of HK7.0 cents —E-TF LA
per ordinary share (2020: A%5.07% 1)
HK5.0 cents per ordinary
share) 140,871 99,692
231,206 179,446
The final dividend proposed after the end of the Rk EHREERIK 2 REK
reporting period have not been recognised as a ERBERRT AER/E
liability at the end of the reporting period. f& o
(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the by BRE-UBEFE IRFRA
Company attributable to the previous financial BERIKE 2 BAEAQTE
year, approved and paid during the year B#REAZRE
2021 2020
= —TTF
$’000 $’ 000
Fr T
Final dividend in respect of #t E—BIEFE -
the previous financial year, B#EREREFRA
approved and paid during k%2 REIR B
the year, of HK5.0 cents i%ﬁ HXS 0}% ﬂJJ
per ordinary share (2020: —E-THF:
HK5.0 cents per ordinary A% 5.0 1)
share) 99,882 99,692
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AERIAREE
AEBBATARB RN G A %W
REFREBZEEAZERKIA
BfE:

34

254

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 34
The Group had the following significant commitments

and contingent liabilities which were not provided for

in the consolidated financial statements:

(@ Capital commitments
The Group had the following authorised and
contracted capital commitments at 31 March

(@)

B AR EE
R—E-_—F=ZRA=+—8"
REBEAUTEREREHZ

2021: B AHE
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
$’000 $'000
Frx T

Purchase of property, plant HBEEW¥ - HEN&
and equipment T 25,972 23,648
(b) Planned expenditure (b) FEXH

At 31 March 2021, the Group has contracted for
further property development expenditure and
the related costs of internal fixtures and fittings
amounted to $135,904,000 (2020: $331,506,000).

(¢) Guarantees

(i) At 31 March 2021, the Company has
given guarantees totaling approximately
$1,455,509,000 (2020: $1,294,780,000) to
financial institutions in connection with the
banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries.
Such banking facilities utilised as at 31
March 2021 amounted to approximately
$917,466,000 (2020: $951,637,000).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % I B (2 #2= IR B R 2 7

(0

R—E-_—F=ZA=+—80"
REBCFTHNE—TMWEHE
BRI MKEFEABEE KA
5 K £135,904,000C (= F
— T4 :331,506,0007T) °

&R

i) RZBE_—F=ZA=+—
H - RAR4E TS
ERRMEETHE TH
B AR 2 BRIEREEE
#9 /1,455,509,0007C (— T
—F45:1,294,780,0007T) °
R_E-——F=ZA=+—
H BEAZRITRED
/917,466,000 (ZE=F
F 1 951,637,0007T) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

34 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(c) Guarantees (continued)

(if)

The Group has provided guarantees to
banks to secure the mortgage arrangements
of certain property buyers. At 31 March
2021, the outstanding guarantees to the
banks amounted to $166,451,000 (2020:
$4,378,000) which will be released upon
the completion of the transfer procedures
with the property buyers in respect of the
legal title of the properties.

The directors do not consider the Group
will sustain a loss under these guarantees as
the bank has the rights to sell the property
and recovers the outstanding loan balance
from the sale proceeds if the property
buyers have default payment. The Group
has not recognised any deferred income in
respect of these guarantees as its fair value
is considered to be insignificant.

3 EERIAREE(E)

© EHRGE)

(if)

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 F

AEBEMIBITIREE
R UERBETERESE
ZIRBLHE c RZTZ—
F=ZA=+—H" #ExX
BEZRITERBER
166,451,0007C(ZE =&
£ 1 4,378,0007T) * # R
TREEEBEEERW
BEERCZEEFER
FRBR o

EERRAKEK TS
AELERMEZIBX
ABRITEELERL
ME - WEEBEERE
AR - RIRIHE L Bl
g EREE 2 &R
Mo AREQFEILI
BmE AL AKEIL R
ThIE L HE R T R AT
FEUA -

255



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

35

256

(@

35 FEFEALIRE

Transactions with related parties (@ HEBAEATZXRS
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
$/000 $°000
T T
Sales of goods: HEEW
Sales of finished goods to A BR A R H &
related companies B X T 157 248
Others: HAl:
Rental income from an ) Bk & 2 &) L ER
associate el A 271 288
Consultancy fee charged by X {TEEHEE T8 & Q7]
an associated company 690 848
Rental charged by a related X ffH & T#&E QT
company 3,935 2,870
Purchase of machinery from [A) B & A &) B8 B # 23
an associate 14,504 30,068
Repair and maintenance XHEERREET
charged by an associate e /NC] 4,838 3,878
Rental income from a related [A] B8 3 2 7] i EX
company HekA 206 411
Management fee income from [A) 8 3 A 8] Y HY
related companies EEEWA 3,601 960

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZXIBEIRZERER 2 7
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35 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 FEBREALIRF(E)
(continued)
(b) Balances with related parties (by HEEEALZEE
2021 2020
—E-—5F —E-THF
$’000 $'000
T T
Amount due to an associate  JE B & QA AR X
(note 10) (ftzE10) 1,669 4,083
Amounts due to related FEH B E AR BR X
companies 4,032 632
Amount due from the Kar Info i€ Y Kar Info B& 3%
(note 11) (FrsE11) 129,171 113,833
Amounts due from other JrE Uk B b B8 38 R A
related companies R 1,911 1,302
Amounts due from related JE Uk B8 & N B BR 3K
companies 131,082 115,135

U, (FEAT) B8 R ) e R 38
NARR A EE - A
B UHEBRKEE -

The amounts due from/(to) an associate and
related companies are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.
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35 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 FEBEAIRB (4

(continued)

(c) Key management personnel remuneration 0 TEEEEBEMNS
Remuneration for key management personnel REBZETEEBRASHM
of the Group, including amounts paid to the BREXNTARRBERZ KA
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 29(b) R E29(b) KB - A T &
and certain of the highest paid employees as =5 R 8 2 F BB R B 5
disclosed in note 29(c), is as follows: 29(c) W 5B - AT

2021 2020

— —TFRF

$’000 $’ 000

Fr T
Short-term employee benefits %3 Hi & & 1& # 25,570 23,633
Post-employment benefits B BB 12 136 141
Share-based payment VA B 19 32 A5 3 B — 176

25,706 23,950

Total remuneration is included in “employee e REEMEERN L]
benefit expenses” (see note 29(a)). A (R M FE29@0)) °

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to d) EEEXZAEEZLTHRA
connected transactions ZERM
Except for the rental charged by a related BRT MY EE35(a) P&k 2 <
company and the rental income and management L THRERR  MBAERFK
fee income from related companies as disclosed HREEBAREREZR AR
in note 35(a) that constitute connected KEERZHIN  UERKZ
transactions, none of the related party F@‘ﬁ/\i?&%jﬁﬁﬂ)\t‘ﬁ
transaction mentioned above falls under the MAILVUATFIRE 2 BB E
definition of connected transaction or continuing VESE -

connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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36 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 36 AREEZHMBMRRE
POSITION
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZETF
Note $’000 $'000
B 5 Fr Tt
ASSETS &E
Non-current assets RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR ZKE 851,401 827,419
Other financial assets HterEE 13,123 19,629
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 864,524 847,048
Current assets REBEE
Amount due from a JE L Bt B A &) BR 3K
subsidiary 101,000 120,000
Prepayments, deposits and I3k ~ & & K& HAb
other receivables JiE UK BR 3K 1,312 1,221
Current tax recoverable ZR HA AT i [B] 7% 18 157 49
Cash and cash equivalents R & K\ SFEY 11,984 1,244
114,453 122,514
Total assets EE#E 978,977 969,562
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves KARERFAA
attributable to equity PE AL IR A K 1 15
shareholders of the
Company
Share capital & < 19 201,244 199,384
Other reserves H th & & 21 492,533 484,320
Retained earnings IR & & 21 247,458 255,690
Total equity A 941,235 939,394
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36 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 36 AAIBEZHMBRRERE)
POSITION (continued)

2021 2020
—EB-—F —EEHF
Note $’000 $'000
B 5 Frx T
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Provision for long service ~ REARRIE &% E
PaymeNnts 782 742
Current liabilities REaE
Accruals and other payables F& &t F & H th fE <
AR 36,960 29,426
Total liabilities EEHEE 37,742 30,168
Total equity and liabilities #E#Z K BEHAE 978,977 969,562
Net current assets REBEEFE 77,493 93,088
Total assets less current EEHRBERAD
liabilities =R 942,017 940,136
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of R-E-_—FEXA-+UHARES
directors on 24 June 2021. SHOE R IRET E -
Ho Cheuk Fai Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
1A f2 18 R A& Ik
Director Director
EE EE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY
At 31 March 2021, the directors regard TMF (B.V.l.)
Limited, which beneficially owns 40.63% of the
Company’s equity interests, to be the immediate and
ultimate controlling party of the Company. Mr. Ho
Cheuk Fai, Ms. Ho Po Chu, and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming
are the beneficial owners of TMF (B.V.l.) Limited. TMF
(B.V.I) Limited is incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and does not produce financial statements
available for public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
MARCH 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments
and a new standards, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2021 and which have not been adopted in
these financial statements. These include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

37

38

EERBRESH AL
R—_ZE-_—F=RA=+—H &%
R ATMF (BV.1) Limited * B2
BARRAF40.63% D Fz - WA
RElZ BN EERES AL - [
IS¥BALE - BRI E/RL
4 ATMF (BV.1) Limited 7 & 25
B A TMF (BV.L) Limited A5 B
BEBEEKRLNMIREAREYNB
|K °
EEMAEEARBE-ZS=—F=
B=+—BLFEEERZIBET -
EARREBURBER2EE

EEAUBHRRERED > BB

SR ASRMTZERNBE_F

=A==+ —HIEFERNKRE

BAERT R AR - BB RE

ZRIFE175% > [RERAR] > MK

RAFHEHRRALRRN - NI SEF
AlEEAKEER -

Effective for

accounting

periods

beginning on or

after

RUT BN

ZEMBZ

BHMBEER

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework

BAWBRELNFIRUERTAN) - [5/F# ML)

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before

Intended use

BAGERFRERIR) W% BELRRE  #EHEAZ

P51

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a contract

BARGERE7TRUERAN)  [BRERULEELK — HIA A

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle
BB SR EER2018F2020F 2 FE R #

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

ARG ERFIRUERIRN)  [BEFESRE LI RE]

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of

Accounting Policies

BEEGMEMFIREBEAV B RELNEFRRRF2R [/ HRKE]

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates

F5 G ORI B8R (L5 A) - [B2F 1551.2 T H)

1 January 2022
2022F1H1H

1 January 2022
202241A18
1 January 2022
2022F1A1H

1 January 2022
2022F1A1H

1 January 2023
2023F1H1H

1 January 2023
2023F1H1H

1 January 2023
2023F1H1H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥ R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BA AN - LB ITHIR)

38
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 38
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT

NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

MARCH 2021 (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment

of what the impact of these developments is expected

to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to

have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZXIBEIRZERER 2 7
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Five-year Financial Summary

The results of the Group for the last five financial years AEEBHE_T_—F=HA=+—Hit
= FA — 58 — N
ended 31 March 2021 and the assets and liabilities of the _1 Eﬁﬁiggfthéé—?f ‘_t§$
Group as at 31 March 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 are &_ - _F— A+ -—PBrEAERSA
as follows: BT :
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS mAoE
Year ended 31 March
BZ=RA=t-BLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
8- —T-TF —_T-NF -NE _F—+t%F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Tr T Tr T
(Restated)
(EE5)
Note 1
i
Revenue i A 3,192,617 2,902,208 2,651,169 2,919,880 2,699,838
Operating profit el 533,131 380,780 315,837 264,191 220,469
Finance income BB 4,613 4,462 2,743 1,542 1,058
Finance costs Bt 75 B AR (7,975)  (24,858)  (19,187)  (14,883)  (11,579)
Share of profits of an associate  JE15 &6 & A &) i 7 1,487 1,354 693 872 247
Profit before taxation BRBE AT A 531,256 361,738 300,086 251,722 210,195
Income tax FiEH (165,975)  (111,472)  (78,700)  (34,015) (20,642
Profit for the year from FERNREEFR
continuing operations REEK 365,281 250,266 221,386 217,707 189,553
Loss for the year from FEERRBEEKLE
discontinued operations mEEK = = = (35,414) (21,341)
Profit for the year FEER 365,281 250,266 221,386 182,293 168,212
Attributable to: FE4L
Equity shareholders of the KRRARERFAA
Company 365,281 250,266 221,386 182,563 168,333
Non-controlling interests FERER — — — (270) (121)
365,281 250,266 221,386 182,293 168,212
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Five-year Financial Summary

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

264

The disposal of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2018 constituted discontinued operations. In accordance
with HKFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sales and
Discontinued Operations, the Group has re-presented the
comparative information in 2017 in this regard.

The Group adopted HKFRS 9, Financial instruments,
from 1 April 2018. As a result, the Group has changed its
accounting policies in relation to financial instruments. As
allowed by HKFRS 9, the Group has not restated information
relating to prior years. Differences in the carrying amounts
of the financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS
9 were recognised in retained earnings and reserves at 1
April 2018. There was no difference in the carrying amounts
of the financial liabilities. Prior to 1 April 2018, figures were
stated in accordance with the policies applicable in those
years.

The Group adopted HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect from
1 April 2019. As a result, the Group has changed its
accounting policies in respect of the lessee accounting
model. In accordance with the transitional provisions of the
standard, the changes in accounting policies were adopted
by way of opening balance adjustments to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019. After
initial recognition of these assets and liabilities, the Group
as a lessee was required to recognise interest expenses
accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability,
and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of
the previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Figures in years earlier than 2019 were stated in
accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

B 5ET -

B 5E2 -

H 33

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 Il B B2 £ Ig B BE 2 7

HE-_Z—\&SZA=+—HILEE
HEMBARBRERIEGEER -
BIEE BV R EERNEHHEIE
RBEERERIEECEER A&
BN _E—tEEHF2NLE
BH e

AEEB-_Z-/\FOA-RBR®H
FEMHRELENFORIEBMTA] -
Bt - AEFECEXNFHEEMIAZ
B HER - REFEVBREEAS
VRZHRE AEBEALESIERHB
EFEEZER - RMBTBHBREE
AIFISRELEZEMEERAEER
REZ-NFMA-BERERN &
EHETER SREEZEREELE
ER -E_T-N\FWHA-HZA
BEREERBATEMBENZR -

HRRAE B R EER F165
[BE] B-Z-NFWHA—RARL &
SECEREBARAGHERZE
AR - RIBZEANZBEMERE
RESTHEREE  AHVSREAER
ZHAABRBE_T-NFOA—
AZEHRAEAEEEMEERR -
ENhEACLEENBER K&
BUEREABALEAERREEARBZ
RERBEIELE 2B HME A%
BEZWE MTRERNZESHER
BE aHERA  REHEELZ
ERNEEFMREQESESIH
R ER_B-NF2HEFERE
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Five-year Financial Summary

IFEMBERE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES mEEERAE
At 31 March
R=A=+-H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
“E--F ZTZTF ZT-NF ZE-N\F ZE—tF
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000
T T T T T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERNBEE 901,480 893,289 867,636 900,492 853,555
Current assets mEEE 2,749,957 2,125,496 1,596,282 1,743,125 1,482,949
Total assets BERE 3,651,437 3,018,785 2,463,918 2,643,617 2,336,504
EQUITY B
Share capital R 201,244 199,384 199,183 199,456 199,620
Reserves #E 1,229,375 976,316 967,677 988,826 878,883
1,430,619 1,175,700 1,166,860 1,188,282 1,078,503
Non-controlling interests FERERS = — — — 1,750)
Totalequty ~ ®®MEE 1430619 1175700 1,166,860 1,188,282 1,076,753
LIABILITIES g
Non-current liabilities ERBER 632,330 838,550 564,815 502,588 504,875
Current liabilities mBEE 1,588,488 1,004,535 732,243 952,747 754,876
Total liabilities BERE 2,220,818 1,843,085 1,297,058 1,455,335 1,259,751
Total equity and liabilities EakaELEE 3,651,437 3,018,785 2,463,918 2,643,617 2,336,504
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Properties Held by the Group

As at 31 March 2021 R-ZZT-_—F=A=+—H

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE HHEHERYE
Stage of Percentage
Location Site area  Lease expiry Completion holding
1th T #ER HERY BREE FEE
(sq.m.)
(SF 77 K)
1 No.47-1, Jiahui Lu, 61,864 2085 Under 100%
Youganpu Da Long Industrial —E)/\RF Construction
District, (residential 7E &/
Fenggang Town, Dongguan City, purpose)
Guangdong Province, (EERH)
The People’s Republic of China
(note 1) 2055
B ERE R = TR e R —ZERRF
HHIBAEIERFERA75R-1 (commercial
(M 3E1) purpose)
(X M)
2 Jin San Jiao Development Zone, 4,798 2087 Under 100%
Dongping Village, Zhangning Town, —ZEN+EHE  Construction
Boluo County, Huizhou City, (residential  7£ &
Guangdong Province, purpose)
The People’s Republic of China (EERH)
(note 2)
B R R A BN T8 2 5 2057
REARINE-ARZERAMER —EhtF
(Mf3E2) (commercial
purpose)
(X M)
Notes: B =

1. Block 1 & 11 of Phase 4 of Castfast Villas were completed 1. BEZEZFNHZ—HKET—HFEER

during the year ended 31 March 2021 and the remaining
construction is expected to be completed in the fourth quarter

of 2021.

BH=

—E—F=ZA=+—HILEFRE
T MEMIEBEFR-_T-_—FFN0

F®T

2. The construction is expected to be completed in the first 2. IRERBHAR_ZT__FFE-—FKI-

quarter of 2022.
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Properties Held by the Group

As at 31 March 2021 RW-ZE-_—F=HA=+—H

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (ERE/ES
Gross floor Percentage
Location Unsold area area Lease expiry holding
o AEEE RBEEE HERSH FHEIH
(sq.m.) (sq.m.)

(F7K) (F 75 K)

1 Unit 258, 165 165 2062 100%
Sunlight Court, Castfast Villas, —TRCF
Fenggang Town, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province,
The People’s Republic of China
B E R A R MRl A R
RERERBERM252B%

2 Unit T6A, 148 148 2062 100%
Twilight Court, Castfast Villas, —ERF
Fenggang Town, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province,
The People’s Republic of China
FEERERH R HE
REREVERIBATR
3 Unit 25C, 143 143 2062 100%
Skylight Court, Castfast Villas, —TRIF
Fenggang Town, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province,
The People’s Republic of China
B JE R R 5 TR $R
FEREZER2ECH
4 Block 1 & 11, Phase 4, Castfast Villas, 7,090 11,033 2085 100%
Fenggang Town, Dongguan City, —EN\LF
Guangdong Province, (residential
The People’s Republic of China purpose)
FERERER=HREMIE (£ AH)
EREREFOHEE]
—HmRT—RE 2055
—ERhF
(commercial
purpose)
(AR AH)
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Properties Held by the Group

As at 31 March 2021 R-ZZ-_—H=A=+—H

PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT MEFEFERE
Percentage
Location Existing use holding
1 2 A& #AESH
1 East of Jingyi Road and South of Wenzhuang Road, idle 100%
Yixing Economic Development Zone, z=
Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province,
The People’s Republic of China
REITHEESD
B FRE A REA
i &2 & R A
2 Wenzhuang Road, idle 100%
Yixing Economic Development Zone, B

Wouxi City, Jiangsu Province,
The People’s Republic of China
FEITHEEGD

B B4R 07 A 3% [ SO B

Note: The above properties are either freehold, held on long or  W&E: L EWEABRE i - RERZLHRFR
medium-term leases or have no specified lease term. HROFEIRAEEHES -
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